
STRATEGIC 
DEVELOPMENT 

COMMITTEE
________________________________________________

Thursday, 19 January 2017 at 7.00 p.m.
Council Chamber, 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove 

Crescent, London, E14 2BG

The meeting is open to the public to attend. 

Members:
Chair: Councillor Marc Francis
Vice Chair : Councillor Danny Hassell
Councillor Asma Begum, Councillor Denise Jones, Councillor Helal Uddin, Councillor 
Julia Dockerill, Councillor Gulam Robbani and Councillor Shafi Ahmed

Substitites: 
Councillor Amina Ali, Councillor Andrew Cregan, Councillor Muhammad Ansar 
Mustaquim, Councillor John Pierce, Councillor Oliur Rahman, Councillor Chris Chapman, 
Councillor Andrew Wood, Councillor Md. Maium Miah, Councillor Shah Alam and 
Councillor Rabina Khan

[The quorum for this body is 3 Members]

Public Information.
The deadline for registering to speak is 4pm Tuesday, 17 January 2017
Please contact the Officer below to register. The speaking procedures are attached
The deadline for submitting material for the update report is Noon Wednesday, 18 
January 2017

Contact for further enquiries: 
Zoe Folley, Democratic Services, 
1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG
Tel: 020 7364 4877
E-mail: Zoe.Folley@towerhamlets.gov.uk
Web:http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

Scan this code for 
an electronic 
agenda: 



Public Information
Attendance at meetings.
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Committee. However seating is limited 
and offered on a first come first served basis.

Audio/Visual recording of meetings.  
Should you wish to film the meeting, please contact the Committee Officer shown on the 
agenda front page.

Mobile telephones
Please switch your mobile telephone on to silent mode whilst in the meeting. 

Access information for the Town Hall, Mulberry Place.     

Bus: Routes: D3, D6, D7, D8, 15, 108, and115 all 
stop near the Town Hall. 
Docklands Light Railway: Nearest stations are 
East India: Head across the bridge and then 
through the complex to the Town Hall, Mulberry 
Place 
Blackwall station: Across the bus station then turn 
right to the back of the Town Hall complex, 
through the gates and archway to the Town Hall. 
Tube: The closest tube stations are Canning 
Town and Canary Wharf .
Car Parking: There is limited visitor pay and 

display parking at the Town Hall (free from 6pm)

If you are viewing this on line:(http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/content_pages/contact_us.aspx) 
Meeting access/special requirements. 
The Town Hall is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets, lifts 
to venues. Disabled parking bays and an induction loop system for people with hearing 
difficulties are available.  Documents can be made available in large print, Braille or audio 
version. For further information, contact the Officers shown on the front of the agenda. 

Fire alarm
If the fire alarm sounds please leave the building immediately by the nearest available fire 
exit without deviating to collect belongings. Fire wardens will direct you to the exits and to 
the fire assembly point. If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of staff will direct you 
to a safe area. The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, otherwise it will stand 
adjourned.
Electronic agendas reports and minutes.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.  

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date. 

Agendas are available at the Town Hall, Libraries, Idea Centres and One 
Stop Shops and on the Mod.Gov, Apple and Android apps.  

QR code for 
smart phone 
users

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS  (Pages 1 
- 4)

To note any declarations of interest made by Members, including those restricting 
Members from voting on the questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the Monitoring Officer.

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)  (Pages 5 - 20)

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Development 
Committee held on 29th November 2016 and the extraordinary meeting held on 21st 
December 2016.

3. RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS 
AND MEETING GUIDANCE  (Pages 21 - 22)

To RESOLVE that:

1) in the event of changes being made to recommendations by the Committee, the 
task of formalising the wording of those changes is delegated to the Corporate 
Director Development and Renewal along the broad lines indicated at the 
meeting; and

2) in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Corporate Director Development and Renewal is delegated authority to do 
so, provided always that the Corporate Director does not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision.

3) To NOTE the procedure for hearing objections at meetings of the Strategic 
Development Committee.



PAGE
NUMBER

WARD(S)
AFFECTED

4. DEFERRED ITEMS 23 - 24

4 .1 The Quay Club, Marine Slab Pontoon to the North of 
Bank Street, Canary Wharf, London, E14 (PA/16/00899 
+ PA/16/00900)  

25 - 66 Canary 
Wharf

Proposal:

Demolition of the existing concrete slab and associated 
infrastructure; alterations to Bank Street including the 
removal of existing coping stones above the existing 
Banana Wall to enable the installation of proposed utilities 
services and future deck; the installation of new piles in the 
Bank Street; and the erection of a five storey building on 
the existing marine piles for use as a members club (Use 
Class Sui Generis) and other associated works incidental 
to the development.

Recommendation: 

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning 
permission and listed building consent subject to the prior 
completion of a legal agreement to secure planning 
obligations and conditions and informatives as set out in 
the Committee report.

5. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION 67 - 68

5 .1 54 Marsh Wall, London, E14 9TP (PA/16/01637)  69 - 152 Canary 
Wharf

Proposal:

Demolition of the existing building and construction of two 
new linked buildings of 41 and 16 storeys (over double 
basement) comprising 216 residential units; two ground 
floor commercial units (Use Classes A1-A3, B1) totalling 
174 sq. m GIA fronting on to Marsh Wall; basement car 
parking and servicing; and landscaped open space 
including a new pedestrian route linking Marsh Wall and 
Byng Street.

Recommendation: 

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning 
permission subject to any direction by The London Mayor, 
the prior completion of a Section 106 legal agreement, 
conditions and informatives as set out in the Committee 
report 

Next Meeting of the Strategic Development Committee
Thursday, 16 February 2017 at 7.00 p.m. to be held in Council Chamber, 1st Floor, 
Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE MONITORING OFFICER

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Members’ Code of Conduct 
at Part 5.1 of the Council’s Constitution.   

Please note that the question of whether a Member has an interest in any matter, and whether or 
not that interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, is for that Member to decide.  Advice is 
available from officers as listed below but they cannot make the decision for the Member.  If in 
doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to attending a meeting.  

Interests and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)

You have an interest in any business of the authority where that business relates to or is likely to 
affect any of the persons, bodies or matters listed in section 4.1 (a) of the Code of Conduct; and 
might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or financial position of yourself, a 
member of your family or a person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent 
than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected.

You must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any such interest, for inclusion in the Register 
of Members’ Interests which is available for public inspection and on the Council’s Website.

Once you have recorded an interest in the Register, you are not then required to declare that 
interest at each meeting where the business is discussed, unless the interest is a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI).

A DPI is defined in Regulations as a pecuniary interest of any of the descriptions listed at 
Appendix A overleaf.  Please note that a Member’s DPIs include his/her own relevant interests 
and also those of his/her spouse or civil partner; or a person with whom the Member is living as 
husband and wife; or a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners; if the 
Member is aware that that other person has the interest.   

Effect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on participation at meetings

Where you have a DPI in any business of the Council you must, unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the authority's Monitoring Officer following consideration by the Dispensations 
Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee:-

- not seek to improperly influence a decision about that business; and
- not exercise executive functions in relation to that business.

If you are present at a meeting where that business is discussed, you must:-
- Disclose to the meeting  the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting 

or when the interest becomes apparent, if later; and 
- Leave the room (including any public viewing area) for the duration of consideration and 

decision on the item and not seek to influence the debate or decision 

When declaring a DPI, Members should specify the nature of the interest and the agenda item to 
which the interest relates.  This procedure is designed to assist the public’s understanding of the 
meeting and to enable a full record to be made in the minutes of the meeting.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Where you have a DPI in any business of the authority which is not included in the Member’s 
register of interests and you attend a meeting of the authority at which the business is 
considered, in addition to disclosing the interest to that meeting, you must also within 28 days 
notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest for inclusion in the Register. 

Further advice

For further advice please contact:-
Graham White, Acting Corporate Director of Law Probity and Governance and Monitoring Officer, 
Telephone Number: 020 7364 4801

Page 2



APPENDIX A:  Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
Member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the Member.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
29/11/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

1

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

MINUTES OF THE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

HELD AT 7.00 P.M. ON TUESDAY, 29 NOVEMBER 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER, 1ST FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE 
CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG

Members Present:

Councillor Marc Francis (Chair)
Councillor Danny Hassell (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Asma Begum
Councillor Denise Jones
Councillor Md. Maium Miah
Councillor Gulam Robbani
Councillor Helal Uddin
Councillor Julia Dockerill

Other Councillors Present:
Councillor Andrew Wood

Apologies:
None

Officers Present:

Paul Buckenham (Development Control Manager, 
Development and Renewal)

Fleur Francis (Team Leader - Planning, Directorate, 
Law Probity and Governance)

Nasser Farooq (Team Leader, Planning Services, 
Development and Renewal)

Zoe Folley (Committee Officer, Directorate Law, 
Probity and Governance)

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

Councillor Denise Jones declared a personal interest in agenda item 5.2 
Former Castle Wharf Esso Petrol Station, Leamouth Road, London, E14 0JG 
(PA/16/01763/A1). This was on the basis that she was a Trustee of the Trinity 
Buoy Wharf Trust and an LBTH appointed Member of the Lee Valley Park 
Regional Authority.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
29/11/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

2

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S) 

The Committee RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 20 October 2016 
be agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

3. RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS 
AND MEETING GUIDANCE 

The Committee RESOLVED that:

1) In the event of changes being made to recommendations by the 
Committee, the task of formalising the wording of those changes is 
delegated to the Corporate Director, Development and Renewal along 
the broad lines indicated at the meeting; and 

2) In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Corporate 
Director, Development and Renewal is delegated authority to do so, 
provided always that the Corporate Director does not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision

3) To note the procedure for hearing objections at meetings of the 
Development Committee and the meeting guidance. 

4. DEFERRED ITEMS 

None.

5. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION 

5.1 30 Marsh Wall, E14 9TP (PA/16/00477) 

Application withdrawn from the agenda by the applicant. 

5.2 Former Castle Wharf Esso Petrol Station, Leamouth Road, London, E14 
0JG (PA/16/01763/A1) 

Update report tabled.

Paul Buckenham (Development Control Manager, Development and 
Renewal) introduced the application for the redevelopment of the former 
Service Station site with a residential-led mixed use development, and 
associated works.

Page 6



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
29/11/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

3

The Chair invited registered speakers to address the Committee. 

Councillor Andrew Wood expressed concern about the density of the 
application and the impact that the proposal and the other new developments 
in the area would have on the local infrastructure (schools, hospitals, play 
facilities) which there was a lack of. In response to questions from the 
Committee, he expressed concern about pedestrian safety given the proximity 
of the development to major roads. As a result, the children from the 
development would have to cross busy roads when leaving and entering the 
development. The redevelopment of the depot site would only worsen the 
problems. He also expressed concerns about air pollution in the area , the 
quality of the terrace play space and the developers consultation exercise 
given that meetings were held in remote locations. He considered that the 
plans showed symptoms of overdevelopment, did not satisfy the ‘special 
circumstances’ criteria in policy for high density developments. He also 
considered that if granted one of the units should be allocated as a health 
surgery.

Neeraj Dixit (Applicant’s representative) spoke in support of the application 
summarising the nature of the consultation process. The application had been 
significantly amended following discussions with the GLA and LBTH Officers 
and would deliver a significant number of benefits. There would be a policy 
compliant level of affordable housing and child play space. The site had good 
and improving transport links. In response to questions, he reported that the 
site had a good PTAL rating of 4. Furthermore, the new pedestrian bridge (to 
be delivered as part of the London City Island (Leamouth North) development) 
would facilitate access to Canning Town station. This would be just one 
means of reaching the site. In response to questions about the quality of the 
play facilities and the social housing, he considered that the community space 
could be converted to a nursery, and that the plans had been carefully 
designed to shelter the site including the child play space from the 
surrounding environment. The social units were of a high quality and there 
would be a maximum of eight units per core. In relation to air quality, he 
considered that the proposed change of use should reduce the traffic at the 
site. In response to further questions, he commented on the quality of the 
design,  the safety of the route over the bridge to Canning Town station, the 
accommodation, the amenity space, and the merits of the layout.

Nasser Farooq (Planning Services, Development and Renewal) gave a 
presentation on the application describing the site location and the 
surrounding  area including the location of nearby residential developments. 
He also described the local transport connections, the routes to local 
amenities, and the measures to improve these links. In terms of the planning 
considerations, the land use complied with the policy. The height and 
materials related well to the surrounding buildings. Whilst the density of the 
scheme exceeded the London Plan density matrix, it did not display any of the 
amenity impacts typically associated with high density developments given 
the generous separation distances to nearby buildings. Concerns had been 
raised about the proximity of the site to the nearby Council depot. However, 
Officers did not consider that this would compromise the use of that site and 

Page 7



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
29/11/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

4

there would be mitigation to minimise any disturbance from the depot site. 
The child play space provision had been increased to meet the GLA 
standards, and the communal amenity space exceeded the policy 
requirements.  The scheme would provide 35.4% affordable dwellings per 
habitable room. The Committee were also advised of the highway issues and 
the CIL contribution as amended in the update report.

Officers were recommending that the planning application was granted 
permission. 

In response, Members asked questions about the suitability of the site for a 
high density development, with a large number of affordable family housing 
given the proximity of the site to busy roads.  In view of this, it was considered 
that the plans may put at risk the safety of the occupants in crossing the 
highway and that the occupants may also experience noise disturbance from 
the highway. Members also asked questions about the pedestrian and 
transport links to the surrounding area given the distance between the site 
and surrounding amenities. Given these issues some Members felt that the 
development was too dense for such a confined area and that the site ‘lacked 
a sense of place’. Members also commented on the differences between the 
proposed development and other developments in the surrounding area.

Questions were also asked about the quality of the child play space, the 
riverside walkway near the site and the new Canning Town bridge in view of 
public safety concerns in respect of the walkways.

The Committee also asked about the impact of the application on local 
infrastructure, the capacity of current services and whether there were any 
plans to expand the capacity of schools and health services in the area 

In response, Officers explained that it was not uncommon for developments to 
come forward in similar environments such as near busy roundabouts and 
highways and there were many examples of such developments. 
Furthermore, the scheme had been carefully designed to mitigate any impact 
from the surrounding area and to create a barrier to the Leamouth Road and 
roundabout.  There would also be appropriate noise mitigation. In addition, it 
was planned that the taller elements of the development would be located as 
far as possible away from the roundabout. A full noise assessment had been 
carried out to ensure compliance with the relevant standards.

It was also noted that the site was in walking distance to the DLR station, bus 
routes and pedestrian crossings along the highway. Steps were being taken 
to improve the connectivity of the area and to complete the bridge link from 
Leamouth North and the Canning Town Interchange. Details of which were 
noted. It was considered that the plans would have no adverse impact on 
surrounding buildings given the separation distances and there were no 
townscape issues as highlighted in the presentation.  

In relation to the impact on the infrastructure, the mechanism for addressing 
this was through the Community Infrastructure Levy contribution which was 

Page 8



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
29/11/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

5

set out in the report. This would be carried out under a separate process. 
There was no planning requirement to provide a school on this site but other 
sites did include such a requirement. Furthermore, if approved, the child yield 
from the development would be factored into the growth models in respect of 
school places. Officers gave an overview of the capacity of the nearby 
schools and the location of a nearby medical centre.

Officers also responded to questions about the quality of the child play space, 
particularly the 17th level play space and the contributions for employment. 

Councillor Denise Jones proposed and Councillor Marc Francis seconded that 
the consideration of the application be deferred for a site visit.  On a vote of 4 
in favour 2 against and 2 abstentions, the Committee RESOLVED:

That the application for planning permission at Former Castle Wharf Esso 
Petrol Station, Leamouth Road, London, E14 0JG for the redevelopment of 
the former Service Station site with a residential-led mixed use development, 
and associated works be DEFERRED for a Committee Site visit.

The Committee also asked to receive further information about:

 Primary school and health care provision in the area
 Developments with child play space on the 17th floor.

The meeting ended at 8.35 p.m. 

Chair, Councillor Marc Francis
Strategic Development Committee

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
21/12/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

1

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

MINUTES OF THE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

HELD AT 7.00 P.M. ON WEDNESDAY, 21 DECEMBER 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER, 1ST FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE 
CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG

Members Present:

Councillor Marc Francis (Chair)
Councillor Danny Hassell (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Asma Begum
Councillor Denise Jones
Councillor Helal Uddin
Councillor Andrew Wood (Substitute for Councillor Julia Dockerill, item 4.1 only)
Councillor Md. Maium Miah (Substitute for Councillor Gulam Robbani)
Councillor Shah Alam (Substitute for Councillor Shafi Ahmed)

Other Councillors Present:
None

Apologies:

Councillor Julia Dockerill
Councillor Gulam Robbani
Councillor Shafi Ahmed

Officers Present:

Jerry Bell (East Area Manager, Planning 
Services, Development and Renewal)

Marcus Woody (Legal Advisor, Legal Services, 
Directorate Law, Probity and 
Governance)

Gareth Gwynne (Principal Planning Officer, 
Development and Renewal)

Nasser Farooq (Team Leader, Planning Services, 
Development and Renewal)

Amy Thompson (West Area Manager, Planning 
Services Development and Renewal)

Zoe Folley (Committee Officer, Directorate Law, 
Probity and Governance)

The agenda order was changed at the meeting to consider agenda item 4.1 
(Sainsbury Foodstore, 1 Cambridge Heath Road, London, E1 (PA/15/00837) 

Page 11



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
21/12/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

2

before agenda item 3.1 Former Castle Wharf Esso Petrol Station, Leamouth 
Road, London, E14 0JG (PA/16/01763/A1)

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

Councillor Marc Francis declared an interest in agenda item 4.1 Sainsbury 
Foodstore, 1 Cambridge Heath Road, London, E1 (PA/15/00837) as he had 
received representations from interested parties, was a former resident of the 
Collingwood Estate and had served as a Board Member on the Tower 
Hamlets Homes Board at the same time as, Iain Lawson, one of the 
registered speakers in objection. However he emphasised that he had not 
spoken to Mr Lawson or the Collingwood Tennants Residents Association 
about the application.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS 
AND MEETING GUIDANCE 

The Committee RESOLVED that:

1) In the event of changes being made to recommendations by the 
Committee, the task of formalising the wording of those changes is 
delegated to the Corporate Director, Development and Renewal along 
the broad lines indicated at the meeting; and 

2) In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Corporate 
Director, Development and Renewal is delegated authority to do so, 
provided always that the Corporate Director does not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision

3) To note the procedure for hearing objections at meetings of the 
Development Committee and the meeting guidance. 

3. DEFERRED ITEMS 

3.1 Former Castle Wharf Esso Petrol Station, Leamouth Road, London, E14 
0JG (PA/16/01763/A1) 

Update report tabled.

Jerry Bell (East Area Manager, Planning Services) introduced the application 
for  the redevelopment of the former Service Station site with a residential led 
mixed use development.

It was reported that the application was previously considered at the 
Committee meeting on 29th November 2016, where Members resolved to 

Page 12



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
21/12/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

3

defer the application for a Committee site visit (that took place on the 9th 
December 2016) and requested further information on:

 The impact of the scheme on schools and health care provision.  
 Developments with play space on the upper floor.

It was also reported that due to contractual issues, the applicant had 
submitted an appeal against non-determination. Therefore, the Committee 
were now being asked to consider how they would have determined the 
application should they have the power to determine the application. (Further 
legal advice on this matter is set out at the end of this minute).

Nasser Farooq (Planning Services, Development and Renewal) gave a 
presentation on the application reminding the Committee of the site location, 
the routes to local amenities including the two new routes to Canning Town 
that would be opened by the time the application was built out (if granted). 

Since the last meeting, the plans had been amended to relocate the child play 
space to the ground floor. This had been achieved by relocating the 
community space to the roof level. As a result of the changes, the level of play 
space marginally exceeded the policy requirements. Changes had also been 
made to covert non residential floor space to a Class DI community use. 

In terms of the school and health care review, the findings indicated that there 
would be capacity to sustain the development and the population from other 
anticipated developments, given the plans to increase the capacity of the 
facilities. Full details of the findings  were set out in the Committee report and 
were summarised at the Committee meeting. Attention was drawn, in 
particularly, to the planned new heath practices for the Aberfeldy Estate  and 
the new schools at Wood Wharf and the Bromley Hall Site.

It was also noted that the site falls within an area identified in policy for a high 
density development. 

Officers remained of the view that the application should be granted planning 
permission.

In response to questions, Officers clarified the plans to provide the additional 
community use. It was also noted that there would  be a Community 
Infrastructure Levy contribution for health and education facilities amongst 
other things . It was also reported that Officers had discussed the plans for the 
new Aberfeldy practice with the providers and it was understood that the 
increased capacity could accommodate other new developments in the area. 
Furthermore, it could be a number of years before the application would be 
occupied and in that time, additional infrastructure would come forward. It was 
also explained that the review of pupil projections covered a range of factors 
and the review did take into account the impact from other new developments 
coming forward. It was also noted that the population projections would be fed 
into the Local Plan refresh with a view to designating sites for infrastructure 
where needed.  

Page 13



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
21/12/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

4

In relation to the highway safety and air quality issues, consideration was 
given to these issues at the site visit and it was observed that there were 
crossings on the nearby highway. It was also considered that the relationship 
between the application and the highway was not an uncommon feature of 
developments. Highway Services had not raised any concerns about the 
development in terms of highway safety. An air quality report was approved 
by the Air quality specialist.  

In view of the concerns about the proximity of the site to busy roads, 
Councillor Marc Francis proposed that an additional pre commencement 
condition be added to the application requiring that a traffic safety audit be 
carried out. On a vote of 4 in favour 2 against and 0 abstentions this was 
agreed.

Before moving to the voting stage, the Committee received advice from the 
legal officer about the appeal that had been lodged by the applicant against 
non - determination due to contractual reasons. The update report stated that 
due to this, the decision making powers had been transferred to the Planning 
Inspectorate and if the appeal was subsequently withdrawn, the decision 
making powers would return back to the Council. 

The legal advisor reported that this point needed to be qualified. In normal 
circumstance where an appeal had been validated by the Planning 
Inspectorate and was withdrawn before the Inspector had made a 
determination, it would mean that the application had been finally disposed of. 
However in this case it was understood that while the appeal had been 
acknowledged, it had not been validated. Therefore it was uncertain whether 
a withdrawal of it would mean that the application was finally disposed of or if 
the Council could recover decision making jurisdiction because the appeal 
was not validated (albeit had been acknowledged) by the Planning 
Inspectorate.  

In view of this advice, the Committee were invited to accept two resolutions. 
Firstly, to decide how they would have determined the application should they 
have had the power to do so. Secondly, to accept a second recommendation 
allowing for the Officers to issue the decision, acting in accordance with the 
Committee’s resolution, in the event that the Council is capable of recovering 
decision making powers for the application following a withdrawal of the 
appeal.

On a vote of 4 in favour, 2 against and 0 abstentions, the Committee 
RESOLVED:

1. That  should the Council  have the power to determine the application 
that the Committee would have been minded to GRANT the planning 
application at the Former Castle Wharf Esso Petrol Station, Leamouth 
Road, London, E14 0JG for the Redevelopment of the former Service 
Station site with a residential led mixed use development, comprising 
residential units, together with 295 sqm of D1 floorspace, 81 sqm of 

Page 14



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
21/12/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

5

flexible non-residential floorspace (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, B1, D1 
and D2), 36 sqm café floorspace (Use Class A3), set across two main 
buildings including a 24 storey tower with stepped blocks of 20, 17, 11 
and 8 storeys, linked by a 2 storey podium at ground level, with a 
single basement level, landscaping and associated amenities. 
(PA/16/01763/A1) subject to:

2. Any direction by the London Mayor

3. The prior completion of a legal agreement under Section 106 of the 
Town and   Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), to secure the 
planning obligations set out in the Committee report.

4. That the Corporate Director, Development & Renewal is delegated 
authority to negotiate and approve the legal agreement indicated 
above.

5. That the Corporate Director Development & Renewal is delegated 
authority to issue the planning permission and impose conditions and 
informatives to secure the matters set out in the Committee report and 
a further pre commencement condition requiring the submission of a 
highway safety audit.

6. Any other conditions considered necessary by the Corporate Director 
Development & Renewal.

On a vote of 4 in favour, 2 against and 0 abstentions, the Committee 
RESOLVED:

7. That  should legal advice determine that the Council is able to recover 
decision making powers for the application, following a withdrawal of 
the appeal against non determination, that Officers be delegated to 
issue the decision acting in accordance with the Committee’s 
resolution. 

4. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION 

4.1 Sainsbury Foodstore, 1 Cambridge Heath Road, London, E1 
(PA/15/00837) 

Update report tabled.

Jerry Bell (East Area Manager, Planning Services) introduced the application 
for  the demolition of the existing store and decked car park to allow for a 
replacement Sainsbury's store along with residential units and associated 
works.

The Chair invited the registered speakers to address the Committee

Page 15



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
21/12/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

6

Ian Lawson, (Collingwood Tenants Residents Association) and Thomas 
Antoniw, (Friends of Trinity Green/East End Preservation Society), spoke in 
opposition to the scheme.  They noted the need for the redevelopment of the 
site and additional housing, however they objected to the height of the 
proposal and the harmful effect this would have on the nearby heritage assets 
and the Conservation Area as well as neighbouring amenity. The 
development would overpower surrounding buildings that were much lower in 
height and cause a loss of sunlight and daylight. They also objected to the 
density of the application (given the size of the site) and the level and 
affordability of the housing for local residents in particular. They also 
commented on the strength of the opposition to the application. The speakers 
then responded to questions of clarification from the Committee about their 
concerns. In relation to the heritage impacts, it was considered that the 
development would harm the setting of the historic Trinity Green Almshouses  
by interrupting the unspoilt skyline, particularly at the east and west of the site, 
that no other development had done. They also answered questions about 
their other concerns with the application 

Bruno Moore (Sainsbury’s) spoke in support of the application. He considered 
that the impact on the heritage of the area would be less than substantial and 
the benefits of the scheme would outweigh this . A viewed shared by the 
Greater London Authority whose comments had been submitted before the 
height of the application had been reduced. In response to the Committee 
questions, he commented on the scope of the applicant’s consultation, the 
changes to the application, the implications of reducing the height any further 
on the viability of the scheme, Historic England’s comments on the height, 
and the frontage treatment. He also responded to questions about the 
housing mix (in view of the shortfall of 4 bed affordable units), the shortfall in 
affordable housing, due in part to the costs of closing the supermarket during 
the construction phase, and the energy efficiency measures. He also 
considered that the density of application was an honest response to the site 
constraints. 

Sunil Khosla (Representative of the Whitechapel Market Traders) also spoke 
in support of the application. He considered that traders welcomed the 
application given the beneficial effect that it would have on local trade.  It 
would help modernise the local market and bring customers into the area 
benefiting the local economy. This was especially welcomed with the coming 
of the new Cross Rail station

Gareth Gwynne, (Planning Officer, Development and Renewal) gave a 
comprehensive presentation of the application describing the key features of 
the site and surrounds and the application. He described in some detail the 
merits of the application (including the high quality design features, the 
provision of new housing, a new walk way and new  public realm). He also 
described the deficiencies of the proposal in terms of its impact on heritage 
assets. It was considered that the proposal would cause substantial harm to 
the setting of the Grade 1 Listed Trinity Green Almshouses and would harm 
other heritage assets. Therefore in line with policy Officers were 

Page 16



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
21/12/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

7

recommending that the planning permission be refused.

In response to questions about the impact of the application on neighbouring 
properties, it was explained that the committee report contained a detailed 
analysis of the sunlight and daylight impacts on neighbour properties. 
However, given that the results were quite typical for a dense urban setting, 
that the scheme had been carefully designed to minimise such impacts and 
that the neighbouring properties had design features that could enhance the 
impacts, Officers considered that such impacts were acceptable for an urban 
setting. It was also clarified that the application did meet a number of the 
objections in the Whitechapel Vision Master Plan SPD but notwithstanding 
this, it was not considered that this would outweigh the adverse impacts. The 
Whitechapel Vision did identify an opportunity for a landmark building in the 
approximate location of building 1 but did not identify a landmark building as 
being necessarily a tall building and specifically not a building of 28 storeys in 
height.

It was also noted that the affordable housing offer of 25% per habitable room 
had been independently tested and it was found that this was the most that 
the scheme could afford. The plans would result in a net loss of on street car 
parking spaces.  However, Highway Services had assessed the plans and 
found that this was acceptable given the number of surplus spaces in the 
surrounding streets.

In response to questions about the child play space, Officers explained that 
while the plans were far from ideal (given the shortfall in the play space for the 
affordable units), it was not considered that a reason based on this issue 
could be sustained at appeal given the proximity of the site to nearby parks. 

Officers also responded to questions about the landscaping plans, the 
comments from the heritage bodies, the need to consider each application on 
its own merits, the public realm improvements and the Community 
Infrastructure Levy contributions.

Councillor Marc Francis moved that an additional reason for refusal be added 
to the recommendations relating to the sunlight and daylight impact on  
properties in: Albion Yard, Blackwood House,  Collingwood House, Grindall 
House, Kempton Court and 1-6 Key Court. On a vote of 7 in favour, 0 against 
and 0 abstentions this was agreed. 

On a vote of 7 in favour of the Officers recommendation, 0 against and 0 
abstentions the Committee RESOLVED:

That the planning permission be REFUSED at Sainsbury Foodstore, 1 
Cambridge Heath Road, London, E1 for the: 

Demolition of the existing store and decked car park to allow for a 
replacement Sainsbury's store (Use Class A1) of 5,766 sqm (net sales area), 
(11,208 sqm GIA to include a Use Class D1 'explore learning ' facility (118 
sqm GIA), 871 sqm (GIA) of flexible retail/office/community floorspace (Use 

Page 17



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
21/12/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

8

Class A1, A2, A3, B1 and D1) and 559 residential units (Use Class C3) 
arranged in 8 buildings, including a 28 storey tower (101.375m (AOD)), an 
energy centre and plant (2,509 sqm (GIA)) is proposed at basement level with 
240 'retail' car parking spaces and 40 disabled car parking spaces for use by 
the proposed residential units. 2 additional disabled parking bays are 
proposed at ground floor level at Merceron Street. The creation of an east-
west public realm route from Cambridge Heath Road to Brady Street, 
including further public realm provision and associated highway works to 
Brady Street, Merceron Street, Darling Row, Collingwood Street and 
Cambridge Heath Road. (PA/15/00837) for the following reasons as set out in 
the Committee report subject to any direction by the Mayor of London

1. The proposed development would cause substantial harm to the 
significance of the Grade I Listed Trinity Green Almshouses, by reason 
of the introduction of Building 1 which impacts adversely upon the 
setting of this historic, low scale courtyard arranged set of buildings.

As such, the proposal fails to provide a sustainable form of 
development in accordance with paragraphs 17, 56 and 61 of the 
NPPF and fail to be consistent with the guidance set out in Chapter 12 
of the NPPF in respect to conservation and enhancement of the 
historic environment.  The proposal is also contrary to policies 7.4, 7.5, 
7.6 and 7.7 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), SP10 and SP12 of the 
Tower Hamlets Core Strategy (2010) and policies, DM24, DM26 and 
DM27 of the Tower Hamlets Managing Development Document (2013).  

2. The proposed development would cause significant, albeit less than 
substantial, harm to the character and appearance of the Stepney 
Green Conservation Area, by reason of the height, scale and mass of 
the proposed development and its impact upon local townscape views 
from Mile End Road.  

As such, the proposal fails to provide a sustainable form of 
development in accordance with paragraphs 17, 56 and 61 of the 
NPPF and fail to be consistent with the guidance set out in Chapter 12 
of the NPPF in respect to conservation and enhancement of the 
historic environment.  The proposal is also contrary to policies 7.4, 7.5, 
7.6 and 7.7 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), SP10 and SP12 of the 
Tower Hamlets Core Strategy (2010) and policies, DM24, DM26 and 
DM27 of the Tower Hamlets Managing Development Document (2013).  

3. The proposed development would cause significant, albeit less than 
substantial, harm to the setting and appearance of the Grade II listed 
Albion Brewery Entrance Building, together with the Whitechapel 
Market Conservation Area, by reason of the adverse and visually 
overbearing imposition of the development upon townscape views of 
Albion Yard Brewery from Whitechapel Road. 

As such, the proposal fails to provide a sustainable form of 
development in accordance with paragraphs 17, 56 and 61 of the 

Page 18



STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 
21/12/2016

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

9

NPPF and fail to be consistent with the guidance set out in Chapter 12 
of the NPPF in respect to conservation and enhancement of the 
historic environment.  The proposal is also contrary to policies 7.4, 7.5, 
7.6 and 7.7 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), SP10 and SP12 of the 
Tower Hamlets Core Strategy (2010) and policies, DM24, DM26 and 
DM27 of the Tower Hamlets Managing Development Document (2013).  

4. In the absence of a legal agreement to secure financial and non-
financial contributions including affordable housing, street market 
enhancements, highway works, land allocated for Transport for London 
bike station, employment, skills, training and enterprise, and energy, 
the development fails to maximise  the delivery of affordable housing 
and fails to mitigate its impact on highways, local retail sector, local 
services, amenities and infrastructure.  This would be contrary to the 
requirements of Policies SP01, SP02, SP09, SP12, and SP13 of the 
LBTH Core Strategy, Policy DM1, DM3, DM20, DM21 of the LBTH 
Managing Development Document and Policies 2.15, 3.11, 3.12, 4.7, 
6.3 and 8.2 of the London Plan and the LBTH Planning Obligations 
SPD 2016.

5. Concerns about the sunlight and daylight impacts on  properties in 
Albion Yard, Blackwood House,  Collingwood House, Grindall House, 
Kempton Court and 1-6 Key Court. 

The meeting ended at 9.20 p.m. 

Chair, Councillor Marc Francis
Strategic Development Committee

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Guidance for Development Committee/Strategic Development Committee Meetings.

Who can speak at Committee meetings? 
Members of the public and Councillors may request to speak on applications for decision 
(Part 6 of the agenda). All requests must be sent direct to the Committee Officer shown on 
the front of the agenda by the deadline – 4pm one clear working day before the meeting.  
Requests should be sent in writing (e-mail) or by telephone detailing the name and contact 
details of the speaker and whether they wish to speak in support or against. Requests 
cannot be accepted before agenda publication. Speaking is not normally allowed on 
deferred items or applications which are not for decision by the Committee. 

The following may register to speak per application in accordance with the above rules:
Up to two objectors 
on a first come first 
served basis.

For up to three minutes each. 

Committee/Non 
Committee Members.

 For up to three minutes each - in support or against. 

Applicant/ 
supporters. 

This includes:
an agent or 
spokesperson. 

Members of the 
public in support  

Shall be entitled to an equal time to that given to any objector/s. 
For example:

 Three minutes for one objector speaking. 
 Six minutes for two objectors speaking.
 Additional three minutes for any Committee and non 

Committee Councillor speaking in objection. 

It shall be at the discretion of the applicant to allocate these 
supporting time slots. 

What if no objectors register to speak against an applicant for decision? 
The applicant or their supporter(s) will not be expected to address the Committee should 
no objectors register to speak and where Officers are recommending approval. However, 
where Officers are recommending refusal of the application and there are no objectors or 
members registered, the applicant or their supporter(s) may address the Committee for 3 
minutes.

The Chair may vary the speaking rules and the order of speaking in the interest of natural 
justice or in exceptional circumstances. 

Committee Members may ask points of clarification of speakers following their speech.  
Apart from this, speakers will not normally participate any further. Speakers are asked to 
arrive at the start of the meeting in case the order of business is changed by the Chair. If 
speakers are not present by the time their application is heard, the Committee may 
consider the item in their absence. 

This guidance is a précis of the full speaking rules that can be found on the Committee and 
Member Services webpage: www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee under Council 
Constitution, Part.4.8, Development Committee Procedural Rules. 

What can be circulated? 

Page 21

Agenda Item 3

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee%20under%20Council%20Constitution,%20Part.4.8
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee%20under%20Council%20Constitution,%20Part.4.8


Should you wish to submit a representation or petition, please contact the planning officer 
whose name appears on the front of the report in respect of the agenda item. Any 
representations or petitions should be submitted no later than noon the working day before 
the committee meeting for summary in the update report that is tabled at the committee 
meeting. No written material (including photos) may be circulated at the Committee meeting 
itself by members of the public including public speakers.

How will the applications be considered? 
The Committee will normally consider the items in agenda order subject to the Chair’s 
discretion.  The procedure for considering applications for decision shall be as follows: 
Note: there is normally no further public speaking on deferred items or other planning 
matters

(1) Officers will announce the item with a brief description. 
(2) Any objections that have registered to speak to address the Committee 
(3) The applicant and or any supporters that have registered to speak to address 

the Committee 
(4) Committee and non- Committee Member(s) that have registered to speak to 

address the Committee 
(5) The Committee may ask points of clarification of each speaker after their 

address.
(6) Officers will present the report supported by a presentation. 
(7) The Committee will consider the item (questions and debate).
(8) The Committee will reach a decision.

Should the Committee be minded to make a decision contrary to the Officer 
recommendation and the Development Plan, the item will normally be deferred to a future 
meeting with a further Officer report detailing the implications for consideration.

How can I find out about a decision? 
You can contact Democratic Services the day after the meeting to find out the decisions. 
The decisions will also be available on the Council’s website shortly after the meeting. 

For queries on reports please contact the Officer named on the front of the report.
Deadlines.
To view the schedule of deadlines for meetings (including those for 
agenda papers and speaking at meetings) visit the agenda management 
timetable, part of the Committees web pages. 
Visit www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee - search for relevant 
Committee, then ‘browse meetings and agendas’ then ‘agenda 
management timetable’.

Scan this code to
view the
Committee 
webpages. 

The Rules of Procedures for the Committee are as follows:
 Development Committee Procedural Rules - Part 4.8 of the 

Council’s Constitution (Rules of Procedure).
 Terms of Reference for the Strategic Development Committee - 

Part 3.3.5 of the Council’s Constitution (Responsibility for 
Functions). 

 Terms of Reference for the Development Committee - Part 3.3.4 of 
the Council’s Constitution (Responsibility for Functions). 

Council’s 
Constitution 

Page 22

http://moderngov.towerhamlets.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=320
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 (Section 97)
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN THE DRAFTING OF THE REPORTS UNDER ITEM 6

Brief Description of background papers: Tick if copy supplied for register: Name and telephone no. of holder:

See Individual reports  See Individual reports 

Committee: 
Strategic 
Development

Date: 
19th January 2017

Classification: 
Unrestricted

Agenda Item No:

Report of: 
Corporate Director Development and Renewal

Originating Officer: 

Title: Deferred Items

Ref No: See reports attached for each item

Ward(s): See reports attached for each item

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report is submitted to advise the Committee of planning applications that have been 
considered at previous meetings and currently stand deferred. The following information 
and advice applies to them.

2. DEFERRED ITEMS

2.1 The following item is in this category:

Date 
deferred

Reference 
number

Location Development Reason for deferral

20th 
October 
2016

PA/16/00899 
+ 
PA/16/00900

The Quay Club, 
Marine Slab 
Pontoon to the 
North of Bank 
Street, Canary 
Wharf, London, E14 

Demolition of the 
existing concrete slab 
and associated 
infrastructure; 
alterations to Bank 
Street including the 
removal of existing 
coping stones above 
the existing Banana 
Wall to enable the 
installation of 
proposed utilities 
services and future 
deck; the installation 
of new piles in the 
Bank Street; and the 
erection of a five 
storey building on the 
existing marine piles 
for use as a members 
club (Use Class Sui 
Generis) and other 
associated works 
incidental to the 
development

The Committee were 
minded to refuse the 
application due to 
concerns over: 

The loss of open water 
space and the 
exceptional 
circumstances justifying 
this, set out in the 
Committee report. 
Impact on the 
biodiversity of the dock. 
Impact on the heritage 
assets, particularly the 
Grade 1 listed wall.
Inadequate mitigation to 
address the harm 
caused by the 
development. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



3. CONSIDERATION OF DEFERRED ITEMS

3.1 The following deferred application is for consideration by the Committee. The original 
reports along with any update reports are attached.

 The Quay Club, Marine Slab Pontoon to the North of Bank Street, Canary Wharf, 
London, E14 PA/16/00899 + PA/16/00900

3.2 Deferred applications may also be reported in the Addendum Update Report if they are 
ready to be reconsidered by the Committee. This report is available in the Council Chamber 
30 minutes before the commencement of the meeting.

4. PUBLIC SPEAKING

4.1 As public speaking has already occurred when the Committee first considered these 
deferred items, the Council’s Constitution does not allow a further opportunity for public 
speaking. The only exception to this is where a fresh report has been prepared and 
presented in the “Planning Applications for Decision” part of the agenda. This is generally 
where substantial new material is being reported to Committee and the recommendation is 
significantly altered.

5. RECOMMENDATION

5.1 That the Committee note the position relating to deferred items and to take any decisions 
recommended in the attached reports.

Page 24



Committee:
Strategic 
Development 
Committee

Date: 
19th January 
2017

Classification: 
Unrestricted

Agenda Item Number:

Report of: 
Director of Development and 
Renewal

Case Officer:
Jerry Bell

Title: Applications for Planning Permission + Listed 
Building Consent

Ref No: PA/16/00899 + PA/16/00900
 
Ward: Canary Wharf 

1. APPLICATION DETAILS

Location: The Quay Club, Marine Slab Pontoon to the North of Bank 
Street, Canary Wharf, London, E14

Existing Uses: The site is vacant with a history of B1 uses

Proposal: Demolition of the existing concrete slab and associated 
infrastructure; alterations to Bank Street including the removal 
of existing coping stones above the existing Banana Wall to 
enable the installation of proposed utilities services and future 
deck; the installation of new piles in the Bank Street; and the 
erection of a five storey building on the existing marine piles 
for use as a members club (Use Class Sui Generis) and other 
associated works incidental to the development
 

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 This application for planning permission and listed building consent was considered by 
the Strategic Development Committee on 20th October 2016. A copy of the original 
report is appended.

2.2 The application was recommended for approval, however members voted to REFUSE 
planning permission and listed building consent due to concerns over:

 The loss of open water space and the lack of exceptional circumstances justifying 
this;

 The adverse impact on the biodiversity of the dock;
 The adverse impact on heritage assets, notably the Grade I listed banana dock 

wall;
 Inadequate mitigation to address the harm caused by the application.

2.3 In accordance with Development Procedural Rules, the application was DEFERRED to a 
later committee to enable officers to prepare a deferral report to provide wording for 
reasons for refusal and provide commentary on the detailed reasons for refusal on the 
application. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4.1



3. REVISED OFFER / AMENDMENTS TO SCHEME

3.1 Following negotiations with Council officers, the applicant has submitted a series of 
amendments to address the objections of members and reduce the loss of open water 
space and the impact of the proposal on the Grade I listed banana dock wall.

3.2 The following is a summary of the amendments to the proposal:

 Alterations to the building at ground floor level which include setting back the 
central portion of the building to reveal 110sqm of water space along with views 
of the Grade I listed banana dock wall.

 A reduction in the number of alterations to isolated areas of the coping of the 
Grade I listed banana dock wall.

 Replacement of the previously proposed £600,000 financial contribution for 
improvements and enhancements to the natural environment in the borough with 
an enhanced £800,000 financial contribution towards water space and heritage 
features improvements and enhancements in the borough

 An additional non-financial obligation to secure public access to the building for 
local residents on a bi-annual basis, to view art and cultural exhibitions curated 
by Canary Wharf Group through its Arts and Events programme.

Loss of Open Water Space

3.3 The applicant has amended the ground floor plan by setting back the central portion of 
the building to reveal 110sqm of water space (meaning that the proposal would now 
result in the loss of 243sqm of water space as opposed to 353sqm under the previous 
proposal). Access to the building for visitors would be via a glazed ramped walkway 
which passes over the portion of uncovered water space.

Plan 1: Amended Ground Floor Plan

Heritage

3.4 In order to facilitate the proposed development, alterations to small isolated areas of the 
coping of the Grade I listed banana dock wall will be required. The previous proposal 
sought to make such alterations in 17 locations, however the applicant has now 
reviewed this and has managed to reduce this so that such alterations are only required 
in 15 locations.

Page 26



3.5 The amended ground floor plan now enables a 26m stretch of the Grade I listed banana 
dock wall to remain visible, meaning that only two 19.5m portions of the wall at either 
end of the site will now be hidden. 

Financial and Non-Financial Obligations

3.6 The applicant has revised the proposed financial and non-financial obligations being 
offered through the proposed S.106 agreement. This includes the withdrawal of the 
£600,000 fund towards improvements and enhancements to the natural environment in 
the borough and its replacements with a £800,000 fund towards water space and 
heritage features improvements and enhancements in the borough, as well as the 
introduction of an additional non-financial obligation to secure public access to the 
building for local residents on a bi-annual basis, to view art and cultural exhibitions 
curated by Canary Wharf Group through its Arts and Events programme.

3.7 The proposed water space and heritage features improvement and enhancement 
contribution would be used towards matters such as:

 Proposals to support, improve, maintain and encourage appropriate uses of 
water spaces;

 Improving access to and/or over existing water spaces in the local area;
 Providing additional areas of, or upgrading existing, public space elsewhere 

around docks and/or other existing water spaces in the local area;
 Clean up waterways in the local area, and provide for biodiversity enhancements 

for water spaces in the local area;
 Projects including potential opportunities identified as part of the proposed dock 

heritage survey;
 Wider opportunities identified for the repair, improvement and enhancement of 

historic materials and features of the docks.

3.8 The proposed water space and heritage features improvement and enhancement 
contribution would also involve the preparation and delivery of a water space strategy 
which would contain principles regarding the management and use of those areas of the 
docks within the Canary Wharf estate, the preparation and delivery of a dock heritage 
survey which will provide an up to date study of the docks within the Canary Wharf 
estate, including the creation of a photographic record and a factual report on the 
condition of the dock walls, as well as the delivery of two heritage interpretation boards 
on Bank Street which will show written and graphic information regarding the history and 
structure of the Grade I listed banana dock wall.

3.9 The newly proposed public access obligation would involve the development and 
implementation of a public access strategy with the occupier to secure:

 A bi-annual event with public access to the exhibition space in the building for 
organised viewing of art and cultural exhibitions curated by Canary Wharf Group 
through its arts and events programme;

 Minimum opening hours for the event not to be less than 3 hours with the event 
to be held on Sundays.

 A bookings policy for access by local residents for the event.

3.10 Other S.106 financial and non-financial obligations previously secured (including 
employment, travel and sustainability obligations) will still be provided.

Page 27



4. UPDATED CONSULTATION RESPONSES

4.1 The following were re-consulted regarding the amended application and their comments 
are enclosed below:

LBTH Biodiversity Officer

4.2 The amended proposal would reduce, but not completely avoid, the loss of open water, 
and hence the adverse impact on biodiversity would be less. With the mitigation and 
enhancements included in the recommended condition, this amendment would help to 
ensure an overall gain in biodiversity as required by DM11.

Canal and River Trust

4.3 No further comments received to date.

Historic England

4.4 We welcome the proposed amendments to the scheme, which have addressed the 
concerns that we raised in our letter of 17th August 2016. The proposed amendments 
include the setting back of part of the ground floor of the proposed building in order to 
reveal part of the Grade I listed dock wall and reveal the water within the dock. We 
recommend that the Council places conditions on any grant of planning permission 
seeking to ensure that the scheme is of the highest quality in terms of materials and 
design and that the interpretation of the dock wall is secured through the provision of 
feature lighting and public information. 

5. LOCAL REPRESENTATION

5.1 The number of representations received in response to notification and publicity of 
the amended application is as follows:

No of individual responses: Objecting: 0
Supporting: 3

No of petition responses: Objecting: 0
Supporting: 0

5.2 The following issues were raised in support of the proposal:

- The facilities planned will benefit the whole local community on the Island.

- There is a lack of jobs within this ward, and this application would deliver jobs and 
training opportunities for local people.

- This development will not have any effect on residents.

6. SUMMARY OF ISSUES RAISED BY MEMBERS AND OFFICER’S RESPONSE

Loss of Open Water Space

6.1 Members objected to the fact that the proposed development sought to cover over 
353sqm of water space, a form of open space, within Middle Dock.

Page 28



6.2 Whilst officers consider that the reduction in the quantum of water space being covered 
by the proposal represents an improvement to the scheme, officers position regarding 
the covering of water space in this instance remains unchanged since the presentation 
of the original scheme. This is due to the fact that the water space being covered does 
not provide opportunities for play, recreation and sport and is also considered to be of 
limited amenity value, due to its size and shape and the fact that it is wedged between 
the dock edge and the existing deck. Furthermore the proposed development would not 
result in the loss of existing facilities for waterborne sport and leisure, would not 
adversely impact upon any existing access points to the water, would not adversely 
impact upon any existing waterway support infrastructure such as boatyards, moorings 
and jetties in, and also would not affect the navigability of the dock.

6.3 As such the proposal is considered acceptable as it is not considered to be contrary to 
policies 7.27, 7.28 and 7.30 of the London Plan (2016), policy SP04 of the Tower 
Hamlets Core Strategy (2010) and policy DM12 of the Tower Hamlets Managing 
Development Document (2013).

Heritage

6.4 Members objected to the proposal’s impact upon the Grade I listed banana dock wall 
without adequate mitigation measures to offset the harm being caused by the proposed 
development.

6.5 With respect to the physical alterations being made to the Grade I listed banana dock 
wall, through alterations to small isolated areas of the coping to enable the installation of 
utility services and structural steel beams, officers welcome the reduction in the number 
of locations where such alterations are required. It should however be noted that neither 
Historic England nor LBTH conservation officers objected to these works as they would 
not result in any loss of original fabric, nor in the opinion of officers result in either 
substantial or even less than substantial harm to the Grade I listed banana dock wall due 
to the sensitive approach to the works being taken by the applicant.

6.6 Officers welcome the alterations to the proposed ground floor which enables a 26m 
section of the Grade I listed banana dock wall to be exposed. Historic England have also 
welcomed this amendment commenting that they “welcome the proposed amendments 
to the scheme, which have addressed the concerns that we raised in our letter of 17th 
August 2016”. Whilst it is still considered that the proposal still results in less than 
substantial harm to the Grade I listed banana dock wall, officers are content that the 
scheme delivers sufficient public benefit (through the economic benefits of the proposal 
as well as the proposed S.106 obligations) as well as sufficient mitigation measures 
(through the delivery of a dock heritage survey and the installation of two heritage 
interpretation boards on Bank Street) in order to overcome the less than substantial 
harm caused by the proposed development in line with guidance contained within the 
NPPF.

6.7 As such the proposal is considered acceptable as it is not considered to be contrary to 
the NPPF, policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), policy SP10 of the Tower Hamlets Core 
Strategy (2010) and policy DM27 of the Tower Hamlets Managing Development 
Document (2013).

Biodiversity

6.8 Members objected to the proposal’s impact on the biodiversity of the dock.

Page 29



6.9 It should be noted that whilst it was considered that the proposal would result in a minor 
adverse impact on the SINC, the Council’s biodiversity officer was content that the 
mitigation measures being proposed (a floating marsh containing wetland habitat and the 
installation of a chainmail mesh curtain around the underside edge of the building) would 
be sufficient to mitigate any adverse impact caused by the proposed development, 
subject to further details being secured by condition.

6.10 The applicant’s biodiversity consultants have reviewed the proposed amendments to 
assess the implications of the proposed alterations on the biodiversity of the dock, and 
have concluded that the proposed amendments represent a marginal improvement in 
ecological terms (when compared against the previous scheme) due to the fact that the 
quantum of dock water overshadowed by the proposed development will reduce. The 
previously proposed mitigation measures will still however provide suitable mitigation to 
offset any adverse impact caused by the proposed development.

6.11 The Council’s biodiversity officer has been consulted on the proposed amendments and 
has stated the following: “The amended proposal would reduce, but not completely 
avoid, the loss of open water, and hence the adverse impact on biodiversity would be 
less. With the mitigation and enhancements included in the recommended condition, this 
amendment would help to ensure an overall gain in biodiversity as required by DM11”.

6.12 In light of the above officers still consider that the proposal is acceptable as it is not 
considered to be contrary to the NPPF, policy 7.19 of the London Plan (2016), policy 
SP04 of the Tower Hamlets Core Strategy (2010) and policy DM11 of the Tower 
Hamlets Managing Development Document (2013).

Inadequate Mitigation

6.13 Members objected to the proposed development due to the fact that inadequate 
mitigation had been proposed to address the harm caused by the application.

6.14 As set out both within the original committee report (dated 20th October 2016) and this 
report, officers consider that sufficient mitigation has been proposed to offset any harm 
caused by the proposed development, notably with respect to the proposal’s impact on 
water space, heritage assets and biodiversity. These mitigation measures include a 
mixture of both considerable physical works on site as well as substantial financial 
obligations.

6.15 Given the extent of mitigation being proposed which officers consider to be sufficient in 
order to offset any harm caused by the proposed development, it is not considered 
reasonable to expect the applicant to provide any further mitigation beyond that currently 
being proposed.

6.16 In light of the above officers consider that the proposal is acceptable as any harm 
caused by the proposed development has been proposed to be suitably mitigated in 
accordance with the NPPF, the London Plan (2016), the Tower Hamlets Core Strategy 
(2010) and the Tower Hamlets Managing Development Document (2016).

7. IMPLICATIONS ARISING FROM A DECISION TO REFUSE THE APPLICATION

7.1 In the event that the Committee resolves to refuse the application, the following options 
could be exercised by the applicant.

7.2 The applicant could withdraw the application and later approach the Council for further 
pre-application advice on an amended proposal and thereafter submit new applications.

Page 30



7.3 The applicant could exercise their right to appeal to the Secretary of State against the 
Council’s decision and lodge an appeal for costs. The appeal would be determined by an 
independent inspector appointed by the Secretary of State.

7.4 Section 3 and 4 of this report set out the officer’s assessment of how unlikely the Council 
would be in defending the reasons for refusal at appeal. However if the Committee do 
resolve that the application should be refused on grounds relating to: the loss of open 
water space; the impact on the biodiversity of the dock; the impact on the Grade I listed 
banana dock wall, and; inadequate mitigation put forward to address the harm caused by 
the development, officers will seek to defend the Council’s position.

8. RECOMMENDATION

8.1 Officer’s original recommendation as set out in the officer’s report for Strategic 
Development Committee on 20th October 2016 to GRANT planning permission and 
listed building for the proposal remains unchanged.

8.2 However, if Members are minded to refuse planning permission and listed building 
consent for this scheme, then the proposed refusal reasons are as follows:

Reasons for Refusal:

1. The proposed development by reason of its resultant loss of water space within a 
Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC), a form of open space, in the 
absence of exceptional circumstances is unacceptable development. The 
development is therefore contrary to policies 7.18, 7.28 and 7.30 of the London Plan 
(2016), policy SP04 (parts 1a and 4b) of the Tower Hamlets Core Strategy (2010), 
and policies DM10 (parts 1 and 2) and DM12 (parts 2 and 3) of the Tower Hamlets 
Managing Development Document (2013).

2. The proposed development by reason of it design and positioning covering over of 
portions of the Grade I listed banana dock wall would result in less than substantial 
harm which is not outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal .. The 
development is therefore contrary to paragraph 134 of the NPPF (2012), policy 7.8 of 
the London Plan (2016), policy SP10 (part 2) of the Tower Hamlets Core Strategy 
(2010), and policy DM27 (parts 1 and 2) of the Tower Hamlets Managing 
Development Document (2013).

3. The proposed development by reason of its adverse impact upon a Site of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) without sufficient social and economic 
benefits which would outweigh the impact upon biodiversity would result in 
unacceptable development. The development is therefore contrary to paragraph 109 
of the NPPF (2012), policy 7.19 of the London Plan (2016), policy SP04 (part 3) of 
the Tower Hamlets Core Strategy (2010), and policy DM11 (parts 2 and 3) of the 
Tower Hamlets Managing Development Document (2013).

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee:
Strategic 
Development

Date: 
20 October 2016

Classification: 
Unrestricted

Agenda Item Number:

Report of: 
Director of Development 
and Renewal

Case Officer:
Jerry Bell

Title: Applications for Planning Permission + 
Listed Building Consent 

Ref No:  PA/16/00899 + PA/16/00900
  

Ward: Canary Wharf

1.0 APPLICATION DETAILS

Location: The Quay Club, Bank Street, Canary Wharf, London, 
E14

Existing Use: The site is vacant with a history of B1 uses

Proposal: Demolition of the existing concrete slab and 
associated infrastructure; alterations to Bank Street 
including the removal of existing coping stones above 
the existing Banana Wall to enable the installation of 
proposed utilities services and future deck; the 
installation of new piles in the Bank Street; and the 
erection of a five storey building on the existing marine 
piles for use as a members club (Use Class Sui 
Generis) and other associated works incidental to the 
development. 

Drawings and documents: Full Planning Permission (PA/16/00900):

Site Location Plan, 60306, Rev 00
Proposed Site Plan, 60316, Rev 00
Street Scape Plan & Elevation, 60326, Rev 00
Existing Site Plan, 60406, Rev 00
Demolition Plan, 60456, Rev 00
Proposed Ground Level Plan, 61006, Rev 01
Proposed Level 1 Plan, 61016, Rev 00
Proposed Level 2 Plan, 61026, Rev 00
Proposed Level 3 Plan, 61036, Rev 00
Proposed Level 4 Plan, 61046, Rev 00
Proposed Level 5 Plan, 61056, Rev 00
Enabling Works Plan, 61076, Rev 00
Existing Elevations, 63036, Rev 00
Proposed South Elevation, 63056, Rev 00
Proposed North Elevation, 63066, Rev 00
Proposed West Elevation, 63076, Rev 00
Proposed East Elevation, 63086, Rev 00
Existing Sections, 63136, Rev 00

Page 33



Demolition Sections, 63146, Rev 00
Proposed Section 1, 63156, Rev 00
Proposed Section 2, 63166, Rev 00
Proposed Section 3, 63176, Rev 00
Enabling Works Section, 63186, Rev 00
Enabling Works Section Details, 69006, Rev 00
Bicycle Parking Provision, S6801A
Air Quality Assessment, Arup, Dated March 2016
Construction Phase Environmental Management Plan,
Canary Wharf Contractors, Rev 01 
Construction Statement, Dated March 2016
Design and Access Statement, Adamson Associates,
Dated March 2016
Ecological Impact Assessment, Environ, Dated March
2016
Energy Statement, MTT Ltd., Dated March 2016
Flood Risk Assessment, Arup, Dated March 2016
Framework Travel Plan, Steer Davies Gleave, Dated
March 2016
Heritage Statement, Peter Stewart Consultancy, Dated
March 2016
Noise and Vibration Assessment, Sandy Brown, Dated
March 2016
Planning Statement, DP9 Ltd., Dated March 2016
Stabilisation Study of Grade I Listed Banana Dock 
Wall, Arup, Dated 04/03/2016
Sustainability Statement, MTT Ltd., Dated March 2016
Transport Statement, Steer Davies Gleave, Dated
March 2016
Applicant’s Response to Comments from Historic 
England, Peter Stewart Consultancy, Dated July 2016
Cycle Parking Details, DP9 Ltd., DP3810/SH/GL,
Dated 16/08/2016

Listed Building Consent (PA/16/00899):

Site Location Plan, 60308, Rev 00
Works to Dock Wall, 60408, Rev 00
Photographic Study of Works to Dock Wall, 60418, 
Rev 00
Existing Site Plan, 60428, Rev 00
Proposed Typical Section, 63158, Rev 00
Proposed Detail Section, 69008, Rev 00

Applicant: South Quay Properties Ltd

Ownership: South Quay Properties Ltd
Canal and River Trust

Page 34



Historic Building: Dock wall is Grade I listed

Conservation Area: None

2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1 This application is reported to the Strategic Development Committee as the proposal 
is not in accordance with the development plan involving a gross floor space 
exceeding 2,500 square metres.

2.2 This application has been considered against the Council’s approved planning 
policies contained in the London Borough of Tower Hamlets adopted Core Strategy 
(2010) and Managing Development Document (2013) as well as the London Plan 
2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework and all other material 
considerations.

2.3 The planning and listed building consent application is for the demolition of the 
existing concrete slab and associated infrastructure; alterations to Bank Street 
including the removal of existing coping stones above the existing Banana Wall to 
enable the installation of proposed utilities services and future deck; the installation of 
new piles in Bank Street; and the erection of a five storey 6,536sqm new building on 
the existing marine piles for use as a members club (Use Class Sui Generis).

2.4 The development results in the loss of water space which is not considered to be of 
the highest quality due to its shape, size and location. The loss of water space would 
in part be mitigated by a significant natural environmental enhancement planning 
contribution and biodiversity enhancements. The proposed development would 
therefore result in enhancements at a wider level overall, facilitate economic benefits 
through direct employment generation and also aid the Canary Wharf estate to 
remain a globally competitive centre.

2.5 The proposed design of the new building is of a very high standard and would have a 
positive impact on the surrounding built environment. The degree of harm to the 
existing Grade I listed ‘banana dock wall’ is considered to be ‘less than substantial’ 
and outweighed by the overall benefits of the proposal.

2.6 The proposal would not have a significant adverse impact upon the local highway 
and public transport network, would provide suitable parking arrangements, and 
would be serviced in a manner which would not adversely impact the local highway 
network.

2.7 The proposal would not adversely impact the amenity of surrounding residents and 
building occupiers, and would also afford future occupiers of the building a suitable 
level of amenity in accordance with policy SP10 (4) of the Core Strategy (2010) and 
policy DM25 of the Managing Development Document (2013) and is thus acceptable 
in amenity terms.

2.8 The proposed energy strategy for the site is acceptable as the proposal has been 
designed in compliance with the London Plan energy hierarchy and is to provide a 
carbon offsetting payment to cover the CO2 emission reduction shortfall.

Page 35



3.0   RECOMMENDATION

3.1 That the Committee resolve to:

1.  GRANT planning permission and,
2.  GRANT listed building consent 

subject to:

a) The prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the following planning 
obligations:

Financial Obligations:

a) A contribution of £600,000 towards improvements and enhancements to 
the natural environment in the borough.

b) A contribution of £26,144 towards construction phase skills and training.
c) A contribution of £41,026 towards end user phase skills and training.
d) A contribution of £27,900 towards Environmental Sustainability (carbon 

offset).
e) A monitoring fee of £2,000.

Non-Financial Contributions:

a) Access to employment (20% Local Procurement, 20% Local Labour in 
Construction, 20% end phase local jobs).

b) Provide 8 apprenticeships for local residents during the construction 
phase.

c) Travel plan
d) Interpretation boards
e) Cycle parking

b) That the Corporate Director of Development & Renewal is delegated authority to 
recommend the following conditions and informatives in relation to the following 
matters:

3.2 Conditions on planning permission

Compliance’ Conditions

1. Time limit 
2. Development to be built in accordance with the approved plans
3. Development to be carried out in accordance with submitted construction 

environmental management plan (CEMP) 
4. Contaminated land 
5. CO2 emission reductions in accordance with the approved energy strategy and 

delivery of on-site CHP 
6. No cleaning products to be discharged into the dock

Prior to completion of superstructure works conditions:

7. Further details of drainage and SUDS features 
8. Submission of material samples
9. Details of plant and equipment 
10. Details of the blue badge valet parking service 

Page 36



11. Updated delivery and servicing plan 
12. Details of external lighting 

Prior to Occupation’ Conditions: 

13. Details of biodiversity enhancements 

Post Occupation’ Conditions: 

14. BREEAM final certificates (post-occupation)

3.3 Informatives on planning permission

1. Green roof design
2. Thames water 

3.3 Conditions on listed building consent

1. Time limit (compliance)
2. Development to be built in accordance with the approved plans (compliance)
3. Details recording the works to the listed dock wall (prior to superstructure)

4.0 PROPOSAL AND LOCATION DETAILS

Proposal

4.1 The proposed application is for full planning permission and listed building consent to 
demolish the existing concrete slab and associated infrastructure within Middle Dock, 
remove the coping stones above the existing Grade I listed ‘banana dock wall’ to 
enable the installation of proposed utilities and future deck, install additional piles in 
Bank Street and erect a new deck above the existing marine piles, and erect a new 
five storey building for use as a members club (sui generis use class) along with 
other works incidental to the development.

4.2 The proposed new five storey building housing the members club will total 6536sqm 
of sui generis floor space and will feature restaurant, bar and kitchen facilities on 
ground and first floor, as well as associated utilities and refuse stores at ground floor 
level, a large gym on the second floor, 17 guest rooms for club members and guests 
on the third floor, further restaurant facilities on the fourth floor, and a large roof 
terrace on the roof level totalling 464sqm in size, in addition to a number of smaller 
terraces on the lower levels of the building. 

4.3 The proposed building is of a contemporary design and its external façade has been 
inspired by the visual effect of wavelets on the water within Middle Dock which is 
achieved through undulating reflective aluminium façade panels. The front (Bank 
Street facing) elevation features glazing at ground floor level overlooking the adjacent 
drop-off and servicing bay on Bank Street, and punched openings on the rear (dock 
facing) elevation of the building provide terraces which overlook the dock.

Site and Surroundings

4.5 The application site comprises of a vacant existing deck structure which sits within 
Middle Dock directly to the north of Bank Street on the western side of the Canary 
Wharf estate as well as a portion of open dock space on the southern side of the 
deck and totals 1400sqm in size. The existing deck structure measures 670sqm in 

Page 37



size and previously accommodated 11/12 Heron Quays, which was a 3/4 storey 
office building and was demolished in 2003. At present the only means of access to 
the deck (which is not currently publically accessible) is via a metal bridge which 
lands on the pavement on the north side of Bank Street.

4.6 The site is surrounded by both a large expanse of open water (Middle Dock) and a 
number of large scale office buildings, most notably to the north of the site, however it 
should be noted that the immediate surroundings of the site are currently undergoing 
significant changes (notably Heron Quays West to the south of the application site) 
and will take on a similar character to other parts of the Canary Wharf estate in the 
near future.

4.7 The application site includes a portion of the Grade I listed ‘banana dock wall’, 
however the site does not sit within or adjacent to any designated conservation 
areas.

Relevant Planning History

4.9 PA/99/01488 - Extension of existing slab within the structure at ground floor level to 
create additional office floorspace and new enclosures for air conditioning plant (12 
units). (Permission granted 02/02/2000)

4.10 PA/07/00233 – Change of use of derelict office use pontoon to a temporary children's 
playground with ancillary perimeter fencing and re-surfacing works, to be used in 
conjunction with temporary Montessori School (Use Class D2) at 15-16 Heron Quay. 
(Permission granted 22/03/2007)

4.11 PA/07/03088 – Demolition of the existing buildings and structures on the site, partial 
infilling of South Dock and its redevelopment by:
 Erection of a part 12 storey, part 21 storey and part 33 storey building comprising 

Class B1 offices; construction of 3 levels of basement for Class A retail units, 
underground parking, servicing & plant;

 Construction of a subterranean pedestrian link to the Jubilee Place Retail Mall 
and the Jubilee Line Station incorporating Class A retail accommodation;

 Erection of a 4 storey building for Class A3 (restaurant and cafe) and A4 (drinking 
establishments) uses, and/or at first and part second floor level Class D1 (training 
centre);

 Relocation of the canal between South Dock and Middle Dock from the eastern to 
western part of the application site;

 Provision of a new publicly accessible open space;
 Associated infrastructure and landscaping together with other works incidental to 

the application.
(Permission granted 17/12/2008)

4.12 PA/07/03089 - Partial demolition of a Grade I listed quay wall, copings and buttresses 
to south edge of West India Export Dock to facilitate works for the relocation of the 
existing canal; reinstatement of Grade I listed quay wall and copings along existing 
canal entrance to West India Export Dock alterations and stabilisations of Grade I 
listed quay wall and copings and associated works. (Permission granted 17/12/2008)

4.12 PA/07/03090 - Partial demolition and associated works to the Grade II listed former 
lock entrance to South Dock to facilitate works for the relocation of the existing canal. 
(Permission granted 17/12/2008)

Page 38



4.13 PA/11/03796 - Temporary planning permission until 16th December 2013 for the 
installation of hard and soft landscaping; replacement of the bridge link to the deck 
formerly occupied by Heron Quays 11 & 12 (within West India Dock); retention of 
Heron Quays 7 & 8 (facing West India Dock South) and necessary facade 
reinstatement; and ancillary services; infrastructure and associated works. 
(Permission granted 07/03/2012)

4.14 PA/13/02846 - Temporary planning permission for a period of up to two years for the 
retention of hard and soft landscaping; replacement of the bridge link to the deck 
formerly occupied by Heron Quays 11 & 12; retention of Heron Quays 7 & 8 and 
necessary reinstatement and ancillary services, infrastructure and associated works. 
(Permission granted 13/02/2014)

4.15 PA/15/00975 - Highway improvement works to Bank Street, including the re-
alignment, widening and raising of Bank Street to include a two-lane approach either 
side of an island incorporating a security kiosk. (Permission granted 06/08/2015)

4.16 PA/15/00976 - Listed building Consent associated with the works to the Listed Dock 
Walls in connection with the highway improvement works to Bank Street, including 
the re-alignment, widening and raising of Bank Street to include a two-lane approach 
either side of an island incorporating a security kiosk. (Permission granted 
06/08/2015)

4.17 PA/16/00898 - Demolition of the existing concrete slab and associated infrastructure; 
alterations to Bank Street including the removal of existing coping stones above the 
existing Banana Wall to enable the installation of proposed utilities services and 
future deck; and the installation of new piles in the Bank Street. (Currently under 
consideration)

4.18 PA/16/02742 – Prior notification for the demolition of the existing concrete slab and 
associated infrastructure. (Currently under consideration)

5.0 POLICY FRAMEWORK

5.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that the 
determination of this application must be made in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

5.2 For details of the status of relevant policies see the front sheet for “Planning 
Applications for Determination” agenda items. The following policies are relevant to 
the application:

5.3 Government Planning Policy 

National Planning Policy Framework 2012
National Planning Practice Guidance 

5.4 London Plan 2016

2.1 – London in its global, European and United Kingdom context
2.18 – Green infrastructure: the multi-functional network of green and open spaces
4.1 – Developing London’s economy
4.2 – Offices
4.5 – London’s visitor infrastructure

Page 39



4.6 – Support for and enhancement of arts, culture, sports and entertainment
4.7 – Retail and town centre development
5.2 – Minimising carbon dioxide emissions
5.3 – Sustainable design and construction
5.4A – Electricity and gas supply
5.6 – Decentralised energy in development proposals
5.7 – Renewable energy
5.9 – Overheating and cooling
5.10 – Urban greening
5.11 – Green roofs and development site environs
5.12 – Flood risk management
5.13 – Sustainable drainage
5.14 – Water quality and wastewater infrastructure
5.15 – Water use and supplies
5.17 – Waste capacity
5.21 – Contaminated land
6.3 – Assessing effects of development on transport capacity
6.9 – Cycling
6.13 – Parking
6.14 – Freight
7.1 – Lifetime neighbourhoods
7.2 – An inclusive environment
7.3 – Designing out crime
7.4 – Local character
7.5 – Public realm
7.6 – Architecture
7.8 – Heritage assets and archaeology
7.13 – Safety, security and resilience to emergency
7.14 – Improving air quality
7.15 – Reducing and managing noise, improving and enhancing the acoustic 
environment and promoting appropriate soundscapes
7.18 – Protecting open space and addressing deficiency
7.19 – Biodiversity and access to nature
7.24 – Blue Ribbon Network
7.27 – Blue Ribbon Network: supporting infrastructure and recreational use
7.28 – Restoration of the Blue Ribbon Network
7.30 – London canal’s and other rivers and waterspaces

5.5 Core Strategy 2010

SP01 – Refocusing on our town centres
SP04 – Creating a green and blue grid
SP05 – Dealing with waste
SP06 – Delivering successful employment hubs
SP08 – Making connected places
SP09 – Creating attractive and safe streets and spaces
SP10 – Creating distinct and durable places
SP11 – Working towards a zero-carbon borough
SP12 – Delivering placemaking

5.6 Managing Development Document 2013
 

DM1 – Development within the town centre hierarchy
DM9 – Improving air quality
DM10 – Delivering open space

Page 40



DM11 – Living buildings & biodiversity
DM12 – Water spaces
DM13 – Sustainable drainage
DM14 – Managing waste
DM16 – Office locations
DM20 – Supporting a sustainable transport network
DM21 – Sustainable transportation of freight
DM22 – Parking
DM23 – Streets and the public realm
DM24 – Place-sensitive design
DM25 – Amenity
DM27 – Heritage and the historic environment
DM29 – Achieving a zero carbon borough and addressing climate change
DM30 – Contaminated land and development and storage of hazardous substances

5.7 Supplementary Planning Documents

Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), September 2016

6.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSE

6.1 The views of the Directorate of Development & Renewal are expressed in the 
MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS section below.

6.2 The following were consulted regarding the application:

LBTH Biodiversity Officer

6.3 The proposed development will result in a minor adverse impact on the ‘SINC’ which 
requires mitigation through habitat enhancements. A condition requiring full details of 
the proposed biodiversity enhancements should be imposed.

Canal and River Trust

6.4 The issue of potential pollution from surface water drainage from terraces / balconies 
only applies to the ground floor.  This should be clear in application documents if 
planning permission is granted, as I note that these currently still refer to all terraces 
draining to the dock.

6.5 We welcome the applicant’s commitment to using only inert cleaning products to 
clean the proposed terrace.  The applicant will need a commercial agreement with 
the Trust to discharge surface water, which will require that the dock is not 
contaminated.  Any discharges will also be subject to control of pollution legislation.  
In this case, the Trust is content that its process for negotiating a commercial 
agreement for surface water drainage will provide sufficient opportunity to consider 
whether the proposal is acceptable or not to our satisfaction. Given this, we would 
not object to the compliance condition proposed.  

6.6 We do, however, consider that it is right for the Council to consider the extent to 
which it is practical to enforce a compliance condition requiring the use of inert 
cleaning products only.  The applicant suggests that the “Health and Environment 
section of Tower Hamlets Council is responsible for the routine testing of recreational 
water, controlling the release of pollution and taking enforcement action against 
those who pollute under the relevant pollution legislation”.  Obviously, it is for the 
Council to determine whether this statement is accurate and how confident it is that 

Page 41



any monitoring that identifies pollutants can be linked to the development.

Crime Prevention Officer

6.7 No objection.

LBTH Design Officer

6.8 Officers support the proposal and a condition requiring the submission of further 
details of the proposed facing materials should be secured.

LBTH Energy Officer

6.9 The current proposals are anticipated to achieve CO2 emission reductions of 40.7% 
which is below the target of 45%, and as such a carbon offsetting payment of 
£27,900 is required to meet this shortfall. The submitted information identifies and 
assesses a number of renewable energy technologies for integration in the scheme 
but none are considered appropriate for the development due to the size constraints 
or site location constraints, and in this specific instance the approach and justification 
is considered acceptable. The proposed sustainability statement states that the 
proposed scheme is anticipated to meet BREEAM Excellent which is welcomed and 
final certificates demonstrating that BREEAM Excellent has been achieved should be 
secured via condition. 

Environment Agency

6.10 No objection.

LBTH Environmental Health – Air Quality

6.11 No objection.

LBTH Environmental Health – Contaminated Land

6.12 Compliance condition requested.

LBTH Environmental Health – Noise and Vibration

6.13 No comments received.

LBTH Environmental Health – Smell and Pollution

6.14 No comments received.

Greater London Authority

6.15 No objection, the application is not required to be referred at stage II.

LBTH Planning Policy

6.16 No comments received.

Historic England

6.17 The submitted proposals are likely to cause significant harm to the character and 

Page 42



setting of the Grade I listed dock wall and the dock itself and would therefore need to 
be justified in accordance with policies set out within the NPPF and the perceived 
public benefits of the proposals.

Historic England Archaeology

6.18 No objection.

LBTH SUDS Team

6.19 The proposed drainage strategy is accepted. The applicant should consult with the 
canal and river trust to ensure that the runoff discharge into the docks is acceptable. 
A condition requiring details of the agreed adoption, monitoring and maintenance of 
the drainage and suds features should be imposed.

Thames Water

6.20 Informative requested.

Transport for London

6.21 The car-free nature of the scheme is welcomed and TFL welcome the use of valet 
services to provide for blue badge holders. Due to the exceptional circumstances 
unique to this site – in particular, the unique site location within the dock (surrounded 
by water on three sides), and the lack of a basement level – TFL are willing to accept 
the proposed cycle parking arrangements. The methodology used to calculate the 
trip generation for the proposed development is acceptable and due to the low 
number of trips anticipated to be generated by the development, TFL do not expect 
any site specific mitigation to be required from this site. TFL are content with the 
updated CLP and a condition requiring that the development is carried out in 
accordance with this document should be secured.

LBTH Transport and Highways

6.22 The proposed development is car-free which is welcomed, however accessible 
parking will need to be provided. LBTH highways accept TFL’s position on cycle 
parking, however all long stay cycle parking should be accessible, secure and 
weather proof. The anticipated delivery and servicing trips are low and thus are 
unlikely to adversely impact upon the local highway network. A full travel plan, 
demolition and construction management plan, and an updated delivery and 
servicing plan should be secured via condition. 

LBTH Waste Policy and Development

6.23 No comments received.

7.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATION 

7.1 A total of 41 letters were sent to neighbours and interested parties. A site notice was 
also displayed on site and the application was advertised in the local press.

7.2 The number of representations received in response to notification and publicity of 
the application is as follows:

No of individual responses: Objecting: 0

Page 43



Supporting: 0

No of petition responses: Objecting: 0
Supporting: 0

8.0 MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

8.1 This application has been assessed against all relevant policies under the following 
report headings:

1. Land Use
2. Loss of water space / Biodiversity
3. Design
4. Transport and Highways
5. Amenity
6. Refuse
7. Energy and Sustainability
8. Environmental Considerations
9. Planning Contributions 
10. Conclusion

Land Use

Policy Context

8.2 The application site is located within the Canary Wharf Major Town Centre and a 
Preferred Office Location (POL) as designated by the Local Plan (Core Strategy 
(2010) and Managing Development Document (2013)). The application site also sits 
within the Isle of Dogs Opportunity Area (IoDOA) as designated within the London 
Plan (2016).

8.3 Policy 2.1 of the London Plan (2016) seeks to retain and extend London’s “global role 
as a sustainable centre for business [and] innovation”. Policy 4.1 aims to “support and 
promote the distinctive and crucial contribution to London’s economic success made 
by central London and its specialist clusters of economic activity” and “promote 
London as a suitable location for European and other international agencies and 
businesses”. Policy 4.2 seeks to “meet the distinct needs of the central London office 
market, including the north of the Isle of Dogs, by sustaining and developing its 
unique and dynamic clusters of ‘world city’ and other specialist functions and 
business environments”. Policy 4.5 seeks to “support London’s visitor economy and 
stimulate its growth, taking into account the needs of business as well as leisure 
visitors”. Finally policy 4.6 seeks to enhance the economic contribution of 
entertainment facilities and policy 4.7 seeks to focus leisure development on sites 
within town centres.

8.4 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP01 seeks to “maintain and enhance Canary 
Wharf as an important major centre in the borough through, improving its local 
accessibility and supporting its continued growth”. Policy SP06 seeks to “maximise 
and deliver investment and job creation in the borough, by: supporting, maximising 
and promoting the competitiveness, vibrancy and creativity of the Tower Hamlets 
economy”.

8.5 The Council’s Managing Development Document policy DM1 seeks to support the 
vitality and viability of major centres by “supporting development that strengthens the 
mix and diversity of town centre uses (including employment and social / community 

Page 44



uses)”. Policy DM16 identifies Canary Wharf as a Preferred Office Location (POL) 
and seeks to support “major office development as the focus, with supporting uses 
such as gyms, hotels, restaurants and retail uses helping to achieve a sustainable 
office environment”.

Loss of Existing Office Floor Space

8.6 The site is currently vacant and was last in use in 2003 when the former buildings on 
the site were removed. Therefore the proposal would not result in the net loss of 
office floor space.

Principle of Members Club Use

8.7 The proposed development would result in the creation of 6536sqm of sui generis 
use class floor space to accommodate a members club on the site.

8.8 The proposed members club is to feature restaurant and bar facilities, a gym and spa, 
sleeping accommodation for club members, as well as an extensive roof terrace and 
is to be operated by an established member’s club owner in the West End. Given the 
proposed nature of the members club which is similar in nature to a hotel use (use 
class C1), a use directed to major and district town centre locations by Core Strategy 
policy SP06, officers consider that the proposed use can be considered acceptable in 
this location.

8.9 The applicant has stated that in order for the Canary Wharf estate to continue to 
compete with the West End and the City of London, and to remain attractive to major 
office tenants and occupiers, a higher calibre of ancillary facilities such as the 
proposed members club are required to support its role as a global economic centre. 
It should be noted that such a position is supported by both London Plan and the 
Council’s Local Plan policies. 

Conclusion

8.10 Officers consider that the introduction of a members club in this location is acceptable 
as the proposed use is compatible with its town centre location, will provide a 
supporting function to the POL and will further strengthen Canary Wharf’s position as 
a global economic centre.

Loss of Water Space / Biodiversity 

Policy Context

8.11 The application site is located within Middle Dock which is a designated Site of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC), forms part of the Blue Ribbon Network, 
and is also designated as water space (a form of open space).

8.12 Policy 2.18 of the London Plan (2016) seeks to “encourage the linkage of green 
infrastructure including the Blue Ribbon Network, to the wider public realm to improve 
accessibility for all and develop new links”. Policy 7.18 states that “the loss of 
protected open spaces must be resisted unless equivalent or better quality provision 
is made within the local catchment area”. Policy 7.19 states that “development 
proposals should: wherever possible, make a positive contribution to the protection, 
enhancement, creation and management of biodiversity”. Policy 7.27 states that 
“development proposals should enhance the use of the Blue Ribbon Network”. Policy 
7.28 states that “development proposals should restore and enhance the Blue Ribbon 

Page 45



Network by increasing habitat value”. Finally policy 7.30 states that “development 
within or alongside London’s docks should protect and promote the vitality, 
attractiveness and historical interest of London’s remaining dock areas by: preventing 
their partial or complete in-filling”.

8.13 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP04 seeks to “deliver a network of high quality, 
usable and accessible water spaces, through: protecting and safeguarding all existing 
water spaces from inappropriate development [and] improving the quality, usability, 
accessibility of the environment of water spaces including the immediate area and 
water quality”.

8.14 The Council’s Managing Development Document policy DM10 states that 
“development on areas of open space will only be allowed in exceptional 
circumstances where: it provides essential facilities to ensure the function, use and 
enjoyment of the open space; or as part of a wider development proposal there is an 
increase of open space and a higher quality open space outcome is achieved”. Policy 
DM11 states that “development will be required to provide elements of a ‘living 
building’ [and that] existing elements of biodiversity value should be protected or 
replaced within the development and additional habitat provision made to increase 
biodiversity value”. Policy DM12 states that “development within or adjacent to the 
Blue Ribbon Network will need to identify how it will improve the quality of the water 
space and provide increased opportunities for access, public use and interaction with 
the water space”.

Principle of Infilling Middle Dock

8.15 The proposed development involves the partial infilling of Middle Dock (353sqm) and 
as such raises potential conflicts with a number of London Plan policies relating to the 
Blue Ribbon Network and Council policy regarding water space (a form of open 
space).

8.16 The proposed area of Middle Dock which is to be in-filled comprises of a narrow strip 
of water (6.5m in width) which sits in between the existing vacant deck and the edge 
of the dock, which was previously partially covered by the former office building which 
was removed in 2003, and a small area (15sqm) to the east of the existing deck.

8.17 Whilst the infilling of dock areas is generally not considered acceptable, in this 
instance officers consider that the area of dock being covered by the proposed 
development does not provide opportunities for play, recreation and sport and is also 
considered to be of limited amenity value, due to its size and shape and the fact that 
it is wedged between the dock edge and the existing deck, constitutes poor quality 
open space (when assessed against the definition of open space within the Core 
Strategy (2010)).

8.18 The proposed development would not result in the loss of existing facilities for 
waterborne sport and leisure, would not adversely impact upon any existing access 
points to the water, and also would not adversely impact upon any existing waterway 
support infrastructure such as boatyards, moorings and jetties in accordance with 
policy 7.27 of the London Plan (2016). Officers also consider that the proposed 
development by virtue of its scale and siting would not adversely impact upon the 
openness of the Blue Ribbon Network in accordance with policy 7.28 of the London 
Plan (2016). Furthermore officers also consider that the proposed development 
respects the local character and also helps to enhance the vitality and attractiveness 
of the dock in line with policy 7.30 of the London Plan (2016).

Page 46



8.19 In accordance with policy SP04 of the Core Strategy (2010) the development would 
not adversely impact upon the accessibility of the water space, promotes this location 
for leisure activities by introducing a use on this site which is analogous to a leisure 
use, and also does not result in adverse biodiversity or flood risk impacts.

8.20 The area of dock being covered by the proposed development would not affect the 
navigability of the dock (as it is currently not navigable), the habitat quality (due to the 
mitigation measures being proposed), and the hydrology or water quality of the dock 
(due to the nature of the development) which is in accordance with policy DM12 (1) of 
the Managing Development Document (2013). Officers also consider that the nature 
in which the building is elevated from the water line allows it to respect any existing 
ecosystems within the dock in accordance with part (2) of DM12 which requires 
suitable setbacks from the water. The existing deck is also currently not accessible 
and as such the proposed development which would introduce a new use for this 
space would increase access to, and increase interaction with the water space (albeit 
for private use only) in accordance with part (3) of DM12.

8.21 Whilst the infilling of this area of dock is broadly considered acceptable as discussed 
above, as the proposed development would result in a net loss of water space (a form 
of open space), the proposal technically constitutes a departure from the local plan.

8.22 The implications of the proposed net loss of water space would also be mitigated by a 
‘Natural Environment Improvement and Enhancement Contribution’ of £600,000 
which would be used towards improvements and enhancements to the natural 
environment elsewhere in the Borough. Such a contribution would ensure that the 
proposed development meets the exceptional circumstances test within policy DM10 
of the Managing Development Document (2013) which states that development on 
areas of open space may be acceptable where “as part of a wider development 
proposal […] a higher quality open space outcome is achieved”, an objective which 
otherwise could not be achieved through a physical intervention within the red line 
boundary in this instance.

8.23 Given the above policy considerations, combined with the fact that the water space is 
considered to be of poor quality (due to its shape, size and location), financial 
contributions to Natural Environments would be secured via a s106, economic 
benefits would arise from direct employment generation and Canary Wharf will remain 
a globally competitive centre, officers consider that in this instance the partial infilling 
of the Middle Dock would be acceptable.

Biodiversity Implications

8.24 The application site sits within a designated Site of Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SINC) and it has been noted by the Council’s biodiversity officer that 
the small reduction in water space as a result of this proposal will result in a minor 
adverse impact on the SINC which will require suitable mitigation.

8.25 In order to mitigate the minor adverse impact on the SINC, the applicant has 
proposed that some form of floating marsh containing wetland habitat is to be erected 
along with the installation of a chainmail mesh curtain around the underside edge of 
the building which could provide habitat for juvenile fish and invertebrate. The 
biodiversity officer is content that such measures could suitably mitigate the minor 
adverse impact on the SINC and will require further details of these mitigation 
measures as part of a wider biodiversity condition which will need to be satisfied prior 
to the commencement of works.

Page 47



8.26 In accordance with policy DM11 of the Managing Development Document (2013), 
development is required to provide elements of a ‘living building’. The proposed new 
building includes the provision of 120sqm of biodiverse roof, bird nest boxes and 
planters which could be filled with a range of nectar-rich flowers, all of which can 
potentially contribute towards targets contained within the Local Biodiversity Action 
Plan (LBAP). The biodiversity officer is content that such measures will meet the 
necessary biodiversity requirements as set out in policy DM11 and will require further 
details of these mitigation measures as part of a wider biodiversity condition which will 
need to be satisfied prior to the commencement of works.

Conclusion

8.27 Officers consider that the mitigation measures proposed in order to offset the impacts 
of the proposal in biodiversity terms are acceptable and whilst the proposal does 
raise some conflicts with policy, on balance officers are content that the proposal can 
broadly be seen to be in line with the overall aims of the relevant policies.

Design

Policy Context

8.28 The application site includes a portion of the Grade I listed ‘banana dock wall’, 
however the site does not sit within or adjacent to any designated conservation areas.

8.29 Policy 7.1 of the London Plan (2016) seeks to ensure that “the design of new 
buildings and the spaces they create should help reinforce or enhance the character, 
legibility, permeability, and accessibility of the neighbourhood”. Policy 7.2 seeks to 
ensure “the principles of inclusive design […] have been integrated into the proposed 
development”. Policy 7.3 seeks to ensure that development reduces “the 
opportunities for criminal behaviour and contributes to a sense of security”. Policy 7.4 
seeks to ensure that “buildings, streets and open spaces should provide a high 
quality design response that contributes to a positive relationship between the urban 
structure and natural landscape features”. Policy 7.5 seeks to ensure that 
“development should make the public realm comprehensible at a human scale”. 
Finally policy 7.6 seeks to ensure that “buildings and structures should be of the 
highest architectural quality” and policy 7.8 seeks to ensure that “development should 
identify, value, conserve, restore, re-use and incorporate heritage assets, where 
appropriate”.

8.30 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP10 seeks to “ensure that buildings and 
neighbourhoods promote good design principles to create buildings, spaces and 
places that are high-quality, sustainable, accessible, attractive, durable and well-
integrated with their surrounds”.

8.31 The Council’s Managing Development Document policy DM23 states that 
“development should be well-connected with the surrounding area and should be 
easily accessible for all people by: ensuring design of the public realm is integral to 
development proposals and takes into consideration the design of the surrounding 
public realm [and] incorporating the principles of inclusive design”. DM24 states that 
“development will be required to be designed to the highest quality standards, 
incorporating principles of good design, including: ensuring design is sensitive to and 
enhances the local character and setting of the development”. Policy DM27 states 
that “development will be required to protect and enhance the borough’s heritage 
assets, their setting and their significance as key elements of developing the sense of 
place of the borough’s distinctive ‘Places’”.

Page 48



Height, Massing, Layout and Access

8.32 The proposed building is 5 storeys in height and extends to a height of 28.5m above 
Bank Street (inclusive of the roof top plant enclosure). Considering the scale of a 
number of existing and proposed buildings within the immediate context of the site, 
officers consider that the proposed height of the building is acceptable. It is also 
considered that due to the low scale of the building its impact on the overall sense of 
openness of Middle Dock is acceptable.

8.33 The proposed building will cover the entirety of the site and includes a one and a half 
storey 5.5m deep recess along its Bank Street frontage which enables it to create a 
generous entrance space and high quality public realm along Bank Street. The simple 
form of the building is punctuated by a number of terraces and openings on the rear 
elevation which give the form of the building a degree of visual interest.

8.34 The proposed building has been designed with access and inclusivity in mind, 
meeting relevant standards and providing flush thresholds and step free access 
throughout the building. Of the 17 guest rooms being provided, 2 of these are to be 
provided as wheelchair accessible rooms meaning that 10% of the proposed guest 
rooms are to be wheelchair accessible in accordance with the London Plan (2016).

8.35 In light of the above officers consider that the height, massing, layout and access of 
the building is acceptable as it accords with the relevant policies.

Architecture

8.36 The design of the building has been heavily influenced by its immediate context, in 
particular the texture and appearance of the water which surrounds the site. The 
proposed undulating reflective aluminium façade panels which clad the building have 
been designed to recreate the visual effect of wavelets on water and will reflect the 
light in a similar fashion to water.

8.37 The building is raised above the water line by 1m and is supported by the existing 
marine piles which are set back from the building’s edge giving the illusion that the 
building is floating above the dock. This visual effect will be further enhanced by 
lighting on the underside of the building. The proposed location of terraces and 
windows has been carefully considered and are considered to complement the 
architectural treatment of the façade.

8.38 Officers consider that the architectural treatment of the building has the potential to 
create a building of the highest architectural quality which will be an asset to the area 
and enhance the overall built environment of this part of the Canary Wharf estate. As 
such the proposed development can be considered to be acceptable in architectural 
terms.

Heritage

8.39 Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as 
amended) requires decision makers determining planning applications that would 
affect a listed building or its setting to “have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses”. 

Page 49



8.40 Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016) states that development affecting heritage 
assets and their settings should conserve their significance, by being sympathetic to 
their form, scale, materials and architectural detail. Policy 7.9 of the London Plan 
(2016) states that the significance of heritage assets should be assessed when 
development is proposed and schemes designed so that the heritage significance is 
recognised both in their own right and as catalysts for regeneration.

8.41 Policy SP10(2) of the Council’s adopted Core Strategy (2010) seeks to protect and 
enhance the Borough’s Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings and their settings 
and encourages and supports development that preserves and enhances the 
heritage value of the immediate and surrounding environment and wider setting.

8.42 Policy DM27(1) of the Council’s adopted Managing Development Document (2013) 
requires development to protect and enhance the Borough’s heritage assets, their 
setting and their significance as key elements of developing the sense of place of the 
Borough’s distinctive ‘Places’. 

8.43 As set out in Section 12 of the NPPF, when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should 
be given to the asset’s conservation. The NPPF emphasises that the weight given 
should be proportionate to the asset’s significance and,states that any harm to, or 
loss of, a heritage asset should be accompanied by a clear and convincing 
justification. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be.. 
Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage 
asset or development within its setting.  Substantial harm to Grade I listed structures 
should be wholly exceptional and substantial public benefits which outweigh that 
harm or loss should be sought. Where LPA’s consider that a proposal will lead to 
‘less than substantial harm’ then this harm should be weighed up against the public 
benefits of the proposal. In undertaking that balancing exercise, considerable weight 
and importance should be applied to the statutory duty under section 61 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) referred 
to above.

8.44 In order to facilitate the proposed development, alterations to small isolated areas of 
the coping of the Grade I listed ‘banana dock wall’ will be required in 17 locations. 
These alterations comprise of the temporary removal of some coping stones and the 
creation of small cut out areas in them to enable the installation of utilities services 
and structural steel beams. The majority of coping stones above the ‘banana dock 
wall’ are not original granite coping stones and are instead more modern concrete 
coping stones. Where possible the applicant has therefore sought to position utilities 
services and structural steel beams in locations where there are modern concrete 
coping stones, and where this isn’t possible the existing granite coping stones will be 
relocated to replace existing concrete coping stones. It should also be noted that the 
application does not result in any physical interventions to the ‘banana dock wall’ 
below. In light of the above and on the advice of both Historic England and the 
Council’s heritage officers, officers, having given very special weight to the desirability 
of preserving (i.e. causing no harm) to the wall and its setting, are content with the 
proposal in terms of its physical impact on the Grade I listed ‘banana dock wall’ and 
any harm caused is outweighed by the public benefits of the scheme (which are 
explained in more detail below).

8.45 The proposed building will sit directly above the existing Grade I listed ‘banana dock 
wall’ and as such will hide a portion of it (55m in length) from view, however it is 
appreciated that the existing deck structure which currently sits within Middle Dock 
does already obscure views of the existing dock wall from the opposite side of Middle 

Page 50



Dock. Both Historic England and the Council’s heritage officers have raised concerns 
with this aspect of the proposal, with Historic England considering that the covering 
of this portion of the existing dock wall could be seen to amount to ‘significant harm’ 
to the character and setting of the Grade I listed dock wall and the dock itself and 
would therefore need to be justified in accordance with policies set out within the 
NPPF and the perceived public benefits of the proposals. It should be noted however 
that Historic England have not sought to formally object to the application despite 
these concerns and have also stated that it is for the LPA to ultimately decide upon 
the degree of harm to the Grade I listed ‘banana dock wall’ in this instance.

8.46 It is considered that the existing deck structure is unsightly and does not positively 
contribute towards the setting of the Grade I listed ‘banana dock wall’, furthermore 
this structure also currently obscures views of this section of the dock wall, and as 
such its removal is supported. The proposed new building is considered to be of a 
very high architectural quality and whilst this will continue to obscure this portion of 
the dock wall, it is considered it will improve the setting of the adjacent portions of the 
dock wall. It is also considered that the gap between the underside of the new 
building and the water will mean that the new building will appear to float above the 
water, thus still allowing the overall outline of the dock to be read. This effect will be 
further enhanced by a well-considered lighting strategy on the underside of the 
building which will be secured by condition. Whilst the proposal does not fully comply 
with relevant policy with regard to heritage assets, officers do consider that the 
proposed development is sympathetic to the dock wall and the form of the dock in 
accordance with policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016), helps to enhance the setting of 
the adjacent dock wall in accordance with policy SP04 of the Core Strategy (2010) 
and will also help to develop a ‘sense of place’ in line with the aspirations of policy 
DM27 of the Managing Development Document (2013). For the above reasons 
officers have therefore concluded that the proposed development does not result in 
‘substantial harm’ and instead results in ‘less than substantial harm’ to the character 
and setting of the Grade I listed dock wall and the dock itself.

8.47 Given that officers consider the proposed development to result in ‘less than 
substantial harm’ special weight has been given to the desirability of avoiding that 
harm and an assessment of the public benefits and mitigation proposed has been 
undertaken in order to conclude whether the proposed development would be seen 
to be acceptable in heritage terms. At present the existing Grade I listed ‘banana 
dock wall’ is considered to be an underappreciated heritage asset, largely due to the 
fact that its significance is largely not apparent when walking along Bank Street, a 
busy thoroughfare within, and important entrance point to, the Canary Wharf estate. 
In order to address this point, the applicant is proposing to install a number of 
‘interpretation boards’ along Bank Street which will bring attention to and enhance 
visitors’ understanding of the dock wall structure and its history as part of this 
proposal which is welcomed by officers. Details of the number and nature of these 
‘interpretation boards’ will be secured by s106. In addition to this mitigation 
intervention officers have also considered the public benefits of the proposed 
development which include the direct creation of 400 new jobs on site, and the fact 
that the development will enhance the overall offer of the Canary Wharf estate which 
will further help it to compete as a global economic centre which has far reaching 
benefits for the Borough as a whole. Given the proposed mitigation measures and 
the public benefits of the proposal, officers therefore conclude that the public benefits 
from the scheme outweigh the ‘less than substantial harm’ to the Grade I listed 
‘banana dock wall’. As such officers consider the application to be acceptable in 
heritage terms.

Page 51



Conclusion

8.48 Officers consider that the proposed design of the new building is of a very high 
standard and will have a positive impact on the surrounding built environment. Whilst 
although the proposal would result in a degree of harm to the existing Grade I listed 
‘banana dock wall’, as it is considered to be ‘less than substantial’ and outweighed by 
public benefits, it is considered that the application is acceptable in design terms.

Transportation & Highways

Policy Context

8.49 The application site does not sit adjacent to or within close proximity to the public 
highway network and instead sits adjacent to a road in private ownership on the 
Canary Wharf estate.

8.50 Policy 6.3 of the London Plan (2016) states that “development proposals should 
ensure that impacts on transport capacity and the transport network, at both a 
corridor and local level, are fully assessed. Development should not adversely affect 
safety on the transport network”. Policy 6.9 states that “developments should: provide 
secure, integrated, convenient and accessible cycle parking facilities in line with the 
minimum standards […] and the guidance set out in the London Cycle Design 
Standards”. Policy 6.13 states that “in locations with high public transport 
accessibility, car-free developments should be promoted (while still provided for 
disabled people)”. Finally policy 6.14 states that “development proposals that 
increase the use of the Blue Ribbon Network for freight transport will be encouraged”.

8.51 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP08 seeks to “promote the sustainable 
transportation of freight […] by: promoting and maximising the movement of freight 
by water and rail to take the load off the strategic road network”. Policy SP09 seeks 
to “ensure new development has no adverse impact on the safety and capacity of the 
road network [and promotes] car free developments and those schemes which 
minimise on-site and off-site car parking provision, particularly in areas with good 
access to public transport”.

8.52 The Council’s Managing Development Document policy DM20 states that 
“development will need to demonstrate it is properly integrated with the transport 
network and has no unacceptable impacts on the capacity and safety of the transport 
network or on any planned improvements and/or amendments to the transport 
network”. Policy DM21 states that “development that generates a significant number 
of vehicular trips for goods or materials during its construction and operational 
phases will need to demonstrate how: movement by water and/or rail, the use of low 
emission vehicles, electric vehicles and bicycles has been prioritised”. Policy DM22 
states that “in order to ensure suitable provision for cyclists, development will be 
required to: meet, and preferably exceed, the minimum standards for cycle parking”.

Traffic and Highway Assessment

8.53 The application site has a PTAL rating of 5 meaning that it is in an area of very good 
public transport accessibility and is in close proximity to Canary Wharf Jubilee line 
station, Heron Quays DLR station, a number of bus routes and the future Canary 
Wharf Crossrail station which opens in 2018. No car parking for the development has 
been proposed which is welcomed by officers given its highly accessible location and 

Page 52



this will help encourage employees and visitors to use the wide range of sustainable 
transport modes available.

8.54 In terms of the trip generation levels of the proposed development, it is envisaged 
that as the proposed development is an ancillary and complementary use for the 
wider Canary Wharf estate, the majority of trips generated will be linked to other uses 
on the site, i.e. office workers using the facilities at the proposed development after 
work. This therefore means that the proposed development is unlikely to generate a 
significant number of trips from outside the Canary Wharf estate meaning that the 
development’s impact on the local highway and public transport network is envisaged 
to be negligible.

8.55 In light of the above officers therefore consider that the proposed development can 
be seen to be acceptable in terms of its impacts upon the local highway and public 
transport in accordance with policy SP09 of the Core Strategy (2010) and policy 
DM20 of the Managing Development Document (2013).

Parking

8.56 The applicant has proposed to provide a total of 68 cycle parking spaces to service 
the proposed development, of which 28 will be ‘long stay’ spaces for the use of staff, 
and 40 will be ‘short stay’ spaces for the use of visitors. Both TFL and LBTH 
highways officers are content with the quantum of cycle parking spaces proposed. 
No car parking is to be provided on site and a blue badge valet parking service for 
motorists with accessibility requirements will be provided, which will be secured via 
condition.

8.57 Due to the constraints of the site, which include its unique location within the dock 
(surrounded by water on three sides), and the lack of a basement level, the 
development has been unable to accommodate all of the proposed cycle parking on 
site, and has instead provided 6 of the ‘long stay’ spaces on site (in the form of 
Brompton cycle lockers) and the remaining 22 of the ‘long stay’ spaces within the 
Jubilee Place car park which is 350m walking distance from the site. Due to the fact 
that both of these locations are secure and offer relative convenience for future staff 
members, officers consider that the proposed ‘long stay’ cycle parking provision for 
the development is acceptable. With respect to the remaining 40 ‘short stay’ spaces 
for the use of visitors, these are to be provided in the form of on street ‘Sheffield 
stands’ in two locations which are sited 60m and 140m walking distance from the 
site. Due to the fact that both these locations are in close proximity to the site and are 
thus convenient to use for visitors to the Quay Club, officers are content to accept 
this provision. The installation of the cycle parking provisions would be secured by 
s106. It should also be noted that locker and shower facilities for staff will be provided 
in the staff changing room located on level 4 of the proposed building which is 
welcomed.

8.58 In light of the above officers consider that the proposed development can be 
considered to be acceptable in terms of its proposed parking provision in accordance 
with policies 6.9 and 6.13 of the London Plan (2016), policy SP09 of the Core 
Strategy (2010) and policy DM22 of the Managing Development Document (2013).

Servicing and Deliveries

8.59 The applicant has submitted a servicing and delivery plan which outlines how 
servicing and delivery trips to the site will be managed. The proposed development 
incorporates an inset layby on the northern side of Bank Street directly outside the 

Page 53



main entrance to the Quay Club which will be used by servicing and delivery vehicles 
as well as taxis and vehicles dropping people off at the building.

8.60 The submitted servicing and delivery plan outlines a provisional schedule for 
deliveries to the site and has been designed to ensure that only one delivery vehicle 
is on site at any given time, and that where possible deliveries take place outside of 
peak periods. It is envisaged that up to 24 deliveries a day will take place with all of 
the vehicles expected to be in the form of small to medium sized parcel vans. Targets 
to keep the number of deliveries to the site to a minimum will be employed in order to 
ensure that the site is serviced in a sustainable manner. The servicing and delivery 
trips to the site will be carefully monitored and coordinated with other developments 
within the Canary Wharf estate.

8.61 The applicant has investigated the possibility of moving construction materials and 
waste to and from site by water during the construction phase of the development 
and has concluded that this is not possible due to the fact that the sole link to Middle 
Dock is currently closed as it forms a part of the 10 Bank Street construction area, 
and this link is not anticipated to re-open to vessels until at least 2020. As the 
applicant has explored this option and has proved that it is not viable, officers are 
content that the applicant has met the requirements of policy 6.14 (part B, paragraph 
C) which states that developments should increase the use of the Blue Ribbon 
Network for the transportation of freight.

8.62 Both LBTH highways officers and TFL have reviewed the submitted servicing and 
delivery plan and have raised no objections to its contents. As such officers are 
content that the proposal is in accordance with policy 6.14 of the London Plan (2016), 
policy SP08 of the Core Strategy (2010), and policy DM21 of the Managing 
Development Document (2013).

8.63 Conclusion

8.64 Officers consider that as the proposal would not have a significant adverse impact 
upon the local highway and public transport network, would provide suitable parking 
arrangements, and would be serviced in a manner which would not adversely impact 
the local highway network, the proposal on balance is acceptable in transport and 
highways terms.

Amenity

Policy Context

8.65 According to paragraph 17 of the NPPF local planning authorities should always seek 
to secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and 
buildings.

8.66 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP10 (4) seeks to ensure that development 
“protects amenity, and promotes well-being (including preventing loss of privacy and 
access to daylight and sunlight)”.

8.67 The Council’s Managing Development Document policy DM25 states that 
“development should seek to protect, and where possible improve, the amenity of 
surrounding existing and future residents and building occupants, as well as the 
amenity of the surrounding public realm”.

Page 54



Assessment

8.68 The proposed development is surrounded on three sides by water and on its south 
side by Bank Street, and the currently under construction 10 Bank Street on the 
south side of Bank Street. The buildings on the north side of Middle Dock are located 
approximately 45m from the proposed building and due to its scale officers do not 
consider that the proposed development would result in any adverse impacts on the 
privacy, outlook or daylight and sunlight levels experienced by the occupiers of these 
buildings. The currently under construction 10 Bank Street on the south side of Bank 
Street is located approximately 20m from the proposed building and due to its scale 
and location to the north of the affected property, officers do not consider that the 
proposed development would adversely impact upon the amenity of the future 
occupiers of this building.

8.69 The proposed hours of operation for the proposed development have not been 
specified by the applicant, however given the nature of the proposed use which 
includes accommodation, the building will be in use 24 hours a day. Considering that 
the surrounding buildings are all currently in office use, with the exception of the 
currently under construction Newfoundland development which is residential and is 
sited approximately 90m from the site, officers consider that the proposed members 
club (sui generis) use is therefore compatible with the surrounding existing and 
proposed uses, as there are no residents within close proximity to the proposed 
development.

8.70 In terms of the level of amenity afforded to future users of the proposed development, 
it should be noted that all 17 bedrooms benefit from windows/Juliet balconies or full 
balconies overlooking the dock, as well as a large communal terrace on the roof level 
of the building. Furthermore the façade of the building has been acoustically 
designed, including the use of hermetically sealed glazing to ensure that suitable 
internal noise levels are achieved.

Conclusion

8.71 Officers consider that as the proposal would not adversely impact the amenity of 
surrounding residents and building occupiers, and would also afford future occupiers 
of the building a suitable level of amenity, the proposed development can be seen to 
be in accordance with policy SP10 (4) of the Core Strategy (2010) and policy DM25 
of the Managing Development Document (2013) and is thus acceptable in amenity 
terms.

Refuse

Policy Context

8.72 Policy 5.17 of the London Plan (2016) states that development proposals should be 
“minimising waste and achieving high reuse and recycling performance”.

8.73 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP05 (1) states that development should 
“implement the waste management hierarchy of reduce, reuse and recycle”.

8.74 The Council’s Managing Development Document policy DM14 (2) states that 
“development should demonstrate how it will provide appropriate storage facilities for 
residual waste and recycling as a component element to implement the waste 
management hierarchy of reduce, reuse and recycle”.

Page 55



Assessment

8.75 The proposed development includes a large bin store in the south west corner of the 
ground floor of the building which is located directly adjacent to both the  servicing 
bay to the front of the building and the internal servicing core of the building, and is 
considered to be in an acceptable location. The overall quantum of refuse storage 
proposed has been calculated using British Standards guidance on the level of waste 
generated by various uses and is considered to be an acceptable way to calculate 
the necessary size of the refuse store. The proposed refuse store includes a 
compactor to minimise the number of bins required for the building, and as a result 5 
x 660l Eurobins and 3 x 330l Eurobins have been proposed in order to allow for the 
segregation of general waste and recyclables which is supported. Refuse will be 
collected every 2 days by a range of commercial waste collection service providers.

Conclusion

8.76 Officers consider that the proposed refuse strategy for the site is acceptable as the 
refuse store is located in a convenient location, is of a suitable size and has been 
designed with the Council’s waste management hierarchy of reduce, reuse and 
recycle in mind, in accordance with policy SP05 (1) of the Core Strategy (2010) and 
policy DM14 (2) of the Managing Development Document (2013).

Energy and Sustainability

Policy Context

8.77 Policy 5.2 of the London Plan (2016) states that “development proposals should 
make the fullest contribution to minimising carbon dioxide emissions in accordance 
with the following energy hierarchy: 1) be lean: use less energy, 2) be clean: supply 
energy efficiently, 3) be green: use renewable energy”. Policy 5.3 states that “the 
highest standards of sustainable design and construction should be achieved in 
London to improve the environmental performance of new developments and to 
adapt to the effects of climate change over their lifetime”. Policy 5.6 states that 
“development proposals should evaluate the feasibility of Combined Heat and Power 
(CHP) systems, and where a new CHP system is appropriate also examine 
opportunities to extend the system beyond the site boundary to adjacent sites”. 
Policy 5.7 states that “within the framework of the energy hierarchy, major 
development proposals should provide a reduction in expected carbon dioxide 
emissions through the use of on-site renewable energy generation, where feasible”. 
Finally policy 5.9 states that “major development proposals should reduce potential 
overheating and reliance on air conditioning systems”.

8.78 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP11 seeks to ensure that development helps 
“implement a borough-wide carbon emissions target of 60% below 1990 levels by 
2025”.

8.79 The Council’s Managing Development Document policy DM29 details the necessary 
carbon reductions over and above the building regulations requirements and states 
that “development will be required to connect to or demonstrate a potential 
connection to a decentralised energy system unless it can be demonstrated that this 
is not feasible or viable” and that “sustainable design assessment tools will be used 
to ensure climate change mitigation measures are maximised within development”.

Page 56



Assessment

8.80 The applicant has submitted an energy statement which details how the London Plan 
energy hierarchy of ‘be lean, be clean and be green’ has been adhered to in the 
design of the proposed building. All reasonable endeavours have been made to 
reduce the amount of energy required by the building and supply it in the most 
efficient method possible which has led to the scheme achieving a 40.7% CO2 
emission reduction over and above the building regulations requirements. An 
assessment identifying a range of renewable energy technologies which could be 
used within the development has also been made by the applicant, however it has 
been concluded that none of the technologies assessed are appropriate for the 
development due to either size constraints or site location constraints. In this 
instance the Council’s energy efficiency officer is content to accept this position and 
as such a carbon offsetting payment of £27,900 will be secured through a S.106 
agreement to cover the shortfall between the anticipated CO2 emission reductions 
and the Council’s current 45% target.

8.81 Part (4) of policy DM29 in the Managing Development Document states that 
sustainable design assessment tools will be used to ensure that development 
achieves the highest levels of sustainable design and construction. As this proposal 
is a non-residential scheme, and in order for the proposal to meet the requirements 
of this policy, it must be designed to achieve a BREEAM ‘Excellent’ assessment 
rating. The applicant has submitted a sustainability statement which shows that the 
scheme is designed to achieve a BREEAM ‘Excellent’ rating with a score of 72.85% 
which is welcomed. In order to ensure that the development achieves this target a 
condition requiring the final certificates to be submitted within 6 months of completion 
of the development will be imposed.

Conclusion

8.82 Officers consider that the proposed energy strategy for the site is acceptable as the 
proposal has been designed in compliance with the London Plan energy hierarchy, is 
to provide a carbon offsetting payment to cover the CO2 emission reduction shortfall, 
and has been designed to be BREEAM ‘Excellent’ in accordance with policy SP11 of 
the Core Strategy (2010) and policy DM29 of the Managing Development Document 
(2013).

Environmental Considerations

Policy Context

8.83 Policy 5.12 of the London Plan states that “development proposals must comply with the 
flood risk assessment and management requirements set out in the NPPF”. Policy 
5.13 states that “development should utilise sustainable urban drainage systems 
(SUDS) unless there are practical reasons for doing so”. Policy 5.21 states that 
“appropriate measures should be taken to ensure that development on previously 
contaminated land does not activate or spread contamination”. Policy 7.14 states that 
“development proposals should minimise increased exposure to existing poor air 
quality and make provision to address local problems of air quality”.

8.84 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP04 states that “all new development that has to 
be located in a high risk flood zone must demonstrate that it is safe [and] that all new 
development across the borough does not increase the risk and impact of flooding”.

Page 57



8.85 The Council’s Managing Development Document policy DM9 states that “major 
development will be required to submit an Air Quality Assessment demonstrating how it 
will prevent or reduce associated air pollution during construction or demolition”. Policy DM13 
states that “development will be required to show how it reduces the amount of water usage, 
runoff and discharge from the site, through the use of appropriate water reuse and 
Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUD) techniques”. Policy DM30 states that “where development 
is proposed on contaminated land or potentially contaminated land, a site investigation will be 
required and remediation proposals agreed to deal with the contamination before planning 
permission is granted”.

Air Quality

8.86 The applicant has submitted an air quality assessment which assesses the level of 
emissions from transport generated by the proposed use and the building itself. This 
assessment concludes that in this instance emissions are below the benchmarks 
detailed in relevant policy and therefore the development meets the requirement to 
be ‘Air Quality Neutral’, and as such no mitigation measures are required in this 
instance.

8.87 The submitted construction environmental management plan contained within the 
construction statement covers the generation of dust and air quality during the 
construction process and sets out a range of mitigation/management measures 
which will be used to ensure that there is no significant impact on air quality during 
the demolition and construction phases of the development.

8.88 Both of these documents have been reviewed by the Council’s air quality officers 
who have concurred with the results of the submitted reports and have thus raised no 
objections to the development. As such officers consider that the proposed 
development is acceptable in air quality terms.

Contaminated Land

8.89 The majority of the development is to be constructed on a man-made deck which sits 
over the existing dock and as such it would not be expected that any contaminated 
land issues would arise from such a development. The proposed development does 
however include a small strip of land on its western side which will be disturbed 
during the build process, and whilst previous efforts to clean up this land as part of 
other developments have been made, there is still a small possibility that this land 
could be contaminated. In order to ensure that any contaminated land is suitably 
remediated in the unlikely event that contamination is found, a compliance condition 
has been proposed by the Council’s contaminated land officers which will state that if 
during development, contamination is found to be present at the site then no further 
development shall be carried out until the applicant has submitted and obtained 
written approval from the LPA for an investigation and risk assessment, and where 
necessary a remediation strategy and verification plan detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. In light of the above details and 
subject to the above compliance condition officers are content that the proposed 
development is acceptable in contaminated land terms.

Flood Risk

8.90 The application site is located within Flood Zone 3 which indicates that the site is 
located within an area which is at a ‘high probability’ of flooding, and as the proposal 
includes uses (such as accommodation) which fall within the ‘more vulnerable’ use 
category, the applicant is required to apply an ‘Exception Test’ to demonstrate that 

Page 58



the development is appropriate (as set out within the NPPF), by showing that the 
development will provide wider sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh 
flood risk, and that it will be safe for its lifetime. In this instance officers consider that 
the proposed development is appropriate as it does provide wider sustainability 
benefits through its biodiversity enhancements on site and associated S.106 
contributions towards natural environmental enhancements, and also can be 
considered safe for its lifetime due to the fact that the proposed levels of the building 
are set above the predicted extreme flood levels provided by the Environment 
Agency. In light of the above both the Environment Agency and the Council’s own 
officers are therefore content to conclude that the proposed development is 
acceptable in flood risk terms.

SUDS

8.91 The proposed flood risk assessment also includes details of how SUD (Sustainable 
Urban Drainage) features have been incorporated into the development, mainly 
through the inclusion of extensive green roof coverage on the building. The Council’s 
SUDS team are content with the proposed strategy for this site and have requested a 
condition which will detail its agreed adoption, monitoring and maintenance of the 
drainage and SUDS features.

8.92 The remaining surface water is anticipated to be discharged directly into the docks as 
it will not be contaminated, and in order to ensure that this is the case a compliance 
condition will be imposed (as requested by the Canal and River Trust) which will 
state that no chemical cleaning products can be used on the terrace areas which 
could otherwise be discharged into the dock. Both the Canal and River Trust and the 
Local Authority are content that there are suitable measures in place to monitor this 
and thus enforce against this if there is any breach of this condition.

Conclusion

8.93 Officers consider that the proposal is acceptable in air quality, contaminated land, 
flood risk and SUDS terms and can thus be considered to be in accordance with the 
relevant policies of the London Plan, Core Strategy (2010) and Managing 
Development Document (2013) as set out within the policy context section of this 
chapter.

Planning Contributions 

8.94 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP13 seeks planning obligations to offset the 
impacts of the development on local services and infrastructure in light of the 
Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). The Council’s recently adopted ‘Planning 
Obligations’ SPD (2016) sets out in more detail how these impacts can be assessed 
and appropriate mitigation secured.

8.95 The NPPF requires that planning obligations must be:

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
 Directly related to the development; and,
 Are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

8.96 Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations 2010 brings the above policy tests into law, 
requiring that planning obligations can only constitute a reason for granting planning 
permission where they meet such tests.

Page 59



8.97 This is further supported by policy SP13 of the Core Strategy (2010) which seeks to 
negotiate planning obligations through their deliverance in kind or through financial 
contributions to mitigate the impacts of a development.

8.98 The Council’s current Supplementary Planning Document on Planning Obligations 
was adopted in September 2016. This SPD provides the Council’s guidance on the 
policy concerning planning obligations set out in policy SP13 of the Core Strategy 
(2010).

8.99 The general purpose of S.106 contributions are to ensure that development is 
appropriately mitigated in terms of impacts. 

8.100 The development proposed does not fall within any defined use class and is thus 
considered to be ‘Sui Generis’ which is not liable for Tower Hamlets CIL payments. In 
order to further mitigate the proposed development, in particular the loss of water 
space as a result of the development, the applicant has therefore proposed a 
“Natural Environment Improvement and Enhancement Contribution” of £600,000 
which totals a similar scale of contribution had the development been liable for 
borough CIL based on the rate applicable to a combined retail/hotel use.  Officers 
consider that to be an appropriate approach given that the proposed scheme shares 
similar characteristics with that type of use.

8.101 The following is a complete list of the financial obligation to be secured in accordance 
with LBTH and GLA guidance:

8.102

Heads of Terms Planning  obligation    
financial contribution

Improvements and enhancements to the 
natural environment in the borough.

£600,000

Construction phase skills and training. £26,144
Access employment and end user £41,026
Carbon off set initiatives £27,900
Monitoring £2,000

Total
                                          
£697,070

8.103 All of the above obligations are considered to be in compliance with aforementioned 
policies, the NPPF and Regulation 122 and 123 tests. 

9.0 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Localism Act (amendment to S70(2) of the TCPA 1990) 

9.1 70(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) entitles the relevant 
authority to grant planning permission on application to it. Section 70(2) requires that 
the authority shall have regard to:

 The provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application;
 Any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application; and,
 Any other material consideration.

9.2 Section 70(4) defines “local finance consideration” as:

Page 60



 A grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, 
provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or

 Sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in 
payment of Community Infrastructure Levy

9.3 In this context “grants” might include New Homes Bonus. This is not applicable to this 
application.

9.4 As regards Community Infrastructure Levy considerations, Members are reminded 
that that the London mayoral CIL became operational from 1 April 2012 and will be 
payable on this scheme. The likely CIL payment associated with this development 
would be in the region of £228,760.

9.5 The Borough’s Community Infrastructure Levy came into force from 1st April 2015.  
As discussed previously, in this instance the proposal would not be liable for Borough 
CIL as the proposed development includes the creation of ‘Sui Generis’ floor space 
which is afforded a nil rate in the borough’s CIL charging schedule.

10.0 EQUALITIES ACT CONSIDERATIONS

10.1 The Equality Act 2010 provides protection from discrimination in respect of certain 
protected characteristics, namely: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or beliefs, gender and sexual orientation. It places the 
Council under a legal duty to have due regard to the advancement of equality in the 
exercise of its powers including planning powers. Officers have taken this into 
account in the assessment of the application and the Committee must be mindful of 
this duty inter alia when determining all planning applications. In particular the 
Committee must pay due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Act; 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

11.0  HUMAN RIGHTS CONSIDERATIONS

11.1 In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions 
of the Human Rights Act 1998. In the determination of a planning application the 
following are particularly highlighted to Members:

11.2 Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits authorities (including the Council 
as local planning authority) from acting in a way which is incompatible with the 
European Convention on Human Rights. "Convention" here means the European 
Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were incorporated into English 
law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention rights are likely to be 
relevant, including:-

 Entitlement to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an 
independent and impartial tribunal established by law in the determination of a 
person's civil and political rights (Convention Article 6). This includes property 
rights and can include opportunities to be heard in the consultation process;

Page 61



 Rights to respect for private and family life and home. Such rights may be 
restricted if the infringement is legitimate and fair and proportionate in the 
public interest (Convention Article 8); and

 Peaceful enjoyment of possessions (including property). This does not impair 
the right to enforce such laws as the State deems necessary to control the 
use of property in accordance with the general interest (First Protocol, Article 
1). The European Court has recognised that "regard must be had to the fair 
balance that has to be struck between the competing interests of the 
individual and of the community as a whole".

11.3 This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning 
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council 
as local planning authority.

11.4 Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in the exercise of the 
Council's planning authority's powers and duties. Any interference with a Convention 
right must be necessary and proportionate.

11.5 Members must, therefore, carefully consider the balance to be struck between 
individual rights and the wider public interest.

11.6 As set out above, it is necessary, having regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, to 
take into account any interference with private property rights protected by the 
European Convention on Human Rights and ensure that the interference is 
proportionate and in the public interest.

12.0 CONCLUSION

12.1 All other relevant policies and considerations have been taken into account.  
Planning permission and listed building consent should be GRANTED for the reasons 
set out in the MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS section of this report.

Page 62



13.0 SITE MAP

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

20th October 2016

UPDATE REPORT OF HEAD OF PLANNING AND BUILDING CONTROL

Agenda
item no

Reference 
no

Location Proposal / Title

5.3 PA/16/00899 
+ 
PA/16/00900

The Quay Club, 
Bank Street, 
Canary Wharf, 
London, E14

Demolition of the existing concrete slab and 
associated infrastructure; alterations to Bank 
Street including the removal of existing 
coping stones above the existing Banana 
Wall to enable the installation of proposed 
utilities services and future deck; the 
installation of new piles in the Bank Street; 
and the erection of a five storey building on 
the existing marine piles for use as a 
members club (Use Class Sui Generis) and 
other associated works incidental to the 
development. 

1.0 CLARIFICATION

1.1 The applicant has submitted a further note entitled ‘File Note’ dated ‘20/10/2016’ 
which clarifies the position regarding the surface water drainage from 
terraces/balconies. This clarifies that the issue of potential pollution from surface 
water drainage from terraces/balconies only applies to the ground floor as 
opposed to all terraces/balconies draining into the dock as noted in previously 
submitted documents. It should be noted that both the Canal and River Trust and 
the Council’s position is unchanged as a result of this document and that this 
element of the proposal is still supported subject to the inclusion of a compliance 
condition.

1.2 Paragraph 2.4 within the executive summary states that the proposal results in 
the loss of water space. For the avoidance of doubt it should be noted that the 
353sqm of ‘lost water space’ as a result of this application has been calculated on 
the loss of surface water space (through its coverage) as opposed to the 
complete removal of the water space.

1.3 Paragraph 3.1 within the recommendation states that the development will incur a 
monitoring fee of £2,000. This figure should be £3,500 as opposed to £2,000. 

1.4 Paragraph 3.1 within the recommendation states that the development should 
provide 8 apprenticeships for local residents during the construction phase. This 
figure should be 5 as opposed to 8. 

1.5 Paragraph 4.18 within the relevant planning history includes application 
PA/16/02742. It should be noted that this application was withdrawn by the 
applicant on 10/10/2016. 

1.6 Paragraphs 8.15-8.21 within the material planning considerations refer to the 
‘infilling’ of Middle Dock. It should be noted that the proposed development 

Page 65



involves the ‘coverage’ of the Middle Dock as opposed to its ‘infilling’ as the 
existing water below the proposed deck will remain.

1.7 Paragraph 8.43 includes the underlining of the words ‘substantial harm’ on line 8. 
It should be noted that this is a typographic error and the words ‘substantial harm’ 
should not in fact be underlined.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 Officers’ original recommendation to APPROVE planning permission and listed 
building consent remains unchanged. 

Page 66



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 (Section 97)
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN THE DRAFTING OF THE REPORTS UNDER ITEM 7

Brief Description of background papers: Tick if copy supplied for register: Name and telephone no. of holder:

See Individual reports  See Individual reports 

Committee:
Strategic Development

Date:
19th January 2017

Classification: 
Unrestricted

Agenda Item No:

Report of: 
CorporateDirector Development and Renewal

Originating Officer: 
Owen Whalley

Title: Planning Applications for Decision

Ref No:See reports attached for each item

Ward(s):See reports attached for each item

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 In this part of the agenda are reports on planning applications for determination by the 
Committee. Although the reports are ordered by application number, the Chair may reorder 
the agenda on the night. If you wish to be present for a particular application you need to be 
at the meeting from the beginning.

1.2 The following information and advice applies to all those reports.

2. FURTHER INFORMATION

2.1 Members are informed that all letters of representation and petitions received in relation to 
the items on this part of the agenda are available for inspection at the meeting.

2.2 Members are informed that any further letters of representation, petitionsor other matters 
received since the publication of this part of the agenda, concerning items on it, will be 
reported to the Committee in an Addendum Update Report.

3. ADVICE OF HEAD OF LEGAL SERVICES

3.1 The relevant policy framework against which the Committee is required to consider 
planning applications comprises the Development Plan and other material policy 
documents. The Development Plan is:

 the London Plan 2011
 the Tower Hamlets Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2025 adopted September 

2010 
 the Managing Development Document adopted April 2013

3.2 Other material policy documents include the Council's Community Plan, supplementary 
planning documents, government planning policy set out in the National Planning Policy 
Statement andplanning guidance notes and circulars.

3.3 Decisions must be taken in accordance with section 70(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the Committee to have 
regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application and 
any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 requires the Committee to make its determination in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material planning considerations support a different decision 
being taken.

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



3.4 Under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects listed 
buildings or their settings, the local planning authority must have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of architectural or historic 
interest it possesses.

3.5 Under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
conservation area, the local planning authority must pay special attention to the desirability 
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area.

3.6 The Equality Act 2010 provides that in exercising its functions (which includes the functions 
exercised by the Council as Local Planning Authority), that the Council as a public authority 
shall amongst other duties have due regard to the need to-

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited under the Act;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

3.7 The protected characteristics set out in the Equality Act are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.  
The Equality Act acknowledges that compliance with the duties set out may involve treating 
some persons more favourably than others, but that this does not permit conduct that would 
otherwise be prohibited under the Act.

3.8 In accordance with Article 31 of the Development Management Procedure Order 2010, 
Members are invited to agree the recommendations set out in the reports, which have been 
made on the basis of the analysis of the scheme set out in each report. This analysis has 
been undertaken on the balance of the policies and any other material considerations set 
out in the individual reports.

4. PUBLIC SPEAKING

4.1 The Council’s constitution allows for public speaking on these items in accordance with the 
rules set out in the constitution and the Committee’s procedures. These are set out at 
Agenda Item 4.

5. RECOMMENDATION

5.1 The Committee to take any decisions recommended in the attached reports.

Page 68



Committee:  
Strategic   

Date:   
19th January 2017 

Classification:  
Unrestricted 

Agenda Item Number:  
 

 
Report of:  
Director of Development and 
Renewal 
 
 
 
Case Officer: 
Kirsty Flevill 

Title:  Application for Planning Permission  
 
 
Ref No: PA/16/01637- Full Planning Permission  
 
   
 
Ward: Canary Wharf 

 
 
1.  APPLICATION DETAILS  
 
   
 Location:  54 Marsh Wall,  London, E14 9TP 

 
 Existing Use:  Banking hall (Class A2) at ground floor level with 

commercial office space (Class B1) above and 
ancillary car parking 

   
 Proposal:  Demolition of the existing building and construction of 

two new linked buildings of 41 and 16 storeys (over 
double basement) comprising 216 residential units; 
two ground floor commercial units (Use Classes A1-
A3, B1) totalling 174 sq. m GIA fronting on to Marsh 
Wall; basement car parking and servicing; and 
landscaped open space including a new pedestrian 
route linking Marsh Wall and Byng Street. 
 

 Drawing and documents:  See appendix 
  
 Applicant:  Daejan (FHNV 1998) Limited  

 
 Ownership:  Applicant 

 
 Historic 

Building: 
None 
 
 

 Conservation 
Area: 

None 

 
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
2.1. The Council  has considered the particular circumstances of this application 

against the Council’s Development Plan policies contained in the London Borough 
of Tower Hamlets adopted Core Strategy (2010) and Managing Development 
Document (2013) as well as the London Plan (MALP) 2016 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework and relevant supplementary planning documents. 

 
2.2. The proposed redevelopment of this site for a residential-led mix use development 

is considered appropriate in this location as it falls within the Tower Hamlets 
Activity Area and allocation in the Isle of Dogs Opportunity Area.   

Page 69

Agenda Item 5.1



 
2.3. to optimise the use of the land and as such, to be in accordance with the 

aspirations of the development plan policies. 
 

2.4. The proposed tall building would be of an appropriate scale, form and composition 
for the surrounding context and townscape. They would be of high quality design, 
provide a positive contribution to the skyline and not adversely impact on strategic 
or local views.  
 

2.5. The density of the scheme would not result in significantly adverse impacts 
typically associated with overdevelopment and there would be no unduly 
detrimental impacts upon the amenities of the neighbouring occupants in terms of 
loss of light, overshadowing, loss of privacy or increased sense of enclosure. The 
high quality accommodation provided, along with and external amenity spaces 
would create an acceptable living environment for the future occupiers of the site.  
 

2.6. The development would provide a suitable mix of housing types and tenure 
including an acceptable provision of affordable housing. Taking into account the 
viability constraints of the site the development is maximising the affordable 
housing potential of the scheme.   

 
2.7. Transport matters, including parking, access and servicing are acceptable and it is 

not considered that there would be any significant detrimental impact upon the 
surrounding highways network as a result of this development. 
 

2.8. A strategy for minimising carbon dioxide emissions from the development has been 
proposed and a cash in lieu contribution has been agreed.  Landscaping and 
biodiversity features are also proposed which seek to ensure the development is 
environmentally sustainable. 
 

2.9. The scheme would be liable to both the Mayor’s and the borough’s community 
infrastructure levy.  In addition, it would provide a necessary and reasonable 
planning obligation to local employment and training. 

 
3. RECOMMENDATION 

 
3.1. That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to: 

 
A. Any direction by The London Mayor.  
 
B. The prior completion of a Section 106 legal agreement  to secure the following 
planning obligations: 

 
Financial Obligations: 
  

a) A contribution of £94,648 towards employment, skills, training and enterprise 
during the construction stage; 

b) A contribution of £3,253.80 towards employment skills and training to access 
employment in the commercial uses within the final development (end use phase);  

c) A contribution of £39,996 towards carbon off-set initiatives 
d) A contribution of £100,000 towards local bus services 
e) A contribution of £8,500 (£500 per head of term) towards monitoring compliance 

with the legal agreement. 
 

Total Contribution financial contributions £246,397.80 

Page 70



 
Non-financial contributions 

 
a) Delivery of 36% Affordable Housing comprising of 24 intermediate units, and 36 

affordable rented units 
b) Management Plan to safeguard access to play spaces  
c) Management Plan regarding access/alternative strategy to basement wheelchair 

accessible parking bays 
d) Viability review mechanism; 
e) 22 wheelchair accessible bays and maintaining as wheelchair accessible bays 
f) On street parking permit free for future residents; 
g) 14 construction phase apprenticeships  
h) Access to employment and construction  - 20% local goods/service procurement 

and 20% local jobs at construction phase; 
i) Secure Public access route and areas of public realm including maintenance of 

these areas 
j) Crossrail clause 
k) Cycle parking management plan 
l) Travel Plan  
m) Implementation and monitoring of the carbon emission reductions (Energy 

Strategy); 
 
3.2. That the Corporate Director Development & Renewal is delegated power to 

negotiate the legal agreement indicated above acting within normal delegated 
authority. 
 

3.3. That the Corporate Director Development & Renewal is delegated authority to 
recommend the following conditions and informatives in relation to the following 
matters: 

 
Prior to Commencement’ Conditions:  
 

1. Construction Environmental Management plan; 
2. Site wide drainage scheme and surface water measures (including green roof) in 

consultation with Thames Water; 
3. Water Supply infrastructure in consultation with Thames Water 
4. Ground contamination remediation and mitigation 
5. Biodiversity mitigation and enhancements including 220sqm biodiverse roof details; 
6. Energy strategy achieving 37% carbon reduction and connection to Barkantine 
7. Piling Method Statement 
8. Providing six weeks’ notice of the commencement date prior to the commencement 

of works (as requested by DLR) 
9. Providing adequate safety measures to ensure debris/equipment cannot fall or be 

blown on to the railway during demolition and construction (as requested by DLR) 
10. Crane /lifting management plan (as requested by DLR) 
11. Plans for proposed scaffolding in close proximity of the railway (as requested by 

DLR) 
12. A radio impact survey (as requested by DLR) 
13. Phasing plan 

 
Prior to completion of superstructure works conditions: 

 
14. Details of all external plant and machinery including air quality neutral measures;  

Page 71



15. Details of all external facing materials including balcony details and screening 
details (both samples and design specification). Details of screening at 14th floor 
level to connecting unit 

16. Details of public realm enhancements, landscaping and boundary treatment;  
17. Child play space strategy including access arrangements, management and 

equipment 
18. Details of all external CCTV and lighting;  
19. Details of extraction and ventilation for Class A3 uses 
20. Waste Management Plan 
21. Scheme of highway works surrounding the site (Section 278 agreement) 
22. Secure by Design Accreditation  
23. Details of electric vehicle charging points 

 
Prior to Occupation’ Conditions:  
 

24. Details of all commercial unit shop fronts and entrances to ground floor public 
spaces; 

25. Surface water management system  
26. Full Delivery and servicing plan; 
27. Details of cycle parking, access to cycle stores, design and associated facilities; 
28. Wheelchair accessible residential units (22 units) – 11 affordable units, 11 private 

units 
29. Delivery of BREEAM Excellent for commercial element of the scheme 
30. Car Park Management Plan  
31. Overheating analysis  
32. Detailed design of the wind mitigation measures for the non-recessed balconies to 

ensure that wind conditions are acceptable for their intended use. 
 
Compliance’ Conditions – 
 

33. Permission valid for 3yrs; 
34. Development in accordance with approved plans; 
35. Hours of construction 
36. Hours of operation of commercial units  
37. Maximum height of 142.940m AOD (northern tower) and 61.090m AOD (southern 

tower) 
38. Refuse stores to be provided prior to occupation 
39. Internal Noise Standards  
40. External lights and any lights during construction must not shine on to DLR’s 

railway tracks (as requested by DLR) 
41. During construction and operation, communications should not interfere with radio 

signals for the operation of the railway (as requested by DLR) 
42. Sustainability code 4 equivalent 

 
Informatives 

 
1. Subject to s278 agreement 
2. Subject to s106 agreement 
3. CIL liable 
4. Thames Water informatives 
5. DLR and noise mitigation responsibility 
 

4. PROPOSAL, LOCATION DETAILS and DESIGNATIONS 
 

Proposal 

Page 72



 
4.1. The applicant is seeking planning permission for the comprehensive development 

of the site to provide two predominantly residential led mixed-use buildings. The 
northern tower fronting Marsh Wall will be 41 storeys high (142.940m AOD 
including lift motor room) and the southern tower will be 16 storeys high (61.090m 
AOD including lift motor room) fronting Byng Street above ground floor level. The 
two towers will be linked at the 14th storey level in the central part of the site. 
 

4.2. The development comprises of the following uses: 
 

• 216 residential units (class C3) 
• 174sqm (GIA) A1-A3 or B1 units 

 
4.3. In relation to the 216 residential units, 36% of these would be affordable housing by 

habitable room.  In dwelling numbers this will comprise 156 private units, 36 
affordable rented units and 24 intermediate units. This provision is set out below, 
as well as the mix by tenure. 

 
   Number and Percentage of units and habitable rooms by tenure 
 

 Number 
of units 

% Habitabl
e 
Rooms 

% 

Open Market 156 72% 370 64% 
Affordable rent 36 17% 150 26% 
Intermediate 24 11% 62 10% 
TOTAL 216 100% 582 100% 

 
  Dwelling numbers and mix by tenure 
 

 Studio 1 bed 2 bed  3 bed 4 bed 
Open Market 23 62 61 10 0 
Affordable rent 0 8 8 10 10 
Intermediate 0 10 14 0 0 
TOTAL 23 80 83 20 10 
Total as %  11% 37% 38% 9% 5% 

 
4.4. The residential units are located across both towers and the linked element. The 

southern tower will accommodate all of the affordable housing units and the 
northern tower (plus linked element) will accommodate the private units. The 
residential units will be located at level three in the northern tower and from level 
two in the southern tower. Access to the northern and southern tower is provided 
from the north-south route to the east of the site adjoining the public route.  
 

4.5. A large area of public realm is proposed to the north east of the site (measuring 
approximately 220m2) and a north south public route is proposed connecting 
Marsh Wall and Byng Street. 
 

4.6. At ground floor level, two small commercial units will be provided to the north of the 
site fronting Marsh Wall. These will fall in the A1-A3 or B1 land use category. The 
retail units are both proposed with café spill out areas to provide additional 
activation to Marsh Wall and continue the street frontage with the Alpha Square 
scheme (which has a resolution to grant). 

Page 73



 
4.7. In terms of the child play space dedicated to the residents of the development, a 

total of 867m2 is proposed located at ground floor, 1st floor, 2nd floor and roof top 
levels. This includes a large area of external playspace (measuring 245m2) located 
at ground floor level located adjacent to 50 Marsh Wall.  
 

4.8. The proposal would also contain 2 basement levels containing wheelchair 
accessible parking, cycle parking, refuse provisions and plant. Access to the 
basement levels for vehicles is provided from Byng Street to the south of the site. 

 
Site and Surroundings 
 

4.9. The application site consists of an irregular inverted ‘Z’ shaped parcel of land which 
fronts Marsh Wall on its northern elevation and Byng Street on its southern 
elevation. The site has a site area of approximately 0.2 hectares inclusive of the 
public highway.  
 

4.10. The following plan shows the extent of the application site outlined in red. 
 

 
4.11. The existing uses across the application site is a three storey building comprising a 

banking hall (Class A2) at ground floor level with commercial office space (Class 
B1) above and ancillary parking area to the rear. The car parking area is accessed 
from Byng Street. 
 

4.12. The site is bounded to the west by no 50 Marsh Wall which is currently occupied by 
a two storey Victorian Building which has been converted to offices occupied by the 
BUPA Wellness Centre.  
 

Page 74



4.13. The following is an aerial view from the north, looking south at the application site. 
 

 
 

4.14. 50 Marsh Wall forms part of the Alpha Square development which has a resolution 
to grant planning permission by the GLA (with planning reference PA/15/02671). 
The proposal includes three towers of 20, 34 and 65 storeys in height. The 65 
storey tower (217.5m AOD) and the 20 storey tower (79.63m AOD) will sit adjacent 
to the application site with the tallest tower fronting Marsh Wall. The larger northern 
tower will contain the residential units and the southern smaller tower will contain 
the hotel. The Alpha Square development straddles across Manilla Street to the 
west with the 34 storey tower located to the west of Manilla Street. 
 

4.15. Directly to the north of the application site lies the elevated DLR line. The 
Arrowhead Quay (Wardian development) which consists of two 50 and 55 storey 
towers which are currently under construction lies to the west of this. 
 

4.16. The site to the northwest is 40 Marsh Wall which has consent for a 39 storey hotel 
building. The hotel is built and at the time of writing this report is due to be 
operational imminently. Further to the west of the site lies the Landmark Towers 
ranging from 30-44 storeys. 
 

4.17. To the east of the site lies 56-58 Marsh Wall which is occupied by an office unit 
similar to that at no. 54 Marsh Wall. Beyond these offices lies Mastmaker Road.  
 

4.18. To the south of the application site on the southern side of Byng Street lies the 
Phoenix Heights development at the former no 4 Mastmaker Road. Phoenix 
Heights ranges from four storeys directly to the south of the application site and 
includes two taller buildings at 20 and 23 storeys to the south east of the 
application site. Further to the west of Byng Street the properties reduce to two 

Page 75



stories in height which gives a domestic character to the surrounding street and 
provide a sense of openness from the taller buildings along Marsh Wall. 
 

4.19. The site does not fall within a conservation area. However, the land is located 
within a flood risk zone.  
 
Designations 
 

4.20. The site is within the London Plan’s Isle of Dogs Opportunity Area which 
recognises it as a strategically significant part of London’s world city offer for 
financial, media and business services. The designation identifies that by 2031 the 
area could accommodate an additional 110,000 jobs as well as a minimum of 
10,000 new homes.  

 
4.21. The site is identified as an Area of Regeneration in the London Plan and forms part 

of the Isle of Dogs Activity Area. The site is also located in the South Quay 
Masterplan area. 
 

4.22. The site is located within Site Allocation 17 (Millennium Quarter) as per the 
Council’s Local plan. The allocation envisages comprehensive mixed-use 
redevelopment to provide a strategic housing contribution and a district heating 
facility where possible. The Allocation states that developments will include 
commercial floorspace, open space and other compatible uses and advises that 
development should recognise the latest guidance for Millennium Quarter.  
 

4.23. The site is within an Environment Agency designated Flood Zone 3 - land 
assessed as having a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability of river flooding (>1%), 
or a 1 in 200 or greater annual probability of flooding from the sea (>0.5%) in any 
year, ignoring the presence of defences. 
 

4.24. The site, as with the whole Borough, is within Air Quality Management Area and 
the London City Airport Safeguarding Zone. 
 

4.25. The site is within the London Plan Views Management Framework (LVMF), of 
particular relevance is the view from the General Wolfe Statue in Greenwich Park 
and the wider Maritime Greenwich World Heritage Site. 
 

4.26. The site is within the Crossrail Safeguarding Area as well as Crossrail SPG 
Charging Zone. 
 
Relevant Planning History on the application site  

 
Application Site 
 
54-58 Marsh Wall  
 

4.27. PF/12/00002 (pre-application) - Demolition of existing commercial buildings and 
comprehensive redevelopment of site. The design proposals currently provide for 
two residential towers of 40 and 30 storeys on the site at No. 54 Marsh Wall 
potentially incorporating 170-180 residential units and 110-120 residential units 
respectively (280-300 units in total).  When combined with the adjoining site at No. 
56-58 Marsh Wall the design proposal outlines the potential for a central block on 
the site ranging from 10-12 storeys and a further 20 storey residential building at 
the corner of Marsh Wall and Mastmaker Road. 

 

Page 76



54 Marsh Wall  
 
4.28. PF/13/00166 (pre-application) - Demolition of existing commercial buildings and 

comprehensive redevelopment of site to provide a high density residential - led 
mixed use development consisting of two linked residential towers of 43 and 33 
storeys comprising 271 residential units, 440sq.m of retail / commercial floor space, 
a 181sq.m business suite, internal communal and children's play space and 
associated plant, cycle storage and refuse areas at ground level with 18 car 
parking space within a single level basement. 
 

4.29. PA/14/02418 - Demolition of the existing building and the construction of a new 
residential-led mixed use development consisting of two linked buildings of 29 and 
39 storeys (with two additional basement levels) comprising 240 residential units 
(including on-site affordable housing), a new café (Use Class A3) and community 
facility (Use Class D1) at the ground level, basement car parking and servicing, 
landscaped open space and a new public pedestrian route linking Marsh Wall and 
Byng Street. This application was withdrawn on 03/07/2015. 

 
4.30. An image of the withdrawn scheme is located below. 

 
 

4.31. The following is a basic outline of the main change from the withdrawn on the left to 
the current proposal.  The main change being a reduction in height from the 
southern tower and a slight increase in height of the northern tower. 

Page 77



 
 

4.32.  PF/15/00221 (pre-application) - Demolition of existing building and construction of 
two new linked buildings of 41 and 16 storeys (with basement) comprising 218 
residential units (including 60 affordable units), a new cafe(A3), community facility 
(D1), car parking and open space including new pedestrian route linking Marsh 
Wall and Byng Street. 
 
Built/near Completion  

 
4.33. “Pan Peninsula” has two buildings on 48 and 39 stories and contains 820 

residential units along with retail, business and leisure uses.  
 

4.34. “Landmark” has one building of 44 storeys, one building of 30 storeys 
and  two  buildings  of  eight  storeys  and  contains  802  dwellings  along with 
retail, business and community uses.  
 

4.35. “40 Marsh Wall” PA/10/1049 granted 15th November 2010 for the demolition of the 
existing office building and erection of a 38 storey building (equivalent of 39 storeys 
on Manilla Street) with a three-level basement,  comprising  a  305 bedroom hotel 
(Use  Class  C1) with associated ancillary hotel  facilities including 
restaurants  (Use  Class A3), leisure facilities (Use  Class D2) and conference 
facilities  (Use Class  D1); serviced offices (Use Class B1); public open space, 
together with the formation of a coach and taxi drop-off point on Marsh Wall. 
 

4.36. “Indescon Court” PA/13/01309 Planning permission granted on 23/12/2013 
(originally granted 13/06/2008) for the demolition of the existing buildings on site 
and construction of a mixed use development comprising of two buildings. The 
main building ranges from 12 to 32 storeys with a maximum height of 95 metres 
(99.5 AOD) and a 10 storey 'Rotunda' building being a maximum height of 31.85 
metres (36.15 AOD). Use of the new buildings for 546 residential units (Use 
ClassC3) (87 x Studios, 173 x 1 bedrooms, 125 x 2 bedrooms, 147 x 3 bedrooms, 

Page 78



14 x 4 bedrooms), 5,390sqm for hotel (Use Class C1) and /or Serviced Apartments 
(Sui Generis), 1,557sqm of Leisure floorspace (Use Class D2) and 1,654sqm 
commercial floorspace (Use Classes A1/A2/A3 and/or A4). Plus a new vehicle 
access, 150 car parking spaces in one basement level, public and private open 
space and associated landscaping and public realm works at ground floor 
level."  Amendments proposed include: Minor elevational changes; Incorporation of 
retail unit (use class A1-A4) into ground floor of hotel;  
 

4.37. “Baltimore Wharf” PA/06/02068, planning permission was granted by the Council 
for the "Redevelopment by the erection of 8 buildings 7 to 43 storeys to provide 
149,381 sqm of floor space over a podium for use as 1057 residential units, 25,838 
sqm of Class B1 (offices), a 149 room hotel; a 10,238 sqm. apart-hotel; a Class 
D1/D2 community facility of 1,329 sqm m,  2,892 sqm m for use within Classes A1, 
A2,  A3, A4 and A5, a Class D2 health club of 1,080 sqm m, associated car 
parking, landscaping including new public open spaces and a dockside walkway 
(Revised scheme following grant of planning permission PA/04/904 dated 10th 
March 2006)".  

 
Consented / Implemented but not fully built out 
 

4.38. “Riverside South” PA/07/00935 granted 22nd February 2008 for the erection of 
Class B1 office buildings (330,963 sqm) comprising two towers with a maximum of 
45 storeys (max  241.1m  and 191.34m  AOD) with a lower central link 
building  (89.25m  AOD) and Class  A1,  A2,  A3,  A4  and  A5  uses  at 
promenade  level up to a maximum  of  2,367  sqm  together  with ancillary 
parking  and servicing, provision of access roads, riverside walkway, public open 
space, landscaping, including public art and other ancillary works (total floor space 
333,330 sqm). 
 

4.39. “City Pride” PA/12/03248 granted 10th October 2013 for the erection of  residential-
led mixed use 75 storey tower (239mAOD) comprising 822  residential units and 
162 serviced apartments (Class  C1), and associated  amenity floors, roof terrace, 
basement car parking, cycle storage and  plant, together with an amenity pavilion 
including  retail (Class A1-A4) and open space.  
 

4.40. “Newfoundland” PA/13/01455 granted 10th June 2014 for erection of a 58 storey 
and linked 2 storey building with 3 basement levels to comprise of 568 residential 
units, 7 ancillary guest units (use class C3), flexible  retail use (use  class  A1-A4), 
car and cycle parking, pedestrian bridge,  alterations to  deck,  landscaping, 
alterations to highways and other works incidental to the proposal.  
 

4.41. “Arrowhead Quay” PA/12/03315 planning permission granted on 19th February 
2015 for the erection of two buildings of 55 and 50 storeys to provide 792 
residential units (Use Class C3) and ancillary uses, plus 701 sqm of ground floor 
retail uses (Use Classes A1 -A4), provision of ancillary 
amenity space, landscaping, public dockside walkway and pedestrian route, 
basement parking, servicing and a new vehicular access. 
 

4.42. “1-3 South Quay Plaza” PA/14/00944. Planning permission granted on 30th March 
2015 for the demolition of all existing buildings and structures on the site (except 
for the building known as South  Quay  Plaza  3)  and erection of two residential led 
mixed use buildings of up to 73 storeys and up to 36 storeys comprising up to 947 
residential (Class  C3) units in total and retail (Class A1-A4) space together 
with  basement, ancillary residential facilities, access, servicing, car  parking, cycle 
storage, plant, open space and landscaping, plus alterations to the retained office 

Page 79



building (South Quay Plaza 3) to provide retail (Class A1-A4) space at ground floor 
level, an altered ramp to basement level and a building of up to 6 storeys to the 
north of South Quay Plaza 3 to provide retail (Class A1-A4) space and office (Class 
B1) space.  
 

4.43. “Meridian Gate” PA/14/01428. Planning permission granted on 6th March 2015 for 
the demolition of all existing structures and the redevelopment of the site to provide 
a building of ground floor plus 53 storeys comprising of 423 residential apartments 
(use class C3) and circa 415sqm office (use class B1), 30 basement car parking 
spaces; the ground floor uses comprises an electricity sub-station, entrances for 
the office, affordable and private housing,  basement access via car lift and cycle 
lifts, and circa 43sqm retail/cafe (use class A1/A3); public open space; and a single 
storey enclosure providing a secondary basement access. 
 

4.44. Land at 2 Millharbour PA/14/01246. Planning permission granted on 4th 
September 2015 for the erection of seven mixed-use buildings—A, B1, B2, B3, C, 
D and E (a ‘link’ building situated between block B1 and D)—ranging in height from 
8 to 42 storeys. New buildings to comprise: 901 residential units (Class C3); 1,104 
sqm (GIA) of ground-floor mixed-use (Use Class B1/ A1/ A2/ A3/ A4/ D1); a 1,049 
sqm (GEA) ‘leisure box’ (Use Class D2); plant and storage accommodation, 
including a single basement to provide vehicle and cycle parking, servicing and 
plant areas; new vehicle and pedestrian accesses and new public amenity spaces 
and landscaping. 
 

4.45. “Hertsmere house’’ PA/15/02675. Planning permission granted on 24th March 
2016 for the demolition of remaining buildings and structures and erection of a 67 
storey building with two basement levels, comprising 861 residential units (Use 
Class C3), 949sqm (GIA) flexible commercial floorspace (Use Class A1-A3 and 
D2), ancillary circulation space and plant, as well as associated infrastructure, 
public realm and parking. 
 

4.46. “Westferry Printworks” (235 Westferry Road) PA/15/02216. Planning permission 
granted by the GLA on 4th August 2016 for the demolition of existing buildings and 
structures at the former Westferry Printworks site and the  comprehensive mixed 
use redevelopment including buildings ranging from 4- 30 storeys in height (tallest 
being 110m AOD) comprising: a secondary school (Class D1), 722 residential units 
(Class C3), retail use (Class A1), flexible restaurant and cafe and drinking 
establishment uses (Class A3/A4), flexible office and financial and professional 
services uses (Class B1/A2), Community uses (Class D1), car and cycle basement 
parking, associated landscaping, new public realm and all other necessary 
enabling work (Amended description of development).  

 
4.47. Land at 3 Millharbour and Land at 6,7 and 8 South Quay Square PA/14/03195. 

Planning permission granted on 30th September 2016 for the demolition and 
redevelopment of sites at 3 Millharbour and 6, 7, and 8 South Quay with four 
buildings: Building G1, a podium with two towers of 10 - 38 storeys and of 12 - 44 
storeys; Building G2, a four floor podium with two towers of 34 and 38 storeys 
inclusive of podium; Building G3, a tower rising to 44 storeys; and Building G4, a 
four floor podium with a tower of 31 storeys inclusive of podium. The development 
provides 1,500 new homes in a mix of units and tenures (private, social-rented and 
intermediate); a new primary school with nursery facilities; further education uses 
(total D1 floorspace 13,525 sqm with a fall back that 4,349 sqm of this floorspace 
could also be used in full or part as D1 or D2 leisure floorspace, if necessary);  
5,820 sqm of flexible commercial floorspace (B1/D1/D2/A1/A2/A3 and/or A4);  two 
new public parks including play facilities, a new north-south pedestrian link and 

Page 80



landscaping including works to conjoin the plots into the existing surrounding urban 
fabric;  car parking spaces (for residential occupiers, blue badge holders and for a 
car club); cycle parking; management offices; service road and associated highway 
works; and other associated infrastructure including the diversion of the Marsh Wall 
sewer. 
 
Under consideration   
 
 

4.48. “Cuba Street” PA/15/02528. Redevelopment to provide a residential-led mixed use 
development comprising two buildings of up to 41 storeys (136m AOD) and 26 
storeys (87m AOD) respectively to provision up to 448 residential units, 38 m2 
flexible retail/ community uses and ancillary spaces together with public open 
space and public realm improvements. 

 
4.49. “225 Marsh Wall”  PA/16/02808.  Full planning application for the demolition of all 

existing structures and the redevelopment of the site to provide a building of 
ground plus 48 storey (maximum AOD height 163.08m) comprising 336 residential 
units (Use Class C3); 810 square metres of community floorspace (use class D1); 
79 square metres of flexible retail/restaurant/community (Use Class A1/A3/D1), 
basement cycle parking; resident amenities; public realm improvements; and other 
associated works. 

 
Resolution to Grant (subject to completion of a s106 legal agreement) 
 

4.50. “South Quay Plaza 4” PA/15/03073. Erection of a 56 storey building comprising of 
396 Residential (Class C3) Units, Community Use (Class D1) together with 
basement, ancillary residential facilities, access servicing, car parking, cycle 
storage, plant, open space and landscaping and other associated works. 
(Amended Description). Recommended for approval at Strategic Development 
Committee on 28th July 2016. 
 

4.51. “Alpha Square”, 50 Marsh Wall, 63-69 And 68-70 Manilla Street PA/15/02671. 
Application for demolition of all buildings on site at 50 Marsh Wall, 63-69 and 68-70 
Manilla Street to enable redevelopment to provide three buildings of 65 (217.5m 
AOD), 20 (79.63m AOD) and 34 (124.15m AOD) storeys above ground comprising 
634 residential units (Class C3), 231 hotel rooms (Class C1), provision of ancillary 
amenity space, a new health centre (Class D1), a new school (Class D1), ground 
floor retail uses (Class A3), provision of a new landscaped piazza, public open 
space and vehicular access, car parking, cycle storage and plant. Retention of 74 
Manilla Street as North Pole public house (Class A4). Resolution to grant by the 
GLA on 27th April 2016. 
 

5.      POLICY FRAMEWORK  
 

5.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that 
the determination of these applications must be made in accordance with the plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   
 

5.2. The  list  below  is  not  an  exhaustive  list  of  policies,  it  contains  some  of  the  
most  relevant  policies to the application: 
 

5.3. Government Planning Policy Guidance/Statements  
 National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) (NPPF) 
 National Planning Guidance Framework (March 2014) (NPPG) 

Page 81



 
5.4. Spatial Development Strategy for Greater London - L ondon Plan 2016 (MALP) 

 
Policies 
2.1 London 
2.9 Inner London  
2.10 Central Area Zone 
2.13 Opportunity Areas 
2.14 Areas for Regeneration 
2.15  Town centres 
3.1  Ensuring equal life chances for all 
3.2 Improving health and addressing health inequalities 
3.3 Increasing Housing Supply 
3.4 Optimising Housing potential 
3.5 Quality and Design of housing developments 
3.6 Children and young people’s play and informal recreation facilities 
3.7 Large Residential Developments 
3.8 Housing Choice 
3.9 Mixed and balanced communities 
3.10 Definition of affordable housing 
3.11 Affordable housing targets 
3.12 Negotiating affordable housing on individual and mixed use schemes 
3.13 Affordable housing thresholds 
3.16 Protection and enhancement of social infrastructure 
4.1 Developing London’s economy 
4.2 Offices 
4.7 Retail and town centre development 
4.8 Supporting a successful and diverse retail sector 
5.1 Climate change mitigation 
5.2  Minimising carbon dioxide emissions 
5.3 Sustainable design and construction 
5.5 Decentralised energy networks 
5.6 Decentralised energy in development proposals 
5.7 Renewable energy 
5.8 Innovative energy technologies 
5.9 Overheating and cooling 
5.10 Urban greening 
5.11 Green roofs and development site environs 
5.12 Flood risk management 
5.13 Sustainable Drainage 
5.14 Water quality and wastewater infrastructure 
5.15 Water use and supplies 
5.18 Construction, excavation and demolition waste 
5.21 Contaminated land 
6.1 Strategic approach to transport 
6.3 Assessing effects of development on transport capacity 
6.4 Enhancing London’s transport connectivity 
6.5 Funding Crossrail and other strategically important transport infrastructure 
6.9 Cycling 
6.10 Walking 
6.11 Smoothing traffic flow and tackling congestion 
6.12 Road network capacity 
6.13 Parking 
7.1 Building London’s neighbourhoods and communities 
7.2 An inclusive environment 

Page 82



7.3 Designing out crime 
7.4 Local character 
7.5 Public realm 
7.6 Architecture 
7.7 Location and design of tall and large buildings 
7.8 Heritage assets and archaeology 
7.10 World heritage sites 
7.11 London view management framework 
7.12 Implementing the London view management framework 
7.13 Safety, security and resilience to emergency 
7.14 Improving air quality 
7.15 Reducing noise and enhancing soundscapes 
7.18 Protecting local open space and addressing local deficiency 
7.19 Biodiversity and access to nature 
7.21 Trees and woodland 
7.26 Blue Ribbon network and freight 
8.2 Planning obligations 
8.3 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 

5.5. Tower Hamlets Core Strategy (adopted September 2010 ) (CS) 
SP01 Refocusing on our town centres 
SP02 Urban living for everyone 
SP03 Creating healthy and liveable neighbourhoods 
SP04 Creating a Green and Blue Grid 
SP05 Dealing with waste 
SP06 Delivering successful employment hubs 
SP08 Making connected Places 
SP09 Creating Attractive and Safe Streets and Spaces 
SP10 Creating Distinct and Durable Places 
SP11 Working towards a Zero Carbon Borough 
SP12 Delivering placemaking 
SP13 Planning Obligations 
 

5.6. Managing Development Document (adopted April 2013) (MDD)  
DM0 Delivering Sustainable Development 
DM1 Development within the town centre hierarchy 
DM3    Delivery Homes 
DM4    Housing standards and amenity space 
DM9 Improving air quality 
DM10 Delivering open space 
DM11 Living buildings and biodiversity 
DM13  Sustainable drainage 
DM14 Managing Waste 
DM15 Local job creation and investment 
DM20 Supporting a Sustainable transport network 
DM21 Sustainable transportation of freight 
DM22 Parking 
DM23 Streets and the public realm 
DM24 Place sensitive design 
DM25 Amenity 
DM26 Building heights 
DM27 Heritage and the historic environments 
DM28 World heritage sites 
DM29 Achieving a zero-carbon borough and addressing climate change 
DM30 Contaminated Land 

Page 83



 
5.7. Supplementary Planning Documents include 

South Quay Masterplan SPD (October 2015) 
Central Activities Zone SPG (March 2016) 
Planning Obligations SPD (September 2016) 
CIL Charging Schedule (April 2015) 
Sustainable Design and Construction SPG (April 2014) 
Shaping Neighbourhoods: Character and Context (June 2014) 
Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (March 2016) 
Use of planning obligations in the funding of Crossrail, and the Mayoral Community 
Infrastructure Levy (March 2016) 
Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation (September 2012) 
London View Management Framework SPG (March 2012) 
London World Heritage Sites - Guidance on Settings SPG (March 2012) 
SPG: Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (October 2007) 
SPG: Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (April 2004) 
Affordable Housing and Viability Supplementary Planning Guidance (Draft 2016) 

 
5.8. Tower Hamlets Community Plan 
 The following Community Plan objectives relate to the application: 

A Great Place to Live 
A Prosperous Community 
A Safe and Supportive Community 
A Healthy Community 

 
5.9. Other Material Considerations 

EH Guidance on Tall Buildings 
Seeing History in the View 
Conservation Principles and Practice 

 
6.      CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

 
6.1. The views of the Directorate of Development & Renewal are expressed in the 

MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS section below. 
 

6.2. The following were consulted regarding the application: 
 
Internal Responses 
 
LBTH Environmental Health - Contaminated Land 
 

6.3. Environmental Health Contaminated Land has reviewed the submitted information 
and considers there is a possibility for contaminated land to exist.  A condition is 
recommended to ensure any contaminated land is appropriately dealt with. The 
suggested condition would be secured should planning permission be granted. 

 
LBTH Environmental Health - Air Quality 

 
6.4. The Air quality officer is satisfied with the information provided.  

 
6.5. The air quality assessment shows that the development will have a negligible 

impact on the local air quality and that the development meets the air quality 
neutral requirements.  
 

Page 84



6.6. The assessment also shows that in the opening year some units will be subject to 
existing elevated pollution levels exceeding the NO2 air quality objective, mitigation 
will be required for the units shown to be exceeding or nearing the annual NO2 
objective.  
 

6.7. Further information has been submitted by the applicant which seems reasonable 
as the residential units in the highest polluted location would not start until the 3rd 
floor where the pollution levels are lower and should be at an acceptable level. 
 

6.8. The construction assessment is accepted, relevant dust and emissions mitigation 
must be included in a Construction Environmental Management Plan, along with a 
program for dust monitoring. All on site non road mobile machinery must comply 
with the GLA’s emission limits for Non Road Mobile Machinery. 

 
LBTH Environmental Health – Noise and Vibration 

 
6.9. No comments received; however, this is discussed further in the ‘noise’ section of 

the report. 
 
LBTH Refuse 

 
6.10. No comments received; however, this is discussed further in the ‘waste’ section of 

the report. 
 

LBTH Highways 
 

6.11. There are some further details to be provided but in principle there are no 
objections to the application. 
 

6.12. Highways have advised in terms of car parking, 22 car parking spaces are 
proposed over two basement levels accessed by a single car lift from Byng Street. 
All these spaces are for the sole use of registered blue badge holders of this 
development and this is welcomed. This should be secured by condition. The 
spaces should be made available to all tenures. A tracking diagram is required to 
show that vehicles can enter / exit the car park in forward gear from all parking 
spaces. The applicant proposes a management regime to ensure that vehicles do 
not wait on Byng Street to enter the car park and this is acceptable. A car Parking 
Management Plan will be required by condition outlining this and to provide details 
of maintenance of the lift to ensure that the sole lift is in operation continuously.  
 

6.13. The applicant will be required to enter into a Permit Free agreement which restricts 
all future residents from applying for parking permits in the surrounding controlled 
parking zone on the public highway.  
 

6.14. The applicant proposes to provide cycle parking to the minimum FALP standards  
 

6.15. The cycle storage facilities and associated changing / showering facilities should 
be conditioned.  
 

6.16. It is proposed that refuse is collected from a shared surface area in the proposed 
public realm. This is acceptable as it removes the need for refuse vehicles to wait 
for 90 mins plus on the public highway, which could cause obstruction / congestion. 
Servicing of the commercial units will also take place from this area. General 
servicing, such as home deliveries will take place within the legal framework on the 
existing yellow lines on Byng Street. A draft service management plan has been 

Page 85



submitted and this is accepted but a full detailed plan will be required as a 
condition. Vehicles will be required to reverse to access this area which is not 
something we would encourage. However, it is accepted that this is a constrained 
site and that the applicant has worked with us to try and find a solution. A Stage 1 
safety audit has also been carried out to assess the access arrangements.  
 

6.17. The site will be opened up in comparison to the existing site with through 
pedestrian access provided from Byng Street to Marsh wall. This is welcomed. A 
raised table in Byng Street is proposed to further improve pedestrian access from 
the south and this will be subject to detailed design via the s278 process. All costs 
for this and necessary changes to utilities etc will be met by the applicant. The 
proposed changes to Byng Street with regards access arrangements to the car 
park and service area, as well as improvements to the public highway adjacent to 
the site will also form part of the S278 agreement.  
 

6.18. The trip generation methodology used is acceptable. TfL has raised the issue of 
capacity on Marsh Wall bus routes and mitigation is expected to cover this. The 
applicant needs to consider the demolition and construction phases of this 
development at an early opportunity and to consider the other developments along 
Marsh Wall in order to consider the cumulative impacts. A robust plan will be 
required as a condition to any planning permission granted and needs to be 
supplied in good time to allow assessment and approval before any works begin. A 
draft Travel Plan has been submitted and a full one needs to be provided prior to 
occupation.  
 
Conservation and Design Advisory Panel (CADAP)  
 

6.19. The application was presented to CADAP on 12th September 2016. The Panel 
made a number of comments and expressed reservation on a number of issues as 
listed below. 

– Questioned concept of applying the architectural language of office buildings 
to the residential development.  
- The principle of five tiers of the building reflecting the internal flat typologies 
was considered a sound approach, this needed to be articulated on elevations.  
- Considered the appearance of the building’s base fragmented and confused.  
- Found the design of vertical mullions incongruous, particularly in the areas 
with recessed balconies, ground and top of the building.  
- It was suggested that the palette of different metallic finishes should be 
simplified – as the number of different colour combinations risks appearing 
overly busy and garish, particularly for a residential context.  
-The Panel recommended reduction in height of the link to improve perception 
of bulk and address problems with quality of accommodation.  
-The Panel agreed that some enclosure and good overlooking might be actually 
suitable for the play space for small children.  

 
Occupational Therapist (OT) 
 

6.20. Plans at 1:50 scale have been reviewed by the OT officer. There are 11 wheelchair 
accessible units from 5th -15th floor in the affordable block which have been 
assessed, and further clarification was sought from OT which has since been 
provided 
 
Ideas Store 
 

6.21. No comments received 

Page 86



 
LBTH Communities, Localities and Culture (CLC) 
 

6.22. No comments received 
 
Infrastructure Planning 
 

6.23. No comments received 
 
Public Health 
 

6.24. No comments received 
 
Education development team 
 

6.25. No comments received 
 
LBTH Arboricultural Officer 
 

6.26. The Arboricultural officer has suggested a range of conditions which would be 
secured if planning permission is granted. These conditions include details of the 
planting scheme (including replacement of lost trees), provision of a method 
statement (prepared by an arboricultural consultant who is registered with the 
Arboricultural Association), tree protection for the duration of the development 
(which must be an arboricutural consultant who is registered with the Arborictural 
Association) and tree protection measures in accordance with the approved plans 
and method statement. 
 
Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) officer 
 

6.27. The SUDS officer advises that the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is acceptable and 
they have no objections to the proposed development.  

 
6.28. .  
 
6.29. The FRA proposes 730m2 green roofs and roof garden in combination with 50m3 

of subsurface attenuation. The exact combination of these measures is yet to be 
determined, however, the proposals in principle comply with London Plan Policy 
5.13 and local policy the details should be secured via an appropriate planning 
condition.  

 
6.30. The applicant subsequently submitted a typical inspection regime for the 

maintenance of the proposed SuDS and it is expected this followed through with as 
this is matter that is regularly overlooked and as a result poorly maintained systems 
lead to increase flooding problems in the future. To ensure compliance with surface 
water drainage requirements this should be appropriately conditioned.  
 
Emergency Planning officer  
 

6.31. No comments received. 
 
 
External responses 

 
Crossrail Limited   

Page 87



 
6.32. Crossrail Limited does not wish to make any comments on this application. 
 

National Air Traffic Services (NATS) 
 

6.33. No objection to the proposal 
 
Natural England 

 
6.34. Based upon the information provided, Natural England advises the Council that the 

proposal is unlikely to affect any statutorily protected sites. The Standing Advice 
should be followed in terms of assessing the impact on protected species. 
 
Canal and Rivers Trust (CaRT) 
 

6.35. The Canal and River Trust has no comment to make on the application 
 
Historic England 

 
6.36. Do not wish to comment on this application. The application should be determined 

in accordance with national and local policy guidance and on the basis of your 
specialist conservation advice. 
 
London City Airport (LCY) 
 

6.37. LCY has no safeguarding objection subject to a condition regarding not erecting 
cranes until construction methodology and details of the use of cranes (in relation 
to location, maximum height and start/finish times) have been submitted to London 
City Airport for approval. 
 
English Heritage Archaeology (EHA) 
 

6.38. EHA have advised that the proposal is unlikely to have a significant effect on 
heritage assets of archaeological interest. No further assessment or conditions are 
considered necessary. 
 
Port of London (PLA) 
 

6.39. The PLA has no objection in principle to the proposed development. 
 
6.40. There is little consideration within the ‘Travel Plan’ regarding the promotion of river 

based transport which would accord with the River Action Plan (February 2013) 
which outlines specific measures to boost the number of river trips.  
 

6.41. Further consideration should be given to the use of the River Bus prior to the 
determination of the planning application. However, if the LPA are minded to grant 
planning permission, information on the measures to encourage the river bus use, 
the provision of targets for river bus use and the timetable for the River Bus stop 
should be provided by condition.  
 

6.42. Additionally, given the location of the development it is disappointing that the ES 
and transport related documentation do not consider the potential role that the river 
can play in the transportation of construction materials to (and waste materials 
from) the application site. It is noted that the application site is not immediately 
adjacent to water; however, the use of river transport could significantly reduce the 

Page 88



number of HGV Movements during the construction phase of the development, 
reducing the carbon footprint of the development. Local and national planning 
policy has an emphasis on developments which are in close proximity to navigable 
waterways to maximise water transport for bulk materials particularly during the 
construction and demolition phase. Further consideration is requested in this 
regard. 
 
Environment Agency (EA)  
 

6.43. The EA have no objections to the proposal. 
 

6.44. EA noted the site is located within Flood Zone 3 and is protected to a very high 
standard by the Thames Tidal flood defences up to a 1 in 1000 (0.1%) chance in 
any year, our flood modelling shows that it is at risk if there was to be a breach in 
the defences or they were to be overtopped.  

 
6.45. This proposal does not have a safe means of access and/ or egress in the event of 

flooding from all new buildings to an area wholly outside the floodplain. The local 
authority should assess the adequacy of the evacuation arrangements. 
 

6.46. To improve flood resilience, we recommend that finished floor levels are set above 
the 2100 breach level which is 3.13mAOD. 

 
London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority 
 

6.47. Pump appliance access and water supplies for the fire service were not specifically 
addressed in the supplied documentation; however, they do appear adequate. In 
other respects this proposal should conform to the requirements of part B5 of 
Approved Document B.  
 
Secure By Design 
 

6.48. No objection to the scheme proceeding as outlined. SBD would recommend that 
the scheme should by means of a condition achieve Secured by Design 
accreditation which would be formally acknowledged upon a final inspection once 
all works are complete.  
 

6.49. The reason for this is to reinforce the committed approach and interest in the long 
term sustainability of both security and crime prevention measures throughout the 
development for the benefits of all future residents. 
 
Docklands Light Railway. 
 

6.50. The proposed development is within close proximity of the Docklands Light Rail 
(DLR).  
 

6.51. DLR have stated that they have some concerns regarding the demolition and 
temporary works proposed and request a range of conditions which will be 
attached to the decision notice. These conditions include: 

• providing six weeks’ notice of the commencement date prior to the 
commencement of works,  

• provision of adequate safety measures to ensure that debris/equipment 
cannot fall or be blown on to the railway during demolition and construction 

• Crane /lifting management plan 

Page 89



• Plans for proposed scaffolding in close proximity of the railway must be 
agreed prior to works 

• A radio impact survey is required prior to commencement of works 
• During construction and operation, communications should not interfere 

with radio signals for the operation of the railway. 
• The external lights and any lights during construction must not shine on to 

DLR’s railway tracks 
 
6.52. DLR also request that an informative is attached to the decision notice regarding 

the noise targets and mitigation from the existing railway being the applicant’s 
responsibility 
 
TFL London Underground 
 

6.53. Response received confirming no comments to make on this application. 
 
 
Thames Water Utilities Ltd. 
 

6.54. Thames Water have advised there are public sewers crossing or close to the 
development. In order to protect public sewers and to ensure that Thames Water 
can gain access to those sewers for future repair and maintenance, approval 
should be sought from Thames Water where the erection of a building or an 
extension to a building or underpinning work would be over the line of, or would 
come within 3 metres of, a public sewer.   
 

6.55. Thames Water has recommended an informative advising of the minimum 
pressure for water that they would be able to supply for future residents. 

 
6.56. Thames Water requests that the Applicant should incorporate within their proposal, 

protection to the property by installing for example, a non-return valve or other 
suitable device to avoid the risk of backflow at a later date, on the assumption that 
the sewerage network may surcharge to ground level during storm conditions.  
 
Conditions recommended securing the following: 
-  Details of any impact piling 
- A site draining strategy 
- Impact study of the existing water supply infrastructure determining magnitude 

of any additional capacity and suitable connection point. 
 

Greater London Authority/ Transport for London  
 

6.57. The Mayor considered the application at Stage 1 on 5th September 2016. 
 

6.58. The site lies within the Isle of Dogs and South Poplar Opportunity Area as identified 
in the London Plan and articulated through policy 2.13 and table A1.1. The site is 
not identified for employment use within the London Plan. The proposed mixed use 
development to include housing and small scale retails uses is strongly supported 
in accordance with strategic planning policy. 
 

6.59. The Council was informed that the application does not comply with the London 
Plan  but possible remedies could address the following deficiencies: 
 

Page 90



• Housing : The affordable housing should be increased and GLA officers will 
work with the Council to robustly assess viability with a view to increasing the 
level of affordable housing. 

• Urban design:  There are significant concerns over the ground floor layout and 
quality of public realm that need to be addressed.  

• Climate change mitigation:  the energy strategy does not fully accord with 
London Plan Policies 5.2, 5.6 and 5.9.  Further information regarding 
overheating, connection to the Barkantine heat network and the combined heat 
and power system is required.  The final agreed energy strategy should be 
appropriately secured by the Council. 

• Air Quality the full results of the Air Quality Impact Assessment should be 
presented and mitigation measures should be proposed for pars of the 
development that are exposed to poor air quality. 

• Transport : in accordance with London Plan policies 6.1, 6.2, 6.4, 6.7, 6.9 and 
6.13 the applicant is required to provide further details relating to car and cycle 
parking. The Council should secure a £100,000 financial contribution towards 
bus capacity, a permit free scheme, a car park management plan, a travel plan, 
a construction logistics plan and delivery and a servicing plan. 

 
 

6.60. Other comments from the GLA and TfL include: 
 

• Housing Mix Given that family housing has been prioritised within the 
affordable element, in accordance with strategic policy, the mix is acceptable. 

• Density  The application includes the provision of public realm and high quality 
residential units; however, there are strategic concerns relating to layout and 
public realm quality that need to be resolved before the density of the 
development can be considered acceptable.  

• Housing Quality and Design  The residential flats comply with the London 
Plan and national standards.  

• Child Play Space The quantum will comply with the benchmarks in the 
Mayor’s SPG and is supported but the applicant should demonstrate that the 
roof terraces are fully useable. The applicant should enter into a management 
plan (secured through the s106) to ensure the internal spaces are safeguarded 
for residents of the scheme. 

• Layout The provision of a north south route through the site linking Marsh Wall 
and Byng Street is strongly supported and is the key contribution of this 
scheme to its wider surroundings.  

• Architectural Treatment To ensure the quality of the building’s appearance 
and durability of the scheme, design detailing and materials should be secured 
by condition.  

• Height, heritage and Strategic views The scale of the proposal would be in 
keeping with the surrounding context and the emerging cluster in South Quay 
and would not harm the setting of this important heritage asset. 

• Inclusive design Conditions should secure the compliance with Building 
Regulations M4(2) and M4(3). 

• Flood Risk The FRA also confirms the site has a low risk of surface water 
flooding. The development will be designed to reduce the surface water run-off 
from the site to greenfield rates through green roofs and an attenuation tank. 
This is acceptable and should be secured by way of condition.  

• Crossrail TfL confirms that no Crossrail charge is due. 
 
 
 

Page 91



6.61. No comments received from the following consultees: 
 

o Isle of Dogs Neighbourhood Planning Forum 
o Royal Borough of Greenwich 
o Hackney Council 
o Newham Council 
o Southwark Council 
o London Bus Services Ltd. 
o The Twentieth Century Society 
o The Greenwich Society 
o National Grid 

 
7.       LOCAL REPRESENTATION 

 
7.1. A total of 224 neighbouring properties within the area shown on the map appended 

to this report were notified about the application and invited to comment. The 
application has also been publicised on site by way of a site notice and advertised 
in the local press.   
 

7.2. No letters of representation were received on the submission. 
 
8. MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 
8.1. The main planning issues raised by the application that the committee must 

consider are: 
 

• The Environmental Impact Assessment 
• Land Use 
• Density / Quantum of Development 
• Design 
• Housing 
• Amenity Space and Public Open Space 
• Neighbouring Amenity 
• Highways and Transportation 
• Waste 
• Energy and Sustainability 
• Environmental Considerations (biodiversity, noise and vibration, air quality, 

microclimate, contaminated land, flood risk, television and radio reception, 
health) 

• Impact on Local Infrastructure and facilities, Local Finance Considerations, 
Human Rights Considerations and Equalities Act Considerations 
 

Environmental Impact Assessment 
 
EIA Regulations 
 

8.2. The Proposed Development is considered an ‘EIA development’ as it falls within 
the description and thresholds in Schedule 2 10(b) of the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 as an ‘urban 
development project’ and is likely to have significant effects on the environment. 
 

8.3. Regulation 3 of the EIA Regulations prohibits granting planning permission unless 
prior to doing so, the relevant planning authority has first taken the ‘environmental 
information’ into consideration, and stated in their decision that they have done so. 

Page 92



 
8.4. The ‘environmental information’ comprises the applicant’s Environmental 

Statement (ES), including any further information and any other information, and 
any representations received from consultation bodies or duly made by any person 
about the environmental effects of the development. 
 
EIA Scoping 

 
8.5. A request for an EIA Screening Opinion was submitted to LBTH on 17th September 

2013 to seek a formal opinion as to whether an ES would be required (with 
planning reference PA/13/02238). It should be noted that this request was based 
on the previously withdrawn proposal (PA/14/02418). 
 

8.6. Subsequent to this, an EIA Scoping Report was submitted to LBTH on 1st May 
2014 to seek a formal EIA Scoping Opinion (with planning reference PA/14/01145). 
A formal EIA Scoping Opinion was issued by LBTH on 12th June 2014 and the EIA 
was informed by this document. 
 
Environmental Information 

 
8.7. The ES was submitted by the applicant with the full planning application. The ES 

assessed the effects on the following environmental receptors (in the order they 
appear in the ES): 

 
• Construction and Development Programme 
• Waste and Waste Management 
• Socio economic impact 
• Transport  
• Noise and vibration 
• Air quality 
• Water resources and flood risk 
• Soil, ground contamination and water resources 
• Archaeology 
• Wind microclimate 
• Ecology 
• Daylight, sunlight and overshadowing 
• Energy and carbon dioxide emissions 
• Cumulative effects 

 
8.8. To ensure the reliability of the ES, the Council appointed EIA consultants, Land 

Use Consulting (LUC), to review the ES and to confirm whether it satisfied the 
requirements of the EIA Regulations (2011). Where appropriate, reference was 
made to other relevant documents submitted with the planning application. 
 

8.9. LUC’s review identified a number of clarifications and potential requests for ‘further 
information’ under Regulation 22 of the EIA Regulations. The applicant was issued 
with a copy of LUC’s review. 
 

8.10. In response to this, the applicant provided additional information which sought to 
address the identified clarifications.  
 

8.11. Since the submission of the application, additional wind tunnel testing has been 
submitted. This was considered to be ‘further information’ under Regulation 22 of 
the EIA regulations, and was processed and consulted as required by the EIA 

Page 93



Regulations. Consultation ended on 5th January 2017 and consultation comments 
received up to and including this date have been detailed in this committee report.  

 
8.12. With respect to the additional wind tunnel testing, a suitably worded condition will 

be required to ensure that the necessary wind mitigation is implemented, and that 
this is monitored prior to occupation to ensure that it is as assessed. This will be 
conditioned should planning permission be granted. 
 

8.13. LBTH’s EIA consultants have reviewed the environmental information, and a Final 
Review Report (FRR) was produced. This confirmed that, in their professional 
opinion, the ES is compliant with the requirements of the EIA Regulations.  

 
8.14. The ES, other relevant documentation submitted with the planning application, 

clarification information, consultation responses and representations duly made by 
any other persons constitute the ‘environmental information’ which has been taken 
into account when writing this recommendation and is required to be taken into 
account when arriving at a decision on this planning application.  
 

8.15. This application is for full planning permission. The contents and conclusions of the 
ES are based on the proposals illustrated in the Application drawings and 
discussed within ES Chapter 3: Description of Development (along with site 
baseline surveys; quantitative/qualitative assessment methodologies; and the 
specialist knowledge of the consulting team). 
 

8.16. The ES, publicly available on the planning register, identifies the likely significant 
environmental effects (adverse and beneficial) from the construction phase 
(including demolition and other associated site preparation activities) and operation 
of the proposed development, before and after mitigation. The significance of the 
likely effects has been determined from the sensitivity of the receptor and the 
magnitude of the change. 
 

8.17. Where adverse Environmental effects have been identified, appropriate mitigation 
measures have been proposed. Were the application to be approved, mitigation 
measures could be secured by way of planning conditions and/or planning 
obligations as appropriate. 

 
 Land use  

 
General Principles 

 
8.18. This  section  of  the  report  reviews  the  relevant  land  use  planning 

considerations against national, strategic and local planning policy as well as any 
relevant supplementary guidance.  
 

8.19. At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2012) promotes 
a presumption in favour of sustainable development, through the effective use of 
land driven by a plan-led system, to ensure the delivery of sustainable economic, 
social and environmental benefits. The NPPF promotes the efficient use of land 
with high density, mixed-use development and encourages the use of previously 
developed, vacant and underutilised sites to maximise development potential, in 
particular for new housing. Local authorities are also expected boost significantly 
the supply of housing and applications should be considered in the context of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
 

Page 94



8.20. The scheme proposes the following land uses - residential flats and commercial 
units (A1-A3 or B1) at the lower floor levels. In terms of land use designations, the 
application site is located in the Canary Wharf Activity Area, the Millennium Quarter 
site allocation, the Isle of Dogs and Poplar Opportunity Area and is located in the 
South Quay Masterplan area. 
  

8.21. The London Plan identifies Opportunity Areas within London which are capable of 
significant regeneration, accommodating new jobs and homes and recognises that 
the potential of these areas should be maximised.  
 

8.22. The Isle of Dogs is identified within the London Plan as an Opportunity Area (Policy 
4.3 and Annex 1) which recognises it as a strategically significant part of London’s 
world city offer for financial, media and business services. The designation 
identifies that by 2031 the area could accommodate an additional 110,000 jobs as 
well as a minimum of 10,000 new homes. The Isle of Dogs Opportunity Area also 
constitutes part of the Central Activities Zone for the purposes of office policies. 
 

8.23. Policies 1.1, 2.10, 2.11 and 2.13 of the London Plan seek to promote the 
contribution of the Isle of Dogs to London’s world city role. The London Plan states 
that development in the Isle of Dogs Opportunity Area should complement the 
international offer of the Central Activities Zone and support a globally competitive 
business cluster.  
 

8.24. In terms of site allocations, the application site is located within Site Allocation 17 
(Millennium Quarter) of the Council’s Local Plan.  The allocation envisages mixed-
use development in the area to provide a ‘strategic housing component’ and seeks 
to ensure development includes commercial space, open space and other 
compatible uses. The development is within the Tower Hamlets Activity Area where 
a mix of uses is supported, with active uses on the ground floor. 
 

8.25. The South Quay Masterplan SPD sets out the vision for the South Quay area 
which is to create a thriving dockside urban neighbourhood of varied densities 
integrated with the wider area and home to a diverse community.  
 

8.26. Finally, it is should be noted that Canary Wharf and the north of the Isle of Dogs is 
designated as per the recently adopted Central Activities Zone SPG (adopted 
March 2016). The SPG seeks to protect the designated CAZ and seeks to ensure 
its long term role as a globally important centre of commerce and culture but also 
strike a balance between its strategic function for office development and local 
activities such as housing. The SPG identifies the commercial core to the north of 
the Isle of Dogs as an area which is not appropriate for residential development 
(the POL) and secures mixed use development and housing within the wider 
Activity Area including the north Isle of Dogs Opportunity Area.  

 
Loss of employment 

8.27. The existing land uses on 54 Marsh Wall is an A2 banking hall (231sqm GIA) at 
ground floor level and B1 office floorspace (904 sqm GIA) at the two upper floor 
levels totalling 1,135sqm GIA. 

8.28. Managing Development Document Policy (DM15) (Local job creation and 
investment) paragraph 1 states ‘the upgrading and redevelopment of employment 
sites outside of spatial policy areas will be supported. Development should not 
result in the loss of active and viable employment uses, unless it can be shown, 
through a marketing exercise, that the site has been actively marketed (for 

Page 95



approximately 12 months) or that the site is unsuitable for continued employment 
use due to its location, viability, accessibility, size and condition’. 
 
 

8.29. London Plan Policy 2.13 (and supporting Table A1.1), makes clear that there is 
scope to convert surplus business capacity south of Canary Wharf. Table A1.1 of 
the London Plan (2016, MALP) specifically states ‘Parts of the area have significant 
potential to accommodate new homes and there is scope to convert surplus 
business capacity south of Canary Wharf to housing and support a wider mix of 
services for residents, workers and visitors’. 
 

8.30. As noted previously, the site forms part of the Millennium Quarter site allocation. 
The applicant has not provided suitable replacement accommodation for the 
existing business to be displaced. The supporting text to policy DM15(1) contained 
in paragraph 15.4 states that a specific approach is required to help deliver site 
allocations and their component strategic infrastructure uses. The supporting text 
states that DM15(1) does not apply to sites located within site allocations. Given 
the site’s designation within the Millennium Quarter site allocation, policy DM15(1) 
does not apply in this instance. It is also noted that the site is not identified as a 
strategic or local employment site which would need to be retained. 
 

8.31. The loss of the existing employment uses is therefore considered to be generally 
acceptable in this instance due to the site’s location within the South Quay 
Masterplan, the introduction of commercial uses (and associated active frontages) 
and the public benefits of the scheme including affordable housing. In addition, 
there will be a small level of employment generated from the proposed commercial 
units. 

 
Residential development 
 

8.32. The NPPF identifies as a core planning principle the need to encourage the 
effective use of land through the reuse of suitably located previously developed 
land and buildings. Section 6 of the NPPF states that “…. housing applications 
should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development” and “Local planning authorities should seek to deliver a wide choice 
of high quality homes, widen opportunities for home ownership and create 
sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities.” 
 

8.33. London Plan Policies 3.3 (Increasing Housing Supply) and 3.4 (Optimising housing 
potential) states the Mayor is seeking the maximum provision of additional housing 
in London.  

 
8.34. Tower Hamlets annual monitoring target as set out in the London Plan 2015 is 

3,931 units whilst the housing targets identified in policy SP02 (1) of the Core 
Strategy indicate that Tower Hamlets is aiming to provide 43,275 new homes 
between 2010 to 2025.  
 

8.35. The proposed development would provide 216 residential units as part of a mixed 
use scheme.  
 

8.36. The introduction of a residential development on site is considered acceptable in 
principle, subject to the assessment of the relevant planning considerations 
discussed later in this report. 
 
Provision of Commercial Uses (A1-A3 or B1) 

Page 96



 
8.37. The applicant has applied for a range of flexible uses for the two commercial units 

facing Marsh Wall which measure 174sqm GIA. The retail units are located at 
ground floor level and the western retail unit will also have access to a first floor 
terrace which is indicated on the plans for a café space. The two retail units have 
been identified on the plans as having possible spill out spaces for tables and 
chairs at ground floor level. 
 

8.38. The NPPF classifies a Retail Use as a main town centre use and requires 
applications for main town centre uses to be located in town centres, then in edge 
of centre locations and only if suitable sites are not available should out of centre 
sites be considered. 
 

8.39. London Plan Policy 4.7 (Retail and Town Centre Development) states that in taking 
planning decisions on proposed retail and town centre development, the following 
principles should be applied: 
 

a) the scale of retail, commercial, culture and leisure development should be 
related to the size, role and function of a town centre and its catchment  

b) retail, commercial, culture and leisure development should be focused on 
sites within town centres, or if no in-centre sites are available, on sites on 
the edges of centres that are, or can be, well integrated with the existing 
centre and public transport  

 
8.40. Core Strategy Policy SP01 (Refocusing on our town centres) requires 

developments to comply with the Town Centre Hierarchy and ensure the scale and 
type of uses within town centres are consistent with the hierarchy, scale and role of 
each town centre. 
 

8.41. Development Managing Document Policy DM1 (Development within the town 
centre hierarchy) part 2 states that ‘within the Tower Hamlets Activity Areas 
(THAA), a mix of uses will be supported. Development in these areas should 
provide a transition between the scale, activity and character of the CAZ and 
Canary Wharf major centre and their surrounding places. Development proposals 
should be mixed use schemes with active uses at ground floor level with residential 
or office space on upper floors. Key anchor uses, such as supermarkets and civic 
uses, will only be allowed within the town centre boundaries of the Activity Areas.  
 

8.42. Further to this, part 4 of Policy DM1 states to further support the vitality and viability 
of town centres, restaurants, public houses and hot food takeaways (Use Class A3, 
A4 and A5) will be directed to the CAZ, THAA and town centres provided that:  

 
a) they do not result in an overconcentration of such uses; and 
b) in all town centres there are at least two non-A3, A4 and A5 units between 

every new A3, A4 and A5 unit. 
 

8.43. Whilst part 7 of Policy DM1 states development within a town centre will be 
supported where it does not have an adverse impact upon the function of a town 
centre use. Town centre development will need to demonstrate that: 
 

a) adequate width and depth of floorspace has been provided  
for the town centre uses;  

b) a shop front has been implemented in the first phase of development; and 
c) appropriate servicing arrangements have been provided. 

 

Page 97



8.44. The proposed commercial uses (A1-A3, B1) would be located within the Isle of 
Dogs Opportunity Area and Tower Hamlets Activity Area (which forms part of the 
Town Centre Hierarchy). Should the uses come forward within the A1-A3 land use 
category, the scale of the use at 174qm GIA would relate to the size, function and 
role of the THAA. The active use would be located at ground floor level (and also at 
first floor level directly adjoining Alpha Square) as part of a wider mixed use 
development scheme. The proposed uses would also support the vitality and 
viability of the THAA and complement other retail uses coming forward at 
Arrowhead Quay and at 40 Marsh Wall. 
 

8.45. In terms of the potential use of the commercial units as B1 office units, DM15(3) of 
the MDD details that the development of new employment floorspace will need to 
provide a range of flexible units including units less than 250 sqm and less than 
100 sqm to meet the needs of Small and Medium Enterprise (SME).  
 

8.46. Given the site’s allocation in the Canary Wharf Activity Area, the potential for these 
two units to come forward as individual offices of less than 250sqm which could 
potentially target SME’s is welcomed in line with the design and landuse principles 
of the South Quay Masterplan and the aspirations of DM15(3) of the MDD. 
 
 Density / Quantum of Development 

 
8.47. Policies 3.4 of the London Plan (MALP 2016) and SP02 of the Core Strategy 

(2010) seek to ensure new housing developments optimise the use of land by 
relating the distribution and density levels of housing to public transport 
accessibility  levels  and  the  wider  accessibility  of  the immediate location.   
 

8.48. The London Plan (policy 3.4 and table 3.2) sets out a density matrix as a guide to 
assist in judging the impacts of the scheme. It is based on ‘setting’ and public 
transport accessibility as measured by TfL’s PTAL rating.   
 

8.49. The site’s location (setting) is within an Opportunity Area and is within easy access 
of Canary Wharf Major Centre and the globally significant office cluster in Canary 
Wharf across South Quay footbridge. Accordingly, the site is ‘centrally located’ for 
the purposes of the London Plan Density Matrix. The site’s public transport 
accessibility is PTAL 4. 
 

8.50. The Planning Statement states that the density of the development is 2,910 
habitable rooms per hectare. Officers have calculated the residential density of the 
proposal to be 2,933 habitable rooms per hectare, substantially higher than the 
London Plan. 
 
 

8.51. London Plan policy 3.4 states that it is not appropriate to apply the matrix 
mechanistically to arrive at the optimum potential of a given site.  Generally, 
development should maximise the housing output while avoiding any of the 
adverse symptoms of overdevelopment. The London Plan Housing SPG (2008) 
also states that sufficient flexibility for such higher density schemes to be supported 
and as such, the density matrix whilst detailed in the London Plan, is to be applied 
flexible rather than mechanistically. 
 

8.52. The proposed density of 2,933 hr/ha however would be greater than the London 
Plan density range of 650 to 1,100 hr/ha stated within the density matrix.  
 

Page 98



8.53. The SPG advises at paragraph 1.3.51 that in appropriate circumstances, it may be 
acceptable for a particular scheme to exceed the ranges in the density matrix, 
providing important qualitative concerns are suitably addressed. However, to be 
supported, schemes which exceed the ranges in the matrix must be of a high 
design quality and should be tested against the following considerations:  
 
• the factors outlined in Policy 3.4, including local context and character, public 

transport capacity and the design principles set out in Chapter 7 of the London 
Plan;  

• location of a site in relation to existing and planned public transport 
connectivity (PTAL), social infrastructure provision and other local amenities 
and services;  

• the need for development to achieve high quality design in terms of liveability, 
public realm, residential and environmental quality, and, in particular, accord 
with the housing quality standards set out in Part 2 of this SPG;  

• a scheme’s overall contribution to local ‘place making’, including where 
appropriate the need for ‘place shielding’; depending on their particular 
characteristics, the potential for large sites to define their own setting and 
accommodate higher densities;  

• the residential mix and dwelling types proposed in a scheme, taking into 
account factors such as children’s play space provision, school capacity and 
location; the need for the appropriate management and design of refuse/food 
waste/ recycling and cycle parking facilities; and  

•  whether proposals are in the types of accessible locations the London Plan 
considers appropriate for higher density development (eg. town centres, 
opportunity areas, intensification areas, surplus industrial land, and other large 
sites).  
 

8.54. Paragraph 1.3.52 goes on to state that where these considerations are 
satisfactorily addressed, the London Plan provides sufficient flexibility for such 
higher density schemes to be supported.  
 

8.55. South Masterplan policy SQ1 (Housing Density) also states development seeking 
to exceed London Plan housing densities should: 

 
a. robustly demonstrate: 

• how it successfully mitigates its impacts; and 
• how it delivers the vision, principles and guidance of the South Quay 

Masterplan. 
b. deliver exemplary design for housing and non-residential uses; and 
c. provide the required infrastructure in accordance with the Local Plan and the 

London Plan. 
 

8.56. An interrogation of this proposal against these standards in the London Plan 
Housing SPG is set out in the following sections of this report.   

 
  

Page 99



 
London Plan Policy 3.4 ‘ Optimising housing potential’  
 
Housing SPG Design 
Standard 6 – Tests for 
exceeding the ‘ Sustainable 
residential quality density 
matrix’  

Assessment  

Local context and character & 
design principles. 

The context and character of this part of Marsh 
Wall is considered appropriate in principle for a 
tall building.  Tall buildings are prevalent or have 
been permitted to the north (City Pride, The 
Landmark / Arrowhead Quay) and to the east 
(Novotel / 40 Marsh Wall and 50 Marsh Wall / 
Alpha Square). 
 

Public transport connectivity The site has a PTAL5 ‘Very Good’.  There is no 
suggestion that development on the Isle of Dogs 
should be restrained due to inadequate public 
transport connectivity and capacity increases 
are in hand.  TfL raise no objection. 
 

Design quality London Plan policy 3.5 says the relative size of 
all new homes in London is a key element of 
this strategic issue. 
 
Officers are supportive of the overall design 
 

Place making The scheme could be considered to contribute 
to the creation of a ‘place’ at the western end of 
Marsh Wall. 
 

Potential for large sites to 
define their own setting and 
accommodate higher densities 
 

The site is not sufficiently large to define its own 
setting. 

Residential mix and dwelling 
types 

The unit mix is considered broadly compliant 
with the Local Plan. 
 

Management and design of 
refuse/food waste/recycling 
and cycle parking facilities 
 

Considered satisfactory. 

Location  London Plan Opportunity Areas are in principle 
appropriate for higher density development. 

 
Summary 
 

8.57. As detailed in this report, officers consider that the proposal would optimise 
the development potential of the site rather than resulting in 
overdevelopment that is inconsistent with strategic policy. 

 
 
 

Page 100



 
 

Design  
 

Policies  
  
8.58. The NPPF promotes high quality and inclusive design for all development, 

optimising the potential of sites to accommodate development, whilst responding to 
local character.  
 

8.59. National Planning Practice Guidance sets out seven qualities a well-designed new 
or changing place should exhibit:-   

•   be functional;  
•  support mixed uses and tenures;  
•   Include successful public spaces;  
•   be adaptable and resilient;  
•   have a distinctive character;  
•   be attractive; and  
•   encourage ease of movement 

 
8.60. Chapter 7 of the London Plan places an emphasis on robust design in new 

development. Policy 7.4 specifically seeks high quality urban design having regard 
to the local character, pattern and grain of the existing spaces and streets. Policy 
7.6 seeks the highest architectural quality, enhanced public realm, materials that 
complement the local character, quality adaptable space and to optimise the 
potential of the site.    
 

8.61. Core Strategy Policy SP10 and Policy DM23 and DM24 of the MDD seek to ensure 
that buildings and neighbourhoods promote good design principles to create 
buildings, spaces and places that are high-quality, sustainable, accessible, 
attractive, durable and well-integrated with their surrounds.   
 

8.62. Policy DM26 requires that building heights are considered in accordance with the 
town centre hierarchy. The policy seeks to guide tall buildings towards Aldgate and 
Canary Wharf Preferred Office Locations.  
 

8.63. The South Quay Masterplan provides design guidance in the form of overarching 
place making principles which include:  
 
1.  Housing design (SQ1 & SQ3) 
Development should deliver exemplary sustainable housing design to meet the 
needs of residents, Registered Providers of affordable housing and service 
providers. 
 
2.  Connections & public realm (SQ2) 
Development should frame and deliver high quality, legible and inviting movement 
routes, connections and public realm. 
 
3.  Public open spaces (SQ2) 
Development should contribute to the delivery of usable high quality public green 
open spaces with biodiversity value in coordination with neighbouring sites.  
 
4.  Urban structure & frontages (SQ2 & SQ3) 
Development should deliver a well-defined urban block pattern fronted by active 
frontages throughout, with a focus on non-residential uses facing onto Marsh Wall, 

Page 101



open spaces and docksides with clear distinctions between public, communal and 
private spaces. 

 
  Local context 
 
8.64. The site is situated within the Marsh Wall area of the Isle of Dogs.  The Isle of Dogs 

has seen significant change over the last twenty years. At its heart is the Canary 
Wharf Estate, with One Canada Square its focal point at 50 storeys (245m Above 
Ordinance Datum “AOD”).   
 

8.65. To the east of the Canary Wharf Estate is a site, called Wood Wharf where Tower 
Hamlets Strategic Development Committee resolved in July 2014 to approve an 
outline scheme for up to 3,610 homes and 350,000sqm of office floorspace with 
buildings up to 211m (AOD).  
 

8.66. To the south of Canary Wharf is South Dock, a water body that is circa 80m wide.  
On the southern side of South Dock is the main east-west road, Marsh Wall.   
 

8.67. On the northern side of Marsh Wall both South Quay Plaza (SQP) and Arrowhead 
Quay (AHQ) have consents for very tall towers (up to 239m at SQP and 220m 
AOD at Arrowhead Quay). Meridian Gate to eastern side of Marsh Wall which is 53 
storeys high (187.45m AOD) also has a planning consent. 
 

8.68. To the south of Marsh Wall, heights of the towers generally drop off relatively 
rapidly. The reduction in height is evidenced with the maximum heights of 40 
Marsh Wall (127.2m AOD), Indescon Court (99m AOD), the former London Arena 
Site known as Baltimore Wharf (155m AOD), Pan Peninsula (147m high), 2 
Millharbour (148m AOD) and recently consented 3 Millharbour (with the tallest 
tower at 146.6m AOD). 
 

8.69. The site to the west of the application site under consideration is 50 Marsh Wall 
(also known as Alpha Square). This has a resolution to grant by the Mayor of 
London. The Alpha Square proposal interlocks the 54 Marsh Wall site on its 
western side and consists of three towers including a tower fronting Marsh Wall  at 
66 storey high (213.5 AOD) a 23 storey high (78.5 AOD) tower fronting Byng Street 
with a west building at  35 storeys high (118.75m AOD above ground floor and 
mezzanine levels. 
 

8.70. To the immediate south and west of the application site the existing residential 
dwellings along Byng Street and Bellamy Close are generally two storeys in height. 
Whilst, the south side of Byng Street is characterised by single storey garages and 
four storey residential buildings. The western and eastern ends of Byng Street 
comprise of 9 – 20 storey residential blocks. 

 
8.71. There  are  also  a  number  of  current  applications  within  this  South 

Quay/Marsh Wall area for substantial residential towers including 30 Marsh Wall.  
However, since they have yet to reported to Committee, significant weight cannot 
currently be given to these proposals.   
 

8.72. The above assessment of the local context allows for a number of conclusions 
about the townscape in this area to be drawn. Canary Wharf is a cluster of large 
floorplate towers and other office buildings, forming the heart of this tall building 
cluster. To the west are a number of approvals for tall towers which would act as 
markers at the end of the dock with the River Thames behind which would provide 
the setting for these towers to ‘breathe’. City Pride marks the end of the South 

Page 102



Dock and the two residential towers at Pan Peninsula represent landmark 
developments.  

  
The Proposal 

 
8.73. The proposal seeks the erection of two towers to the north and south of the site. 

The massing approach is a 41 storey northern tower facing Marsh Wall (plus 
double basement level) with a 16 storey tower facing Byng Street. The proposal 
includes a linked element between the two towers up to the fourteenth floor level. 
 

8.74. The residential units are located across both towers and the linked element. The 
southern tower will accommodate all of the affordable housing units and the 
northern tower (plus linked element) will accommodate the private units. The 
residential units will be located at level three in the northern tower and from level 
two in the southern tower. Access to the northern and southern tower is provided 
from the north-south route to the east of the site adjoining the public route.  
 

8.75.  
 

Page 103



8.76. A large area of public realm is proposed to the north east of the site (measuring 
approximately 220m2) and a north south public route is proposed connecting 
Marsh Wall and Byng Street. 
 

8.77.  
 

8.78. At ground floor level, two small commercial units will be provided to the north of the 
site fronting Marsh Wall. These will fall in the A1-A3 or B1 land use category. The 
retail units are both proposed with café spill out areas to provide additional 
activation to Marsh Wall and continue the street frontage with the Alpha Square 
scheme (which has a resolution to grant). 
 
Northern Tower  

 
8.79. The proposed building to the north would consist of a 41 storey tower plus ground 

floor and two basement levels. The northern tower will be parallel to Marsh Wall 
and is of rectangular shape. The northern tower block will provide the private 
residential lobby which is accessible from the adjacent public route. 
 

8.80. From third floor up to (and including) twelfth floor level, one residential unit per floor 
will be provided within the connecting middle element. These units are accessible 
from the private core only. 
 

8.81. The northern tower will provide 156 residential units in total when including the 
units within the connecting element. The corridors and lifts are located centrally 
within northern tower block from third floor to fortieth floor. The building form of the 
northern block is maintained throughout the floor levels. 
 

8.82. At ground floor level, the northern tower block will provide the retail units. A café 
spill out space will also be provided at first floor level. A resident only gym will be 
located within the connecting unit space at ground floor level and will provide 
access to a gym terrace at first floor level. A resident’s cinema will also be provided 
at first floor level. 
 

Page 104



8.83. In terms of amenity spaces, child playspace will be provided internally at first floor 
level and second floor level. Communal amenity space will also be provided 
internally at second floor level and externally at 14th floor level (above the 
connecting unit). 
 
Southern tower 
 

8.84. The proposed tower to the south is parallel to Byng Street and is sixteen storeys 
plus ground floor (with access to the two basement levels below). The southern 
tower will provide 60 residential units starting from second floor level and above. 
 

8.85. The southern tower will be based around a central core area and will accommodate 
the affordable housing units only. The affordable lobby will be located off the public 
route as per the private lobby. 
 

8.86. At ground floor level both internal to the building and to the west of the built form, 
the proposal will provide a large area of child playspace with its own reception 
area. All children will need to exit their respective block and access the ground floor 
child playspace from the entrance provided on Byng Street. A small community 
room will also be provided.  
 

8.87. Further child playspace will be provided at first floor level and at 16th floor level at 
the top of the southern tower. 
 
Basement levels 
 

8.88. Two basement levels are also proposed which consist of refuse and recycling 
provisions, cycle parking, wheelchair accessible vehicle parking, plant and a large 
vehicle service lift. The refuse and cycling stores have dedicated areas for the 
affordable and private units. 

 
Layout and public realm 
 

8.89. The site is heavily constrained by the Alpha Square development located to the 
west and lacks permeability and useable public realm in its existing form. 
 

8.90. The applicant has engaged with the local authority and the GLA regarding the 
proposals during pre-application stage and application stage to improve the 
scheme’s contributions to its surroundings whilst working with the context of the 
existing site (including the level change between Marsh Wall and Byng Street) and 
providing activation at ground floor level. 
 

8.91. The area of open space to the east of the site is welcomed and in accordance with 
the principles of the South Quay masterplan. The new pedestrian route from Marsh 
Wall to Byng Street will improve connectivity and permeability to and through the 
masterplan area.  
 

8.92. The route through the site has amended to a ramped approach to toward the 
centre of the site as agreed with the GLA. 
 

8.93. The GLA has raised concerns regarding the refuse collections which are to take 
place from a dedicated bay to the south east of the site in a shared surface space 
off Byng Street. The refuse collections will take place for 90 minutes per week. It is 
considered that on balance the short period the refuse vehicles will be parked here 
each week, the limited frontage afforded to the application site, the avoidance of a 

Page 105



series of dead frontages along Byng Street (when combined with the adjoining 
Alpha Square development) and the positive open space to the north east and 
child playspace to the south west, this solution is acceptable. The refuse 
collections will be managed through the Delivery and Servicing Management Plan 
which will be secured by condition.  
 

8.94. The proposed development has a number of retail units at ground floor level which 
are appropriately located to create activity at street level to Marsh Wall and create 
a commercial frontage. Along the access route, the level of glazing with residential 
lobbies will provide a suitably overlooked walkway and provide a safe route for 
users. To the south of the site, the external playspace (and playspace lobby) plus 
the community room will provide a further human scale to a more residential street. 
 
Building Heights  

 
8.95. Part C of policy 7.7 of the London Plan states that tall and large buildings should: 

a) Generally be limited to sites in the Central Activity Zone, opportunity areas, 
areas of intensification or town centres that have good access to public 
transport; 

b) Only be considered in areas whose character would not be affected 
adversely by the scale, mass or bulk of a tall or large building; 

c) Relate well to the form, proportion, composition, scale and character of 
surrounding buildings, urban grain and public realm (including landscape 
features), particularly at street level; 

d) Individually or as a group, improve the legibility of an area, by emphasising 
a point of civic or visual significance where appropriate, and enhance the 
skyline and image of London; 

e) Incorporate the highest standards of architecture and material, including 
sustainable design and construction practices; 

f) Have ground floor activities that provide a positive relationship to the 
surrounding streets; 

g) Contribute to improving the permeability of the site and wider area, where 
possible; 

h) Incorporate publicly accessible areas on the upper floors, where 
appropriate; 

i) Make a significant contribution to local regeneration. 
 
8.96. Policy DM26 of the Managing Development Document provides the criteria for 

assessing the acceptability of building heights. However, it is important to note that 
the criteria for tall buildings are not a standalone test but should be read as a whole 
with the spatial strategy that focuses on the hierarchy of tall buildings around town 
centres. 
 

8.97. The hierarchical approach for building heights directs the tallest buildings to be 
located in preferred office locations of Aldgate and Canary Wharf.  The heights are 
expecting to be lower in Central Activity Zones and Major Centres and expected to 
faller even more within neighbourhood centres.  The lowest heights are expected 
areas of outside town centres.  This relationship is shown within figure 9 of the 
Managing Development Document, which is located below and referenced within 
policy DM26 of the MDD.  The vision for Millwall as set out within the Core Strategy 
also seeks to ensure tall building in the north should step down south and west to 
create a transition from the higher-rise commercial area of Canary Wharf and the 
low-rise predominantly residential area in the South. 

 

Page 106



8.98. Further to this, policy DM26 (2) of the MDD also sets out the following criteria that 
tall buildings must satisfy: 

 
a. Be of a height and scale that is proportionate to its location within the town 

centre hierarchy and sensitive to the context of its surroundings; 
b. Within the Tower Hamlets Activity Area, development will be required to 

demonstrate how it responds to the difference in scale of buildings between the 
CAZ/Canary Wharf Major Centre and the surrounding residential areas. 

c. Achieve high architectural quality and innovation in the design of the building, 
including a demonstrated consideration of its scale, form, massing, footprint, 
proportion and silhouette, facing materials, relationship to other buildings and 
structures, the street network, public and private open spaces, watercourses 
and water bodies, or other townscape elements; 

d.  Provide a positive contribution to the skyline, when perceived from all angles 
during both the day and night, assisting to consolidate clusters within the 
skyline; 

e. Not adversely impact on heritage assets or strategic and local views, including 
their settings and backdrops; 

f. Present a human scale of development at the street level; 
g. Where residential uses are proposed, include high quality and useable private 

and communal amenity space and ensure an innovative approach to the 
provision of open space; 

h. Not adversely impact on the microclimate of the surrounding area, including the 
proposal site and public spaces; 

i. Not adversely impact on biodiversity or open spaces, including watercourses 
and waterbodies and their hydrology, as well as their settings and views to and 
from them; 

j. Provide positive social and economic benefits and contribute to socially 
balanced and inclusive communities; 

k. Comply with Civil Aviation requirements and not interfere, to an unacceptable 
degree, with telecommunication, television and radio transmission networks; 
and 

l. Demonstrate consideration of public safety requirements as part of the overall 
design, including the provision of evacuation routes. 

 
8.99. South Quay Masterplan SQ3.5 (Taller elements massing and design) also states 

that the developments should: 
 

a) Step down from the Canary Wharf Major Centre; and 
b) Accord with the latest Civil Aviation Authority heights guidance for the 

London City Airport. 
 
8.100. The following is an assessment of the proposal against policies 7.7 of the London 

Plan, DM26 of MDD and the South Quay Masterplan SPD. 

Page 107



 
 
Policy DM26(2)a states. Be of a height and scale that is proportionate to its location 
within the town centre hierarchy and sensitive to the context of its surroundings; 

 
8.101. Within the Activity Area, the tallest buildings south of Marsh Wall consist of Pan 

Peninsula at 147m AOD and Baltimore Wharf, which is currently being constructed.  
Baltimore Wharf’s height is approved at 155m AOD. 
 

8.102. To the north of the application site is Arrowhead Quay site which has planning 
permission (PA/12/03315) for a 55 storey tower (188.4m AOD) adjacent to 
Quayside to the north and a 50 storey tower (171m AOD) along Marsh Wall. The 
reduction in height of the Arrowhead Quay tower adjacent to Marsh Wall was 
required in accordance with DM26 which seeks for building heights to step down 
from Canary Wharf Preferred Office Location. To the west of Arrowhead Quay on 
the northern side of Marsh Wall is the Novotel at 40 Marsh Wall (127.2m AOD) 
which is due to be operational imminently. 
 

8.103. The site directly to the west of the application site under consideration is 50 Marsh 
Wall (also known as Alpha Square). This has a resolution to grant by the Mayor of 
London. The Alpha Square proposal interlocks the 54 Marsh Wall site on its 
western side and consists of three towers including a tower fronting Marsh Wall  at 
66 storey high (213.5 AOD) a 20 storey high (78.5 AOD) fronting Byng Street with 
a west building at 34 storeys high (118.75m AOD) above ground floor and 
mezzanine levels. 
 

8.104. The proposed northern building is 41 storeys in height (142.940m AOD) and the 
southern tower is 16 storeys in height (61.090m AOD).  
 

8.105. The proposal would show a reduction in height and suitable transition from the 
approved southern tower of Arrowhead Quay at 171m AOD (located to the north 
west of the site) and the northern tower of the proposal at 142.940m AOD. This 
totals a difference of 28.060 metres.  
 

8.106. A further transition is then provided between the northern and southern tower of the 
application proposal totalling a difference of 81.85metres. 

 
8.107. In terms of the transition with Phoenix Heights, the previous withdrawn application 

proposed a southern tower of 29 storeys in height. This relationship is much 

Page 108



improved with a more suitable transition between the 16 storey tower (at 61.090m 
AOD) and the 4-5 stories of Phoenix Heights immediately behind this. Phoenix 
Heights then increases to the east to 20 storeys and 23 storeys on the corner with 
Mastmaker Road. It is noted that the ground floor child playspace to the west of the 
southern tower to some extent protects the lower scale properties of Bosun Close 
(which are 2 stories in height) and allows some breathing space between the 
southern tower of the application site and the 23 storey tower of Alpha Square 
which fronts Byng Street. 
 

8.108. As such, when taking into account the heights within the CAZ (up to 250m) the 
proposed development is considered to reflect an acceptable transition.  
 
DM26(2)b. Within the Tower Hamlets Activity Area, development will be required to 
demonstrate how it responds to the difference in scale of buildings between the 
CAZ/Canary Wharf Major Centre and the surrounding residential areas. 
 

8.109. As outlined in DM26(2)a, the development has been carefully designed to respond 
to the local context and more specifically it responds positively to the two different 
character streets of Marsh Wall and the more residential Byng Street. Since the 
previous withdrawn submission, the applicant has engaged with the local authority 
to achieve the appropriate transition and scale difference between Canary Wharf 
and the surrounding residential areas. As such, the proposed heights largely follow 
the heights of existing and emerging buildings as required by this policy.  
 
 

 
 
 

8.110. The following context elevations further demonstrate the sites relationship 
with consented and in some cases implemented schemes. 

Page 109



 

 
 
 
DM26(2)c. Achieve high architectural quality and innovation in the design of the 
building  
 

8.111. The design has been extensively consulted on during pre-application and 
application stage. During the course of the submission, the applicant has submitted 
amended plans to respond to the comments raised at CADAP regarding the 
architectural quality. The amended design is considered to respond well to the 
adjoining sites, the streets to the north and south and the open space created to 
the east of the site. The architecture is discussed further within this report and in 
summary is considered to be acceptable.  

 
DM26(2)d. Provide a positive contribution to the skyline, when perceived from all 
angles during both the day and night, assisting to consolidate clusters within the 
skyline; 
 

8.112. By virtue of the proposed design, the proposed buildings will be experienced 
differently when viewed from different streets and within both during the day and 
night.  The proposed material and orientation of the building will seek to ensure the 
fenestration and overall appearance is distinctive and attractive within the 
surrounding streetscape. 
 

8.113. The application has been accompanied by a Townscape, Heritage and Visual 
Impact Assessment (THVIA), which contains a series of computer generated 
images outlining existing and proposed visual impacts of the development.  
Officers are satisfied that the visual impact to the local skyline will be positive and 
will be viewed as part of the emerging cluster and as such is considered 
acceptable. 
 

8.114. The following is a computer generated image of from West India Dock looking 
south-west.  Not shown is the consented scheme at Arrowhead Quay or Alpha 
Square which has a resolution to grant. 
 

Page 110



 
 
DM26(2)e. Not adversely impact on heritage assets or strategic and local views, 
including their settings and backdrops; 
 

8.115. This is discussed further within the Heritage section of this report. The proposal 
forms part of the emerging cluster and in summary, officers consider the overall 
impacts on heritage to be acceptable. 
 
M26(2)f. Present a human scale of development at the street level;  
 

8.116. The proposed development has a number of retail units at ground floor level which 
are appropriately located to create activity at street level to Marsh Wall and create 
a commercial frontage. Along the access route, the level of glazing with residential 
lobbies will provide a suitably overlooked walkway and provide a safe route for 
users. To the south of the site, the external playspace (and playspace lobby) plus 
the community room will provide a further human scale to a more residential street.  
 
 

8.117. This is reflected in the following computer generated image of the new access 
route between Byng Street and Marsh Wall. 
 

Page 111



 
 
 
DM26(2)g. Where residential uses are proposed, include high quality and useable 
private and communal amenity space and ensure an innovative approach to the 
provision of open space; 
 

8.118. The proposed development includes public open space and public realm to the 
east of the application site. Of significant benefit to this scheme is the large ground 
floor child playspace provided for all residents at the application site. In addition, 
each building has further shared and dedicated communal spaces and child 
playspace. Overall, as discussed later within this report officers consider the 
approach to private and communal amenity space to be of sufficiently high quality 
and is acceptable.   
 

8.119. The following computer generated image shows the ground floor of the lower tower 
fronting Byng Street.  The play area is located to the west of the site (on the left 
within the image). 
 

Page 112



 
 
DM26(2)h. Not adversely impact on the microclimate of the surrounding area, 
including the proposal site and public spaces; 
 

8.120. This is discussed further within the microclimate section of the report. The 
microclimate of both the public realm areas and the amenity spaces are acceptable 
and in summary the micro-climate impacts have been considered acceptable 
overall. 
 
DM26(2)i. Not adversely impact on biodiversity or open spaces, including 
watercourses and waterbodies and their hydrology, as well as their settings and 
views to and from them; 
 

8.121. The application site has limited biodiversity value. The proposal will provide 
positive biodiversity enhancements and this is further discussed in the biodiversity 
section of the report. As such, the proposed development is considered to comply 
with the requirements of this policy.   
 
DM26(2)j. Provide positive social and economic benefits and contribute to socially 
balanced and inclusive communities; 
 

8.122. This is discussed in more detail within the housing section of this report. In 
summary, it is considered that the proposed development results in a socially 
balanced and inclusive development. 
 
DM26(2)k. Comply with Civil Aviation requirements and not interfere, to an 
unacceptable degree, with telecommunication, television and radio transmission 
networks 
 

8.123. The proposed height is considered to be suitably low to ensure it does not 
adversely impact on Civil Aviation requirements. NATS have raised no objection to 
the proposal and DLR are satisfied with the proposal subject to conditions. 

 
DM26(2)l. Demonstrate consideration of public safety requirements as part of the 
overall design, including the provision of evacuation routes.  

Page 113



 
8.124. The proposed design has taken into account the various safety requirements 

involved in residential development including issues such as means of escape. 
Discussions have also taken pace with the secure by design officer to ensure the 
proposed development is secure by design.  
 

8.125. As such, taking the above into consideration the proposed development is 
considered to broadly comply with the requirements of policy DM26 of the 
Managing Development Document and policy 7.7 of the London Plan in relation to 
building heights. 

 
Setting and Local Views 
 

8.126. With any tall buildings, there is an expectation that it would be situated within a 
quality of public realm commensurate with its height and prominence. In addition, 
given the site’s location in the South Quay Masterplan area and the number of tall 
buildings coming forward, it is important to manage the relationships of the 
proposed buildings with their surroundings.   
 

8.127. In this case, the proposal is surrounded to the south and east by two - five storey 
dwellings, to the west the 39 storey hotel at 40 Marsh Wall and to the north by the 
implemented 55 storey Arrowhead Quay. In the cumulative scenario, the 65 storey 
building adjacent to the site will have significant prominence in its local 
surroundings. 
 

8.128. The applicant has reduced the southern tower from 29 storeys (as proposed in the 
earlier application) to 16 storeys due to concerns raised by officers regarding the 
impact on the local views particularly along Mastmaker Road and further to the 
west of Byng Street. The southern tower of Alpha Square will be 20 storeys in 
height which fronts Byng Street. In terms of views from the east of Marsh wall, the 
proposal will demonstrate a suitable transition with the consented Arrowhead Quay 
scheme; however, the 3 Millharbour scheme will interrupt views of Phoenix Heights 
and the southern tower at the application site. The northern tower will still be 
visible; however, the consented 65 storey tower of Alpha Square would prevent it 
being seen against the sky. 
 

8.129. In terms of views from the west of Byng Street, the Alpha Square scheme would 
again dominate the immediate view with only parts of the southern facades of the 
two towers visible. 
 

8.130. The proposed materials are in keeping with the approach taken within nearby 
developments and ensure the proposed buildings are likely to integrate within their 
local contexts. The materials will also be secured by way of condition. As such, the 
scheme is considered to make an appropriate local response as illustrated in some 
of the local views. 
 

8.131. The impact of the proposal on Strategic views is discussed further within the 
heritage section of this report.   
 

8.132. In summary, within cumulative schemes the proposed towers are considered to fall 
within the prevailing character of the area. 

 
Architecture 
 

Page 114



8.133. Further amended drawings have been received subsequent to the CADAP 
comments which show better articulated elevations and entrances with an 
improved mullion design. In addition, the connecting units between the northern 
and southern tower demonstrate a more subtle transition. 
 

8.134. In so far as one can divorce the architecture of the building from its context and 
how it relates at street level, it is considered the amended elevation treatment of 
the proposed buildings are of a high standard with a façade that is predominantly 
vertical.   
 

8.135. The two towers generally show two contrasting colours of a light bronze colour to 
the northern tower and a dark bronze colour to the southern tower using a vertical 
metal cladding system. The two towers also have secondary tones of dark and light 
silver to lighten the elevations, reduce the visual mass and ensure the towers are 
not of a single tone of materials. 
 

8.136. It is considered that the proposal would provide visual interest and contrast 
between each tower and with the commercial tall buildings within the Canary Wharf 
estate.   
 
Secure by Design 
 

8.137. Policy 7.3 of the LP and policy DM23 of the MDD seek to ensure that 
developments are safe and secure. 
 

8.138. The proposed development has been assessed by the Crime Prevention Officer 
who has no objection to the proposal.  A Condition would therefore be attached to 
any approval, to ensure that the development will seek to achieve the Secure By 
Design Accreditation. 
 

8.139. Subject to conditions, it is considered that the proposed development as a 
consequence would provide a safe and secure environment in accordance with 
policy 7.3 of the London Plan and policy DM23 of the MDD.  
 
Inclusive Design 

  
8.140. Policy 7.2 of the London Plan (MALP 2016), Policy SP10 of the CS and Policy 

DM23 of the MDD seek to ensure that developments are accessible, usable and 
permeable for all users and that a development can be used easily by as many 
people as possible without undue effort, separation or special treatment. 
 

8.141. A growing awareness of the importance of creating environments that are 
accessible for all people has led the Council to emphasise the importance of 
‘inclusive design’.  
 

8.142. In the existing situation there is a significant level difference between Marsh Wall to 
the north and Byng Street to the south of 2.23m AOD. At the highest point on 
Marsh Wall the site is 4.87m AOD and the lowest on Byng Street is 2.64m AOD. 
The applicant has engaged with planning officers and with the GLA during the 
course of the application and during pre-application discussions in seeking to 
provide a design solution to overcome the height issue with the principles of 
inclusive design in mind. 
 

Page 115



8.143. A new public route has been secured from Marsh Wall to Byng Street. A 
combination of steps adjacent to zig zag paths toward the centre of the site have 
been provided.  
 

8.144. The applicant has proposed further inclusive design measures including the 22 
wheelchair accessible parking bays in the two basement levels (which is viewed as 
a significant benefit of the scheme) and level access to the commercial units and 
the residential blocks. The applicant has also provided ambulant cycle parking 
bays within the basement levels for the use of residents of the scheme.  
 

8.145. During the course of the application, amendments have been undertaken to the 
gym located at first floor level which can now be accessed by lift. In addition, in 
order to access the 16th floor amenity space, the applicant has provided two lifts to 
ensure that the dedicated communal/child playspace of the affordable block is 
accessible to all. All of the communal amenity and child playspaces are accessible 
to less-able users. 

 
8.146. It is considered that the proposal would result in a scheme that would be very well 

connected to its surroundings and would provide a development that can be used 
safely and easily and dignity by all regardless of disability, age, gender, ethnicity or 
economic circumstances. The proposal is considered to comply with policy 7.2 of 
the London Plan (2016), Policy SP10 of the CS and Policy DM23 of the MDD.   

 
Heritage  
 

8.147. The environmental statement (ES) assesses the likely effects of the proposed 
development on two strategic views within the London View Management 
Framework (11B.1 from London Bridge and 5A.1 from Greenwich Park). The ES 
also assesses the likely effects of the development on archaeology on and around 
the site. 
 

8.148. Policies 7.3, 7.4, 7.8, 7.9 and 7.10 of the London Plan (2011) and the draft London 
World Heritage Sites – Guidance on Settings SPG (2011) policies SP10 and SP12 
of the CS and policies DM24, DM26, DM27 and DM28 of the MDD seek to protect 
the character, appearance and setting of heritage assets and the historic 
environment, including World Heritage Sites. 
 

8.149. London Plan (2011) policies 7.11 and 7.12, policy SP10 of the Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document (2010) and policies DM26 and DM28 of the 
Managing Development Document seek to ensure large scale buildings are 
appropriately located and of a high standard of design whilst also seeking to 
protect and enhance regional and locally important views. 
 

8.150. Detailed Government policy on Planning and the Historic Environment is provided 
in Paragraphs 126 – 141 of the NPPF. The two strategic views referred to above 
are ‘designated’ heritage assets, whilst it is considered that the potential 
archaeological remains are ‘non-designated’ heritage assets. 

 
Strategic Views 

 
8.151. The development has the potential to affect two views, which are designated as 

Strategic within the London View Management Framework; the London 
Panorama’s from Greenwich Park (LMVF View 5A.1) and London Bridge (LMVF 
View 11B.1 & 11B.2). 
  

Page 116



8.152. The LVMF SPG describes the downstream River Prospect from London Bridge 
(Assessment Point 11B.1) as providing views to the Tower of London World 
Heritage Site, Tower Bridge, and beyond, to the rising ground at Greenwich and 
the cluster of towers at Canary Wharf. The visual management guidance states 
that Tower Bridge should remain the dominant structure from Assessment Point 11 
B.1 and that its outer profile should not be compromised. The Heritage and 
Townscape Visual Impact Assessment (HTVIA) analysis shows that the proposal 
will appear in the distance, to the left (north) of Tower Bridge, behind the Tower 
Hotel, and to the right (south) of the main tower cluster at Canary Wharf. It will 
have no impact on the silhouette of Tower Bridge or the Tower of London. Overall, 
the proposal will have a negligible impact on the LVMF SPG view and the setting of 
listed buildings.  
 

8.153. The LVMF SPG describes the London Panorama from the General Wolfe Statue in 
Greenwich Park (Assessment Point 5A.1) as taking in the formal, axial 
arrangement between Greenwich Palace and the Queen’s House, while also 
including the tall buildings on the Isle of Dogs. This panorama is located in the 
Maritime Greenwich World Heritage Site. Paragraph 146 of the LVMF SPG states 
that: 
 

“The composition of the view would benefit from further, incremental 
consolidation of the clusters of taller buildings on the Isle of Dogs and 
the City of London.” 

 
 
8.154. The applicant’s HTVIA illustrates how the building will become part of the 

developing cluster of consented and proposed buildings on the Isle of Dogs.  
 

8.155. The applicants view assessment also includes cumulative views from Assessment 
points LVMF 2A.1, 4A.1, 5A.1, 11B.1, 11B.2, 12B.1 and 15B.1.  Officers have 
considered these views and considered the proposed development will fall within a 
larger cluster within distant views and not be unduly detrimental within any of these 
views. 
 
Surrounding Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings  

 
8.156. When determining listed building consent applications and planning applications 

affecting the fabric or setting of listed buildings, Section 16 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, requires that special regard should 
be paid to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting, or any features of 
special interest. A similar duty is placed with respect of the appearance and 
character of Conservation Areas by Section 72 of the above mentioned Act. 

 
8.157. It is considered that, having regard to the distance between this site and 

surrounding heritage assets (including Grade I and Grade II Listed dock walls at 
North, South and Middle dock and Coldharbour, West India Dock and Narrow 
Street Conservation Areas), along with the cumulative effect of consented tall 
buildings in the Tower Hamlets Activity Area, the proposal is considered to 
preserve and enhance the setting of these assets. 

  

Page 117



 
 

Design/Heritage Conclusions  
 
8.158. In conclusion, the urban design, layout, building height, scale and bulk and detailed 

design of the development is considered acceptable and in accordance with 
Chapter 7 of the London Plan (2016); Policies SP10 and SP12 of the Core Strategy 
(2010) and Policy DM23, DM24 and DM26 of the Managing Development 
Document 2013 which seek to ensure buildings and places are of a high quality of 
design, suitably located and sensitive to the locality. 

 
  Housing  
 
8.159. The NPPF identifies as a core planning principle the need to encourage the 

effective use of land through the reuse of suitably located previously developed 
land and buildings. Section 6 of the NPPF states that “…. housing applications 
should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development” and “Local planning authorities should seek to deliver a wide choice 
of high quality homes, widen opportunities for home ownership and create 
sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities.” 
 

8.160. The application proposes 216 residential units as part of a mixed use scheme and 
the site allocation supports the principle of residential-led re-development. Tower 
Hamlets annual monitoring target as set out in the London Plan 2016 (MALP) is 
3,931. 

 
8.161. Policy 3.3 of the London Plan seeks to increase London's supply of housing, 

requiring Boroughs to exceed housing targets, and for new developments to offer a 
range of housing choices, in terms of the mix of housing sizes and types and 
provide better quality accommodation for Londoners.   
 

8.162. The following table details the housing proposed within this application by unit 
number 

 
 Studio 1 bed 2 bed  3 bed 4 bed 
Open Market 23 62 61 10 0 
Affordable rent 0 8 8 10 10 
Intermediate 0 10 14 0 0 
TOTAL 23 80 83 20 10 
Total as %  11% 37% 38% 9% 5% 

 
8.163. The quantum of housing proposed will assist in increasing London’s supply of 

housing and meeting the Council’s housing target, as outlined in policy 3.3 of the 
London Plan. The proposal will therefore make a contribution to meeting local and 
regional targets and national planning objectives. 
 
Affordable Housing 

 
8.164. The London Plan has a number of policies which seek to guide the provision of 

affordable housing in London. Policy 3.9 seeks to encourage mixed and balanced 
communities with mixed tenures promoted across London and provides that there 
should be no segregation of London’s population by tenure. Policy 3.11 identifies 
that there is a strategic priority for affordable family housing and that boroughs 

Page 118



should set their own overall targets for affordable housing provision over the plan 
period which can be expressed in absolute terms or as a percentage.  

 
8.165. Policy 3.12 is considered to be of particular relevance as it provides guidance on 

negotiating affordable housing provision on individual sites. The policy requires that 
the maximum reasonable amount should be secured on sites, having regard to: 

 
• Current and future requirements for affordable housing at local and 

regional  levels; 
• Affordable housing targets; 
• The need to encourage rather than restrain development; 
• The need to promote mixed and balanced communities; 
• The size and type of affordable housing needed in particular locations; 

and, 
• The specific circumstances of the site.  

 
8.166. The supporting text to the policy encourages developers to engage with an 

affordable housing provider to progress a scheme.  
 

8.167. The Local Plan seeks 35%-50% affordable housing by habitable room to be 
provided, but subject to viability as set out SP02 (3a) of the Core Strategy. The 
London Plan and NPPF also emphasise that development should not be 
constrained by planning obligations. Paragraph 173 of the NPPF states that: “the 
sites and scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such 
a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is 
threatened.” Policy 3.12 of the London Plan is clear that viability is a consideration 
when negotiating affordable housing “negotiations on sites should take account of 
their individual circumstances including development viability” and the need to 
encourage rather than restrain development. 
 

8.168. Core Strategy Policy SP02 (3) set an overall strategic target for affordable homes 
of 50% until 2025. This will be achieved by requiring 35%-50% affordable homes 
on sites providing 10 new residential units or more (subject to viability). The 
preamble in 4.4 states that “given the extent of housing need, Tower Hamlets has 
set an affordable housing target of up to 50%.  
 

8.169. Managing Development Document Policy DM3 (3) states ‘Development should 
maximise the delivery of affordable housing on-site’. 
 

8.170. The affordable housing offer is 36% by habitable room on-site provision. A viability 
appraisal has been submitted with the scheme and this has been independently 
reviewed by the Council’s financial viability consultants.  
 

8.171. The affordable housing is being delivered at a 71:29 split between affordable-
rented units and shared ownership units by habitable rooms and 60:40 by units, 
respectively. The London Plan seeks a ratio of 60:40, whilst Local Plan policy 
seeks a 70:30 split. The proposed tenure spilt would be broadly acceptable. 

 
8.172. As part of the viability discussions, whilst securing 36% affordable housing officers 

have secured the family size units within the development at social rent and the 
remaining units at Borough Framework Rents.  
 

8.173. For information, should the development be completed in line with current social 
target rents, the levels would be for 1-bed flats - £141 per week, 2-bed flats at £150 
per week, 3 bed flats at £158 per week and 4-bed flats at £166 per week. 

Page 119



 
Housing Mix 

 
8.174. Pursuant to Policy 3.8 of the London Plan, new residential development should 

offer genuine housing choice, in particular a range of housing size and type. Policy 
SP02 of the Core Strategy also seeks to secure a mixture of small and large 
housing, requiring an overall target of 30% of all new housing to be of a size 
suitable for families (three-bed plus) including 45% of new affordable rented homes 
to be for families. Policy DM3 (part 7) of the MDD requires a balance of housing 
types including family homes. Specific guidance is provided on particular housing 
types and is based on the Council’s most up to date Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (2009). 
 

8.175. The following table below compares the proposed target mix against policy 
requirements: 

  

 

8.176. Within the scheme, there is a slight under provision of affordable rented one beds 
(22% compared to policy requirement of 30%) and three beds (28% provision 
compared to a policy requirement of 30%). However, the four beds at 28% 
provision is well above the policy requirement of 15%. The tenure split is 
considered to be acceptable in this instance. 
 

8.177. The proposed over provision of intermediate 1 and 2 beds would result in a 
shortfall in 3 bed intermediate units. A reduction in the number of three bedroom 
units within the intermediate section to an extent is also justifiable in this area, as 
there appears to be an affordability issue due to the relatively high value of this 
area rendering larger intermediate units generally less affordable. The applicant 
has also consulted with Registered Providers on this matter and they too 
expressed concerns about affordability for the larger intermediate units. For the 
very same reason, it is often therefore considered that a greater proportion of one 
and two bedroom units would be acceptable and in line with the developments that 
have come forward within the area. 
 

8.178. The proposed market sale housing would consist of an over provision of one beds 
(including studios) and two bedrooms. However, as the advice within the London 
Mayor’s Housing SPG in respect of market housing which argues that it is 
inappropriate to be applied crudely “housing mix requirements especially in relation 
to market housing, where, unlike for social housing and most intermediate 
provision, access to housing in terms of size of accommodation is in relation to 
ability to pay, rather than housing requirements”.  

 Affordable Housing Market Housing 

Affordable Rented Intermediate    

Unit 
size 

Total 
Units  

Scheme 
Units 

% 
Scheme 

Core 
Strategy 
Target %  

Scheme 
Units 

% 
Scheme 

Core 
Strategy 
Target %  

Scheme 
Units 

% 
Scheme 

Core 
Strategy 
Target % 

Studio  23 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 15 0 

1 Bed 80 8 22 30 10 42 25 62 40 50 

2 Bed 83 8 22 25 14 58 50 61 39 30 

3 Bed 20 10 28 30 0 0 25 10  

6 

 

20 4 Bed 10 10 28 15 0 0 0 0 

Total  216 36 100 100 24 100 100 156 100 100 

Page 120



 
8.179. The overall mix of unit sizes and tenures would make a positive contribution to a 

mixed and balanced community in this location as well as recognising the needs of 
the Borough as identified in the Council’s Strategic Housing Market Assessment. It 
reflects the overarching principles of national, regional and local policies and 
guidance. 

 
Quality of residential accommodation 

 
8.180. LP policy 3.5 seeks quality in new housing provision, this is supported by policies 

SP02(6) and SP10(4) of the CS which supports high quality well-designed 
developments. 
 

8.181. Part 2 of the Housing SPG provides advice on the quality expected from new 
housing developments with the aim of ensuring it is “fit for purpose in the long term, 
comfortable, safe, accessible, environmentally sustainable and spacious enough to 
accommodate the changing needs of occupants throughout their lifetime”. The 
document reflects the policies within the London Plan but provides more specific 
advice on a number of aspects including the design of open space, approaches to 
dwellings, circulation spaces, internal space standards and layouts, the need for 
sufficient privacy and dual aspect units. 

 
8.182. All of the proposed flats meet or exceed the London Plan minimum internal space 

standards and the Minimum National Floorspace standards. The minimum floor-to-
ceiling height also exceeds 2.5m which is in accordance with relevant policy and 
guidance 
 

8.183. The proposed internal cores serving a maximum of 6 residential units within the 
northern tower and maximum of 5 residential units within the southern tower would 
comply with the recommended 8 flats per core  and accord with the objectives of 
the Housing SPG. 
 

8.184. The rented family sized units are designed with separate living room / kitchen 
arrangements, this is welcomed. The applicant states that all of the residential units 
will be complaint with Building Regulation M4, with 90% of the units being 
accessible and adaptable and 10% of the units designed to be wheelchair 
accessible across the tenures. This is acceptable. 
 

8.185. The proposal also includes 22 wheelchair accessible parking bays within the two 
basement levels for the 22 wheelchair accessible units. 
 

8.186. The proposed residential units have been well designed given the recently 
consented 50 Marsh Wall and the constrained nature of the site. The proposals do 
not include residential units until second floor level of the southern tower and third 
floor of the northern tower which in part is due to the podium level of Alpha Square 
to the west. The relationship has been managed well with the adjoining Alpha 
Square site and at the tightest points achieves a separation distance of 16 metres 
between habitable room windows in the northern tower, 20 metres minimum within 
the connecting units and the southern tower achieves 12 metres separation 
distance at the tightest point. It should be noted that the southern tower of Alpha 
Square is for a hotel use and the proposed southern tower will not directly face 
habitable room windows.  
 

8.187. In terms of the relationship to the east, the building form has maintained a 
separation distance of 7 metres from the southern building edge to the red line, 10 

Page 121



metres at the connecting unit to the red line boundary and 14 metres from the 
northern building edge to the red line. It is envisaged that a building on the 
adjoining site could provide a similar minimum separation distance and this would 
assist in providing sufficient separation distance and level of outlook. 
 

8.188. Officers note that there could be some overlooking of the flats facing onto the 
connecting unit playspace. In terms of the southern block, a lounge will face onto 
this space but as this unit is dual aspect, the lounge space benefits from windows 
and a balcony facing east. It is therefore recommended that the details of any 
screening/obscure glazing are secured by condition. 
 

8.189. Similarly two units located at the south of the northern block also face onto the 
amenity space at fourteenth floor level. Again the units are dual aspect and have 
the benefit of winter gardens and balconies facing to the east and west away from 
this space. It is considered that a condition regarding details of the boundary 
treatment and/or obscure glazing should resolve any overlooking into this 
communal amenity space. 
 

8.190. It is therefore considered that the proposed flats by reason of their orientation and 
separation distance would therefore not be unduly overlooked by neighbouring 
properties. Subject to appropriate conditions securing appropriate glazing 
specifications and ventilation would not be subject to undue noise or vibration from 
the road or DLR.   
 

8.191. Subject to conditions, it is considered that the proposed development would 
provide high quality residential accommodation for future occupants in accordance 
with London Plan policy 3.5 and policies SP02(6) and SP10(4) of the CS.  

 
Internal Daylight and Sunlight 

 
8.192. DM25 of the MDD seeks to ensure adequate daylight and sunlight levels for the 

future occupants of new developments.  
 

8.193. The Building Research Establishment (BRE) Handbook ‘Site Layout Planning for 
Daylight and Sunlight 2011: A Guide to Good Practice’ (hereinafter called the ‘BRE 
Handbook’) provides guidance on the daylight and sunlight matters. It is important 
to note, however, that this document is a guide whose stated aim “is to help rather 
than constrain the designer”.  The document provides advice, but also clearly 
states that it “is not mandatory and this document should not be seen as an 
instrument of planning policy.” 
 

8.194. Where the assessment considers neighbouring properties yet to be built then 
Average Daylight Factor (ADF) may be an appropriate method to supplement VSC 
and NSL. British Standard 8206 recommends Average Daylight Factor (ADF) 
values for new residential dwellings, these being:  

 
• >2% for kitchens; 
• >1.5% for living rooms; and 
• >1% for bedrooms. 

 
8.195. For calculating sunlight the BRE guidelines state that sunlight tests should be 

applied to all main habitable rooms which have a window which faces within 90 
degrees of due south.  
 

Page 122



8.196. In relation to sunlight, the annual probable sunlight hours (APSH) considers the 
amount of sun available in both the summer and winter for each given window 
which faces within 90° of due south. If the window reference point can receive 
more than one quarter (25%) of APSH and at least 5% of APSH during the winter 
months, between 21st September and 21st March, then the room should still 
receive enough sunlight.  
 
Daylight  
 

8.197. The baseline and cumulative scenario have been presented in the ES Sunlight and 
Daylight Report. 
 

8.198. The daylight/sunlights results were independnently reviewed by the Council to  
 
Northern building 

8.199. The 3rd, 14th, 15th and 34th floors have been analysed.  In summary BRE have 
noted that the rooms tested are all almost fully glazed and therefore received 
probably the most daylight they can in those positions without loss of balcony 
spaces.   
 

8.200. The review outlines some of the windows on the western façade of the proposal 
(facing Alpha Square) would not meet BRE guidelines, on the northern tower at 3rd 
floor 4 rooms out of 11 fall short of the BRE guidelines recommended ADF value of 
1% of bedrooms,by the 14th floor just 2 of the 10 fall short of the recommended 
values.  Overall, the affected windows are in an isolated location and serve 
bedrooms.   
 
Southern Tower  

8.201. Similarly, on the southern tower with two bedrooms tested out of the 15 rooms on 
the 2nd floor fail the BRE Standards. 
 

8.202. Within both buildings the amount of daylight received by the windows would be 
anticipated to increase further up the building within the same block of room 
layouts.  
 
Summary 
 

8.203. The development has a number of rooms which do not achieve the British 
Standard recommendations for day lighting. Given a highly obstructed environment 
with multiple high rise buildings, BRE confirm that it is unlikely that any building will 
achieve 100% compliance with day lighting standards. Overall, the failures are 
isolated and in most cases serve bedrooms.  As such, overall officers consider that 
the proposal has been suitably designed to ensure the proposed habitable rooms 
are suitably lit. 

 
Sunlight  

 
8.204. In relation to sunlight, the annual probable sunlight hours (APSH) considers the 

amount of sun available in both the summer and winter for each given window 
which faces within 90° of due south. If the window reference point can receive 
more than one quarter (25%) of APSH, including at least 5% of APSH during the 
winter months, between 21st September and 21st March, then the room should still 
receive good sunlight.  
 

Page 123



8.205. The BRE Report suggests that to evaluate the sunlight potential of a large 
residential development, it can be initially assessed by counting how many 
dwellings have a window to a main living room facing south, east or west 
 

8.206. The aim should be to minimise the number of dwellings whose living rooms face 
solely north, north-east or north-west, unless there is some compensating factor 
such as an appealing view to the north.  

 
 
8.207. BRE have advised that 68 living rooms out of 226 which would receive the 

recommended amount of sunlight. Another 20 would receive the recommended 
amount of year round sunlight but not winter sunlight, and another 4 would receive 
the recommended amount of winter sunlight but not year round sunlight.  

 
8.208. This does not represent a particularly good level of sunlight provision. However, 

there is a significant amount of external obstruction in the form of Alpha Square to 
the west and Phoenix Heights to the south, which limits available sunlight. The 
south tower would also obstruct sunlight from the north tower to a certain extent. 
There are more living rooms which receive some sunlight, if not the recommended 
amount. 
 

8.209. Officers for the obstructions outlined above and given the study includes north 
facing windows  (which would not receive any sunlight, consider the overall levels  
reasonable within the surrounding context. 

 
Conclusions 
 

8.210. Overall, officers consider the proposed development has maximised the daylight 
sunlight provision within the development. 

 
Amenity space and Public Open Space 
 

8.211. For all major developments, there are four forms of amenity space required: private 
amenity space, communal amenity space, child amenity space and public open 
space. The ‘Children and Young People’s Play and Information Recreation SPG 
(February 2012) provides guidance on acceptable levels, accessibility and quality 
of children’s play space and advises that where appropriate child play space can 
have a dual purpose and serve as another form of amenity space. This is 
particularly apt for very young children’s play space as it is unlikely that they would 
be unaccompanied. 

 
Private Amenity Space 

 
8.212. Private amenity space requirements are a set of figures which is determined by the 

predicted number of occupants of a dwelling. Policy DM4 of the MDD sets out that 
a minimum of 5sqm is required for 1-2 person dwellings with an extra 1sqm 
provided for each additional occupant. If in the form of balconies they should have 
a minimum width of 1500mm. 
 

8.213. The application proposes designated private amenity space to all of the flats which 
are generally in compliance with the above policy standard. The private amenity 
space within the two towers is either inset from the edge of the building line (and 
stacked through the two tower blocks) or winter gardens. The winter gardens are 
generally located to the north east of the northern tower and the north  west of the 

Page 124



southern tower in order to manage the relationship with the adjoining sites and 
provide variety in the articulation of the building.  
 

8.214. In terms of the connecting units, these are proposed to have winter gardens on the 
western elevation which will assist in reducing amenity impacts with adjacent 
windows in the northern and southern tower (in terms of noise and overlooking) and 
also with the adjoining Alpha Square site. 

 
Communal Amenity Space  

 
8.215. Communal open space is calculated by the number of dwellings within a proposed 

development. 50sqm is required for the first 10 units with an additional 1sqm 
required for each additional unit. Therefore, the required amount of communal 
amenity space for the development would be 256sqm. 
  

8.216. Paragraph 4.7 of the Managing Development Document states ‘communal amenity 
space should be overlooked, and support a range of activities including space for 
relaxation, gardening, urban agriculture and opportunities to promote biodiversity 
and ecology’ 
 

8.217. The proposal would provide approximately 318sqm of communal amenity space 
which is in excess of the 256sqm requirement. The communal amenity space 
includes one internal space at 2nd floor level and two external spaces at the roof top 
level of the connecting unit and the southern tower. The internal space at second 
floor level and the external space at 14th floor within the connecting block 
(measuring 141sqm and 57sqm respectively) is for exclusive use of private 
residents. The eastern part of the roof of the southern tower will be exclusively 
used by the residents of the affordable block (120sqm). 
 

8.218. The communal amenity space is generally aggregated proportionally between the 
private and affordable tenures. The distribution of the communal amenity space in 
the form of large aggregated areas would maximise the potential ways the spaces 
can be used by future residents and will also provide urban greening and 
biodiversity benefits for the site overall.  
 

8.219. It should be noted that the proposal also includes a gym and community room 
which have been clearly marked as ‘extra facilities’ and are not included within the 
communal amenity space calculations.  
 

8.220. For the reasons above, the quantum and quality of the communal amenity space is 
therefore considered to acceptable.   
 
Public Open Space  
 

8.221. The proposal includes a large public open space to the north east of the site 
including a public access route connecting Marsh Wall and Byng Street. This totals 
470sqm. In addition, a further 30sqm of public open space is proposed to the north 
west of the site which is identified as a café spill out space on the submitted plans. 
 

8.222. The area to the north east of the site will be the most useable area of public realm 
given it will consist of terraces with greening and seating areas. This area of public 
realm measures approximately 220sqm. 
 

8.223. The design and quantum of the public realm and setting of the building has been 
carefully considered throughout the pre application discussions and planning 

Page 125



process to maximise its accessibility and usability. The benefits of the scheme 
would include improving accessibility for residents of Marsh Wall. 

 
8.224. The design strategy for the ground floor of the building maximises the level of 

active frontage with ground floor residential entrances facing onto the access route 
and the public open space area. Commercial frontages will also be provided to 
Marsh Wall. This will help to provide a visual connection with the public spaces 
around the site. This strategy would accordingly help to maximise activity and 
animation within this space. 
 

8.225. Further detail on the north/south route is provided in the public realm section 
above; however, on balance, it is considered that the creation of the north/south 
route would strengthen local permeability and connectivity through the site and the 
wider South Quay masterplan area. 
 

8.226. The proposed public realm for future occupants are considered to be appropriate 
given the high density nature of the scheme and constrained nature of the site. It 
will provide an attractive and pleasant area of public realm to the benefit of local 
residents. 
 
Child play space  

 
8.227. Play space for children is required for all major developments. The quantum of 

which is determined by the child yield of the development with 10sqm of play space 
required per child. The London Mayor’s guidance on the subject requires, inter alia, 
that it will be provided across the development for the convenience of residents 
and for younger children in particular where there is natural surveillance for 
parents.  
 

8.228. The scheme is predicted to contain 77 children (0-15 years of age) using the GLA 
child yield calculations as per the LBTH Planning Obligations SPG. The following is 
a breakdown of the expected number of children per age group: 
 

• Under 5 years  26 
• 5-11 years  28 
• Over 12 years  23 

 
8.229. In accordance with London Plan Guidance a total of 770sqm of play space is 

required for all three age groups. The applicant is proposing a total of 867sqm of 
playspace which exceeds the requirements. 
 

8.230. The applicant has provided a large ground floor playspace to the south west of the 
site which is viewed positively by officers. The applicant has proposed 245sqm 
external space and 90sqm of internal space adjacent to this. The ground floor child 
playspace will be used by all children within both affordable and private tenures 
across the proposal. The applicant envisages the ground floor child playspace to 
target children aged between 0-10 years old. The playspace will be accessed via 
external doors onto Byng Street which means that all residents will have to access 
the playspace externally. The details around the access and management 
arrangements will be secured by condition. 
 

8.231. It is of note that according to the GLA calculations, the proposed development 
would generate 26 children fall in the under 5 category which equates to 260sqm of 

Page 126



child playspace. The applicant is in fact proposing 260sqm of child playspace for 
the 0-3 year olds which is viewed positively.  
 

8.232. At first floor level, a further 200sqm of child playspace will be provided toward the 
south of the southern tower which will be useable by all children at the application 
site regardless of tenure. The applicant has submitted amended plans which 
demonstrate how it is envisaged this space will come forward which includes soft 
playspace.  
 

8.233. Further playspace is located to the north of the first floor level and at second floor 
level totalling 152sqm which will be accessible to the private block only. 
 

8.234. In terms of dedicated playspace for the affordable block, 180sqm of child 
playspace is proposed at the sixteenth floor level and will constitute external 
amenity space. Amended plans have been submitted by the applicant to include 
two lifts so that this area is accessible to wheelchair users. 
 

8.235. The proposed child play space provision is therefore considered acceptable in 
accordance with the development plan policies. 

 
Conclusion 

 
8.236. The proposed development would provide all four forms of amenity space required 

on site and includes a large external ground floor child playspace on a constrained 
site. The proposed amenity strategy ensures that an appropriate quantum and 
quality of amenity space would be delivered on the site overall. The development 
as a consequence would result in a development which would provide high quality 
living conditions and spaces for enjoyment for future residents. 

 
Archaeology 

 
8.237. The National Planning Policy Framework (Section 12) and the London Plan (2016) 

Policy 7.8 emphasise that the conservation of archaeological interest is a material 
consideration in the planning process. Paragraph 128 of the NPPF says that 
applicants should be required to submit appropriate desk-based assessments, and 
where appropriate undertake field evaluation, to describe the significance of 
heritage assets and how they would be affected by the proposed development. 
 

8.238. English Heritage Archaeology (GLAAS) advises that the proposal is unlikely to 
have a significant effect on heritage assets of archaeologoical interest. On this 
basis, they advise that a condition is not required. 
 

8.239. It is therefore considered that the proposed scheme would therefore comply with 
the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (Section 12) and 
Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016). 

 
 

Neighbours Amenity 
 

8.240. Adopted policy SP10 of the CS and policy DM25 of the MDD seek to protect 
residential amenity by ensuring neighbouring residents are not adversely affected 
by a loss of privacy or a material deterioration in their daylighting and sunlighting 
conditions. New developments will also be assessed in terms of their impact upon 
resident’s visual amenities and the sense of enclosure it can create. 

 

Page 127



Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing 
 

8.241. Guidance relating to daylight and sunlight is contained in the Building Research 
Establishment (BRE) handbook ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight’ 
(2011). 

 
8.242. Surrounding, the application site exist a number of residential properties which can 

be impacted by the development, these have been tested as part of the application, 
and the results have been independently reviewed on behalf of the Council, these 
are discussed below. 

 
Daylight 
 

8.243. For calculating daylight to neighbouring properties affected by the proposed 
development, the primary assessment is the vertical sky component (VSC) method 
of assessment together with the no sky line (NSL) assessment where internal room 
layouts are known or can reasonably be assumed.  These tests measure whether 
buildings maintain most of the daylight they currently receive. 
 

8.244. However, as outlined above, officers consider the appropriate assessment is to 
calculate whether the habitable rooms in these buildings will be left with above 
minimum levels of daylight for their current use rather than necessarily maintaining 
most of the daylight that they currently receive.   It is for that recent officers and the 
Councils independent consultant agree with the view presented within the 
Waldrams Daylight/ Sunlight study, on behalf of the applicant that the most 
appropriate test for this is Average Daylight Factor (ADF). ADF is a measure of 
interior daylight used to establish whether a room will have a predominantly daylit 
appearance. 
 

8.245. BRE guidelines recommend the following ADF values for dwellings. These are: 
-  2.0% - Kitchens  
-  1.5% - Living Rooms  
-  1.0% - Bedrooms 
 

8.246. BRE guidance in relation to VSC requires an assessment of the amount of daylight 
striking the face of a window. The VSC should be at least 27%, or should not be 
reduced by more than 20% of the former value, to ensure sufficient light is still 
reaching windows. The NSL calculation takes into account the distribution of 
daylight within the room, and again, figures should not exhibit a reduction beyond 
20% of the former value. 
 

8.247. The following properties have been tested for Daylight and Sunlight based on land 
use and proximity to the site: 
 

• 1-25 Block Wharf 
• 1-7 Bellamy Close 
• Dowlen Court, Byng Street 
• The North Pole (PH) 
• 1,2 & 3 Bosun Close 
• Phoenix heights 
• Alpha Square (resolution to grant subject to s106) 
• Arrowhead Quay (consented scheme under construction) 

 
8.248. The following is a table showing the VSC results with the completed development 

Page 128



 
 
8.249. Given the number of consents and live applications within the surrounding area for 

tall buildings, the cumulative impacts have been taken into account.  These are 
outlined in the following table. 

 

 
 

8.250. Overall the impact on the following properties is considered negligible or minor 
adverse. 

 
• 1-25 Block Wharf 
• 1-7 Bellamy Close 
• The North Pole (PH) 
• 2 & 3 Bosun Close  

 
 
8.251. The impact on Phoenix Heights, Dowlen Court and 1 Bosun Close is considered 

greater and this is discussed further below. 
 
Dowlen Court 
 

8.252. Dowlen Court, also known as 29 Byng Street, is a three storey block of flats located 
to the west of the site. The windows on the main elevation would not have a view of 
the development and would not be affected, and the rear elevation of the flats facing 
the site does not have any windows. The only windows with a view of the 
development are on the end of the block. They are shown in Figure 5. These 
windows are small and as such may serve a non-habitable room such as a 
bathroom. 
 

Page 129



8.253. Three windows lose between 20-29% VSC, however the resulting VSC levels 
remain between 18.89 and 21.56% which is generally considered to be an 
acceptable level of daylight.  As such, the Councils Independent consultant agrees 
with the applicant thaty the impact overall is minor adverse.  It is important to note, 
if Alpha Square which has a resolution to grant is constructed, it would be between 
the site and Dowlen Court and in that case there would be a negligible impact on 
daylight from 54 Marsh Wall. 

 
1-3 Bosun Close  

8.254. Bosun Close is a terrace of two storey houses to the south-west of the 
development on the other side of Byng Street. The windows with a view of the 
development would be to the rear. These are only minimally visible from the road. 
 

8.255. Five windows would lose an amount of daylight outside the BRE guidelines, with 
losses largely in the 20% to 30% band and with one loss of just over 30%. For the 
most part the Councils Independent consultant agrees the overall impact to minor 
adverse impact. However, has noted one window would experience a moderate 
adverse impact. 
 

8.256. In the cumulative scenario, eight windows would lose an amount of daylight outside 
the BRE guidelines, and two would experience more substantial relative losses of 
around 38% and 45%. These are both at 1 Bosun Close, which would experience 
losses outside the guidelines for three out of four windows. 
 

8.257. The Councils consultant considers the impact on 2 and 3 Bosun Close would be 
minor adverse, but also considers the impact on 1 Bosun Close to be a moderate 
to major adverse impact. 
 

8.258. Given the rooms that lose the most VSC already have low values and as such, any 
loss is skewed heavily, the properties are dual aspect with west facing windows 
which are unaffected and given the site is within a site allocation.  Officers consider 
the impact whilst noticeable to be acceptable overall. 

 
Phoenix Heights 
 

8.259. Phoenix Heights is a large residential development to the south of the site on the 
other side of Byng Street.  It is also the off-site for Pan Peninsula. 
 

8.260. The Councils consultant has advised loss of daylight would be outside the 
guidelines for 113 windows. Some of the losses are substantial, up to 66%. 
Changes outside the guidelines are largest for the part of the building directly 
opposite the site. Losses outside the guidelines occur here until the top floor and 
consider the impact on this part of the building to be moderate to major adverse.  
 

8.261. The section of the building closer to Mastmaker Road is less affected, with two or 
three losses outside the guidelines on each floor and these being smaller, between 
20% and 35%. The Councils Consultant considers the impact on this part of the 
building to be minor to moderate adverse. 
 

8.262. In the cumulative assessment, the Councils Consultant has advised these losses 
are generally reduced, slightly in some cases and substantially in others. This is 
likely to be due to some of the daylight already being blocked by Arrowhead Quay, 
which will be behind the proposed development. There continue to be substantial 
losses of between 50% and 57% to four windows, for example the loss to kitchen 
window W1/20 is reduced from 66% to 56%. However, these four rooms have 

Page 130



other windows on a less affected elevation. Losses to windows serving single 
aspect rooms would be outside the guidelines in 9 cases, with losses between 23% 
and 38%. 
 

8.263. In the cumulative assessment, these losses are generally reduced, slightly in some 
cases and substantially in others. This is likely to be due to some of the daylight 
already being blocked by Arrowhead Quay, which will be behind the proposed 
development. There continue to be substantial losses of between 50% and 57% to 
four windows, for example the loss to kitchen window W1/20 is reduced from 66% 
to 56%. However, these four rooms have other windows on a less affected 
elevation. Losses to windows serving single aspect rooms would be outside the 
guidelines in 9 cases, with losses between 23% and 38%. 
 

8.264. Overall, the Councils consultant considers the loss of daylight to be moderate to 
major adverse for the section of Phoenix Heights closest to the development, and 
minor to moderate adverse for the section nearer Mastmaker Road. Even if 
daylight distribution is less affected, a loss of VSC to windows is noticeable to 
occupants and represents a loss of amenity. In the cumulative scenario, we would 
consider the impact to be minor adverse but with a few incidents of moderate 
adverse impact. 
 

8.265. Officers have been advised the cumulative scenario is also a strong mitigating 
factor as, while the number of rooms losing view of the sky stays broadly the same, 
most of the moderate impact losses are reduced to what would be considered a 
minor impact, as shown in the above table. 
 

8.266. Overall, given the losses are greatly reduced in the cumulative scenario, the 
substantial reduction in height of the southern tower (between the two applications) 
and given the site is within a site allocation.  Officers are satisfied that the proposed 
development has taken an appropriate balance with bringing a site forward for 
development whilst protecting the amenity of existing residents. 
 
Sunlight 
 

8.267. Given most of the properties tested are located due north, they do not need to be 
tested for sunlight impacts.  Furthermore, those tested all fall within BRE 
Guidelines.  As such, officers are satisfied there will not be any unduly detrimental 
sunlight impacts on neighbouring properties. 
 
Overshadowing 
 

8.268. In terms of permanent overshadowing, the BRE guidance in relation to new 
gardens and amenity areas states that “it is recommended that for it to appear 
adequately sunlit throughout the year, at least half of a garden or amenity space 
should receive at least 2 hours of sunlight of 21 March”.  

 
8.269. The majority of the amenity areas within the rear of surrounding properties are 

already significantly over shadowed whilst a number of neighbouring dwellings do 
not have rear amenity space, such as those abutting the site situated along Byng 
Street and Bellamy Close. 
 

8.270. The proposed development will not adversely impact these properties. 
 
Consented Scheme Assessment 
 

Page 131



The ES has considered the impact on two developments Arrowhead Quay 
(currently under construction) and Alpha Square (currently with a resolution to 
grant).  It is important to note, in both cases the buildings are not complete and as 
such, there are no current occupiers that would see a reduction in daylight. None 
the less, it is important to consider the impacts on these developments. 
 
Arrowhead Quay  
 

8.271. Arrowhead Quay is a consented residential development to the north of the 
development site on the other side of Marsh Wall. 
 

8.272. When using ADF, Two living/kitchen/diners would no longer receive the 
recommended minimum ADF for living rooms, where before they would receive the 
recommended minimum for living rooms but not for kitchens. However, they are 
only marginally below it. Two more would fail to achieve the recommended 
minimum for kitchens for the first time, but would retain the recommended 
minimum for living rooms. The Councils consultants would consider this a minor 
adverse impact overall. 
 

8.273. There are mitigating factors for impact of the development on Arrowhead Quay 
which have not been explored. The design for Arrowhead Quay has large 
balconies which reduce the amount of daylight and sunlight which the windows can 
receive. 

 
Alpha Square  

 
8.274. The BRE guidelines recommend that windows should retain at least 0.8 times their 

currently received vertical sky component, annual probable sunlight hours and 
winter sunlight hours, and that rooms should retain at least 0.8 times the current 
area within the no-sky line. The same principle does not apply to use of ADF, and 
therefore an ADF after/before ratio of at least 0.8 or an equivalent loss of 20% or 
less cannot be used to indicate acceptability of a proposal. The percentage losses 
of ADF expressed in the data tables are therefore useful but restricted in their 
application 
 

8.275. Based on the data available, we would consider the impact of the development on 
Alpha Square to be moderate to major adverse for both daylight and sunlight rather 
than minor adverse as concluded by the chapter. 
 

8.276. The proposed development has a substantial impact on some of the habitable 
rooms at Alpha Square. Of 345 rooms analysed, the Councils consultant counted 
22 studios, living kitchen diners (LKDs) or bedrooms which would no longer receive 
the recommended minimum ADF with the development in position. For the 
purposes of this count we have used a minimum ADF of 1.5% for LKDs rather than 
the 2.0% strictly required by BS 8206. Some of these rooms lose large amounts of 
daylight, up to around 70% of their ADF. 
 

8.277. 14 rooms which were already below the recommended minimum ADF would lose 
more. On higher floors they lose very little, and some bedrooms go from being well 
lit to just under the recommended minimum, but there are some rooms left with 
very poor lighting, such as a LKD where ADF would go from 1.25% to 0.73%. 
 

8.278. Given the tight relationship between the two sites, and given the proposed site is 
currently low-rised and within a site allocation, officers on balance, consider the 

Page 132



impact to be satisfactory and should not restrict the development potential of the 
application site. 
 
Privacy  
 

8.279. Officers are satisfied that the proposed development has been sensitively designed 
to ensure acceptable separation distances will exist between the proposed new 
buildings and existing facing buildings on neighbouring sites. 

 
8.280. Overall, it is considered that the proposed development is suitably designed to 

ensure privacy is preserved. 
 
Visual amenity / sense of enclosure 
 

8.281. Given the location and separation distance of surrounding facing residential 
properties, the proposal would not unduly result in a detrimental impact upon the 
amenity of the residents of the surrounding properties in terms of loss of outlook 
and sense of enclosure. 
 

8.282. However, as discussed previously by officers, it is considered that the combination 
of the proposed towers, coupled with the hotel at 40 Marsh Wall would not give rise 
to adverse impacts in terms of visual amenity or sense of enclosure from the high 
network and public realm. 

 
Highways and Transportation 

 
Policy Context 

 
8.283. The  NPPF  and  Policy  6.1  of  the  London  Plan (MALP 2016)  seek  to  promote  

sustainable  modes of transport and accessibility, and reduce the need to travel by 
car. Policy 6.3 also  requires  transport  demand  generated  by  new  development  
to  be  within  the relative capacity of the existing highway network. 
 

8.284. Core Strategy policies SP08 and SP09, together with policy DM20 of the MDD 
seek to  deliver  an  accessible,  efficient  and  sustainable  transport  network,  
ensuring  new development has no adverse impact on safety and road network 
capacity, requires the  assessment  of  traffic  generation  impacts  and  also  seeks  
to  prioritise  and encourage improvements to the pedestrian environment.  
 

8.285. Policies 6.13 of the London Plan, spatial policy SP09 of the CS and Policy DM22 of 
the MDD seek to encourage sustainable non-car modes of transport and to limit car 
use by restricting car parking provision. 
 
Site context and proposal 

 
8.286. The site has a good public transport accessibility level (PTAL) of 4. The site is 

currently accessed from Marsh Wall with car parking directly to the rear of the site. 
The site is disconnected from ByngStreet to the south by the brick wall surrounding 
the rear of the site. 

 
8.287. In addition, to the changes in built from, the proposal includes the removal of the 

car parking bays to the rear of the site and opening up the site to the rear. The 
proposal also includes a north south route to the east of the proposed building to 
facilitate pedestrian connections between Marsh Wall and Byng Street.  

 

Page 133



8.288. The previously withdrawn scheme included a vehicular lift in the public realm to the 
south west of the proposed building form. The proposed development was subject 
to a number of discussions at pre application stage in terms of finding an 
alternative solution as it was considered the vehicular lift was using valuable 
external ground floor space which would be better used as child playspace or open 
space. Under the current application, this area is proposed as child playspace for 
the residents of the proposal. The car lift has been included internally within the 
building and is accessed from Byng Street.  
 
Car Parking and access 

 
8.289. Policies 6.13 of the London Plan and policy SP09 of the CS and Policy DM22 of 

the MDD seek to encourage sustainable non-car modes of transport and to limit car 
use by restricting car parking provision. 
 

8.290. The proposal has 22 dedicated accessible car parking spaces within the two 
basement levels; however, the rest of the proposal will be car free. The wheelchair 
accessible parking bays are accessed by a single car lift from Byng Street with 
internal lifts for individuals to access the ground/upper floor levels. The highways 
officer has not objected to the provision of one car lift. 
 

8.291. It is noted that a tracking diagram was requested by the highways officer to show 
that vehicles can enter / exit the car park in forward gear from all parking spaces. A 
light would be positioned outside the site to inform arriving vehicles when the lift is 
in use. The applicant proposes a management regime to ensure that vehicles do 
not wait on Byng Street to enter the car park and this will be controlled by way of 
condition/s106 clause. 
 

8.292. The GLA and TfL have queried the number of Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
proposed and have requested this is resolved that this is controlled by condition. 
Should planning permission be granted, a condition is recommended securing 
details of the ECVP’s 

 
8.293. Officers have sought to clarify the situation with the applicant in the event that there 

is a breakdown of the car lift which could leave residents without access out of the 
site using their vehicles or into the site to park their vehicles. 

 
8.294. Whilst it is considered that this could be managed by the management company, it 

is considered important to have an alternative strategy in place. The applicant has 
suggested a range of measures including the provision of free taxis or suitably 
fitted rent-a-cars such as Zipcar for any affected residents who are unable to 
access their car.   
 

8.295. In the unlikely situation where a breakdown is preventing a car from accessing the 
basement then there are several public car parks in close proximity to the 
application site, the nearest being Manilla Street and Lawn Close House (on Marsh 
Wall).  Any expenses incurred by residents using these car parks could then be 
claimed back from the management company.   
 

8.296. Should planning permission be granted, a clause has been suggested in the s106 
heads of terms regarding the submission of a detailed management plan for 
managing the wheelchair accessible parking bays and access. 
 
Servicing and deliveries  
 

Page 134



8.297. The refuse collections are to take place from a dedicated bay to the south east of 
the site in a shared surface space off Byng Street. The refuse collections will take 
place for 90 minutes per week and are considered to be acceptable by the 
highways officer as the refuse collections will not be blocking the highway. It is 
considered that on balance the short period the refuse vehicles will be parked here 
each week, the limited frontage afforded to the application site, the avoidance of a 
series of dead frontages along Byng Street (when combined with the adjoining 
Alpha Square development) and the positive open space to the north east and 
child playspace to the south west, this solution is acceptable. The refuse 
collections will be managed through the Delivery and Servicing Management Plan 
which will be secured by condition. Vehicles are expected to reverse in to the site 
and exit in a forward facing manner which given the constrained nature of the site, 
the fact that collections are not occurring from the highway and the applicant has 
sought to resolve this through pre-application discussions, is considered an 
acceptable solution on this occasion.  

 
8.298. In terms of any residential deliveries (including home deliveries), these will occur 

on street from Byng Street. Due to the low number of deliveries anticipated (9 per 
day), this is considered to be acceptable.  
 
Cycling 
 

8.299. The applicant has proposed 330 cycle parking spaces for the residents of the 
scheme within the upper basement level consisting of 228 cycle parking spaces for 
private residents and 102 cycle parking spaces for the residents of the affordable 
block. This meets the London Plan requirement and is proportioned appropriately 
in terms of the number of cycle spaces for each tenure.  

 
8.300. A further 14 cycle parking spaces are proposed in the public realm for visitors 

along the building frontages facing Marsh Wall and Byng Street. The design of the 
cycle stands will be controlled by condition. 

 
8.301. TfL and the GLA requested that additional cycle parking spaces were provided 

beyond the minimum stated in the London Plan including recumbent cycle spaces 
and staff cycle spaces that are secure and covered. The applicant has submitted 
amended plans which demonstrate that a further 8 cycle parking spaces at both 
upper and lower basement level will be provided that are recumbent cycle spaces 
(16 cycle spaces in total) . In terms of staff cycle parking a further 6 cycle parking 
spaces will be provided will be provided at ground floor level to the north west of 
the site. This area is secure with access controlled from Marsh Wall and is also 
under cover. This is considered to be acceptable. 

 
8.302. TfL and the highways officer have raised concern regarding the resident cycle 

parking which is proposed by way of triple racks. Whilst this is not an ideal solution 
with Sheffield stands being preferable, it is noted that the building form and the site 
overall is constrained. Further information has been submitted by the applicant 
(Transport Note of 7th September 2016) which seeks to address the concerns 
raised. The highways officer has requested that a cycle management plan is 
included in the s106 in relation to management of the lower level tiers to ensure 
these spaces are freed up for users with restricted upper mobility. On balance and 
in light of the suggested conditions/clauses, given the preference by the applicant 
for public realm and child playspace plus wheelchair accessible parking bays for 
each wheelchair accessible unit, the triple racks are considered to be acceptable.  

 

Page 135



8.303. The bike stores are accessed by the cycle lifts from ground floor to basement level. 
It is important to ensure that the cycle lifts are accessible and user friendly and 
therefore the access routes and lift detail will be controlled by way of condition. In 
addition, the design of the cycle stands (with reference to the London Cycling 
Design Standards (LCDS)) is required by condition. 
 

8.304. TfL has also requested a cycle hire station is secured on the site. It should be 
noted that cycle hire stations are secured through CIL contributions and cannot be 
secured as planning obligations. 

 
Walking and Public realm 
 

8.305. The proposed route provided north to south through the site is supported as it 
increases permeability through the site and the wider South Quay Masterplan area.  

 
8.306. A further Transport Note dated 7th September 2016 provided full details of the 

PERS audit as requested by TfL to demonstrate routes marked as amber and this 
is considered to be acceptable. 

 
8.307. TfL has requested planning obligations toward signage in order to improve 

wayfinding in the local area. There has been no specific detail as to the location, 
number and information on the signage. Therefore this does not meet the relevant 
Regulation 122 tests for securing planning obligations in terms of being necessary 
and directly related to the proposed development. 

 
8.308. It is also noted that a raised table is proposed outside the site on Byng Street which 

will further improve pedestrian access from the south. Should planning permission 
be granted, a condition will be attached regarding the s278 works required.  
 
South Quay Footbridge 
 

8.309. This and other South Quay developments (their residents, workers and visitors) 
would place a further burden onto the heavily used bridge across South Quay. 
Accordingly, Tower Hamlets in conjunction with other parties such as TfL are 
seeking pooled contributions towards the introduction of a second footbridge 
across South Dock to improve north-south connectivity in the area. This is a priority 
within the emerging South Quay Masterplan and the LBTH CIL pooled could be 
used to help fund this bridge. 
 
Trip Generation 
 

8.310. A multi-modal assessment has been undertaken and is considered acceptable by 
LBTH highways officer and TfL.  

 
8.311. A draft Travel Plan has also been submitted and a full Travel Plan will be secured 

by the s106. It is noted that the PLA have commented that the Travel Plan has 
limited detail on the potential of river passengers and there is limited detail on the 
proposed river mode share targets, measures to encourage the river bus use and 
the timetable for the River Bus stop. It is considered that these matters can be fully 
resolved by way of a s106 clause. It is noted that the site is not immediately 
adjacent to a waterway.  

 
Buses 

 

Page 136



8.312. TfL have advised that they have identified bus capacity constraints at this location 
during the AM peak and with regard to the cumulative impact of development within 
this area. TfL is seeking a contribution of £100,000 towards additional bus capacity 
in the local area in accordance with London Plan policy 6.2.  
 
Demolition and Construction Traffic 

 
8.313. Should the application be approved, the impact on the road network from 

demolition and construction traffic would be controlled by way of conditions 
requiring the submission and approval of Demolition and Construction Logistic 
Plans. The Demolition and Construction Logistic Plans will need to consider other 
developments on Marsh Wall and also the feasibility of using the waterways for the 
transportation of freight. 

 
 Waste 

 
8.314. Collection of waste for a development of this size should be conducted away from 

the public highway due to the number of containers and frequency of collections for 
all the various services operating on site. As detailed in the previous section the 
waste collection will occur from the bay to the south west of the site. Refuse 
collections will occur for 90 minutes per week. The waste will be brought from 
upper basement level to ground floor level by the refuse lift located adjacent to the 
refuse stores and into the public realm by a set of louvered doors. 
 
Container Numbers and frequency  
 

8.315. The applicant has proposed separate waste stores for the affordable and private 
block. A total of 25 bins will be provided in the private refuse store and 11 bins will 
be provided in the affordable refuse store. This complies with the standards 
detailed in DM14 of the Managing Development Document 2013 and referenced in 
Table A4. 
 

8.316. LBTH will shortly be adopting new capacity guidelines and working across the 
borough to enforce this as a requirement rather than a minimum or maximum 
waste container capacity, for all existing and new developments.   
 

8.317. The guidelines are more in line with British Standards and a recent waste 
composition analysis conducted externally for the borough, with the ambition to 
reduce residual waste capacity and increase dry recycling capacity. 
 

8.318. The bin stores could be reconfigured to ensure the development is future- proofed 
and there is space within the stores/further areas at basement level can be 
allocated to refuse stores if necessary.  
 

8.319. The proposed level of space of the holding areas is suitable for the necessary 
containers to be stored for a once a week collection.   

 
Energy & Sustainability 
 
8.320. The NPPF encourage developments to incorporate renewable energy and to 

promote energy efficiency. 
 

8.321. The NPPF sets out that planning plays a key role in delivering reductions to 
greenhouse gas emissions, minimising vulnerability and providing resilience to 

Page 137



climate change. The NPPF also notes that planning supports the delivery of 
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. 
 

8.322. London Plan 2016 Chapter 5 deals with London’s response to climate change and 
seeks to achieve an overall reduction in carbon dioxide emissions of 60% below 
1990 levels by 2025 (Policy 5.1). 
 

8.323. London Plan Policy 5.2 sets out the Mayor’s energy hierarchy to: 
 
• Be lean: Use Less Energy  
• Be clean: Supply Energy Efficiently 
• Be Green: Use Renewable Energy 
 

8.324. The Managing Development Document Policy DM29 includes the target to achieve 
a minimum 50% reduction in CO2 emissions above the Building Regulations 2010 
through the cumulative steps of the Energy Hierarchy. From April 2014 the London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets have applied a 45 per cent carbon reduction target 
beyond Part L 2013 of the Building Regulations, as this is deemed to be broadly 
equivalent to the 50 per cent target beyond Part L 2010 of the Building 
Regulations. 
 

8.325. Core Strategy Strategic objective SO3 of the Tower Hamlets seeks to incorporate 
the principle of sustainable development including limiting carbon emissions from 
development, delivering decentralised energy and renewable energy technologies 
and minimising the use of natural resources.  Core Strategy Policy SP11 reiterates 
the Mayor’s CO2 reduction targets and requires all new developments to provide a 
20% reduction of carbon dioxide emissions through on-site renewable energy 
generation. 
 

8.326. Policy 5.2 requires major development, both residential and non-domestic, to 
achieve a minimum improvement in CO2 emissions 40% above Part L of the 
Building Regulations 2010 in years 2013-2016.  From 2016 residential buildings 
should be zero carbon while non-domestic should accord with Part L of the 2013 
Building Regulations and be zero carbon from 2019. 
 

8.327. The GLA guidance on Energy Planning (Greater London Authority guidance on 
preparing energy assessments (March 2016)) advises at paragraph 5.4 that “In line 
with the implementation date for previous increases in the London Plan carbon 
dioxide targets and improvements to Part L of the Building Regulations, the ‘zero 
carbon’ target as defined above will be implemented for Stage 1 schemes received 
by the Mayor on or after the 1st October 2016”. Therefore the zero carbon 
requirement for residential buildings does not apply as the application was received 
by the Mayor on 14th July 2016. 
 

8.328. Policy DM 29 also requires sustainable design assessment tools to be used to 
ensure the development has maximised use of climate change mitigation 
measures. At present the current interpretation of this policy is to require the 
residential units to comply with optional requirement G(36)(2)9b) of the 2010 
Building Regulations in relation to water consumption and non-residential to 
achieve BREEAM Excellent.  
 

8.329. The applicant must ensure that they comply with Policy 5.6 of the London Plan and 
install energy systems in accordance with the following hierarchy: 

 
1) Connect to existing heating or cooling networks. 

Page 138



2) Site wide CHP 
3) Communal heating and cooling. 

 
8.330. The submitted Energy Strategy (Issue 5 - updated September 2016) has followed 

the principles of the Mayor’s energy hierarchy, and seeks to focus on reducing 
energy demand and connection to the Barkantine District Heating network to 
minimise emission savings. No renewable energy technologies are proposed due 
to the lack of roof space available. The applicant has provided the roof layout which 
demonstrates that PV installation is considerably difficult to implement. The GLA 
have noted that this is accepted in this instance. 

 
8.331. The current proposals are anticipated to achieve CO2 emission reductions of 1% 

through Be Lean measures and 36% through connection to Barkantine site wide 
heat network. The cumulative CO2 savings from these measures are proposed to 
be in accordance with policy London Plan requirements at 37%. However, the 
proposals fall short of the LBTH policy requirements to achieve a 45% reduction in 
CO2 emissions. 
 

8.332. Based on the current proposals there is a shortfall to policy DM29 requirements 
which equates to an annual shortfall of 22.22 tonnes of regulated CO2. The Energy 
Statement identifies the requirement to meet the shortfall through a carbon offset 
payment and this approach is supported for the development. 
 

8.333. The Planning Obligations SPD includes the mechanism for any shortfall in CO2 to 
be met through a cash in lieu contribution for sustainability projects. This policy is in 
accordance with Policy 5.2 (E) of the London Plan 2016 which states: 

 
‘…carbon dioxide reduction targets should be met on-site. Where it is 
clearly demonstrated that the specific targets cannot be fully achieved on-
site, any shortfall may be provided off-site or through a cash in lieu 
contribution to the relevant borough to be ring fenced to secure delivery of 
carbon dioxide savings elsewhere.’ 

 
8.334. It is proposed the shortfall in CO2 emission reductions will be offset through a cash 

in lieu payment. The current identified cost for a tonne of CO2 is £1,800 per tonne 
of CO2. This figure is recommended by the GLA (GLA Sustainable Design and 
Construction SPG 2014 and the GLA Planning Energy Assessment Guidance April 
2016). 
 

8.335. For the proposed scheme it is recommended that a figure of £39,996 is sought for 
carbon offset projects as identified in the submitted Energy Statement.  
 

8.336. The GLA has raised concerns within their Stage I response that the energy 
strategy does not accord with London Plan policies 5.2, 5.6, 5.7 and 5.9.  
 

8.337. In terms of policy 5.9 of the London Plan, the GLA requested further evidence of 
how this policy had been addressed to avoid overheating and minimise cooling 
demand. 
 

8.338. The applicant has subsequently clarified that each apartment has been subject to 
an overheating analysis. The GLA request a condition regarding the submission of 
the dynamic overheating analysis demonstrating the overheating risk has been 
reduced in line with policy 5.9 of the London Plan. 
 

Page 139



8.339. The GLA also sought clarification on the connection to the site heat network which 
has been provided by the applicant. In addition, the full sample DER sheets and 
calculation methodology have also been provided to the satisfaction of the GLA. a 
condition is requested regarding the submission of a revised energy strategy when 
greater accuracy of the energy effects is known.  
 

Environmental Considerations 
 

Landscaping and Biodiversity  
 

8.340. Core Strategy SP04 is concerned with ‘Creating a green and blue grid.’  Among the 
means of achieving this, the policy promotes and supports new development that 
incorporates measures to green the built environment including green roofs and 
green terraces whilst ensuring that development protects and enhances areas of 
biodiversity value.  MDD Policy DM11 addresses ‘Living buildings and biodiversity.’  
Policy DM11-1 requires developments to provide elements of a ‘living buildings’ 
which is explained at paragraph 11.2 to mean living roofs, walls, terraces or other 
building greening techniques.  DM11-2 requires existing elements of biodiversity 
value be retained or replaced by developments. 
 

8.341. The existing site has limited ecological value given the site consists of an existing 
building. 
 

8.342. The Council’s Biodiversity officer has advised that there will be no significant 
impacts on biodiversity as a result of the proposal and the loss of the four trees 
would be a very minor adverse impact on biodiversity.  
 

8.343. In terms of biodiversity enhancements, two types of green roof are proposed on the 
2nd and 41st floors, totalling 220 square metres. The rough specifications for these 
are appropriate, and they will contribute to a target in the LBAP to create new open 
mosaic habitat. Formal landscaping on the ground, 14th and 16th floors includes a 
good range of nectar-rich plants which will contribute to a target in the LBBAP to 
provide forage for bumblebees and other pollinators. Proposed new trees include 
the native silver birch, which is a good wildlife tree.  
 

8.344. The Council’s Biodiversity officer is satisfied that with appropriate conditions the 
proposed development would result in a net gain in biodiversity. Accordingly, the 
proposal will serve to improve the biodiversity value as sought by policy SP04 of 
the CS and DM11 of the Managing Development Document. 
 
Noise, Vibration and odour 
 

8.345. Chapter 11 of the NPPF gives guidance for assessing the impact of noise. The 
document states that planning decisions should avoid noise giving rise to adverse 
impacts on health and quality of life, mitigate and reduce impacts arising from noise 
through the use of conditions, recognise that development will often create some 
noise, and protect areas of tranquillity which have remained relatively undisturbed 
and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason. 
 

8.346. Policy 7.15 of the London Plan, policies SP03 and SP10 of the CS and policy 
DM25 of the MDD seek to ensure that development proposals reduce noise by 
minimising the existing and potential adverse impact and separate noise sensitive 
development from major noise sources. 
 

Page 140



8.347. The submitted Environmental Statement Chapter 9: Noise and Vibration and the 
Non-technical summary considers existing noise levels from a variety of noise 
sources; include rail, car and aircraft. The proposed development will be exposed 
to noise and some vibration from noise traffic on Marsh Wall and from the DLR in 
close proximity to the development.   
 

8.348. In terms of the completed development, the assessment considers the noise 
effects on future residents (both at the facades of the development and the external 
child play space at ground floor level), building services plant noise and vibration 
(such as energy centre and lifts), servicing and car park noise and operational road 
noise. The ES states there will be negligible significance on the proposed 
development. 
 

8.349. It is noted that CADAP has raised concerns regarding the noise between the 
connecting units and the northern and southern tower (to twelfth floor level). It 
should be noted that the units will be required to meet building control 
specifications in terms of transfer of noise and ventilation. Having the balconies 
stacked above each other in this manner is common place in design (especially as 
the balconies and windows above/adjacent all serve bedrooms rather than 
conflicting uses such as kitchens) and is considered good practice.  

 
8.350. In order to ensure the noise is acceptable for the new residential units, noise will be 

controlled by way of condition in terms of a compliance condition (for instance 
ensuring the units achieve the noise levels achieve the World Health Authority 
Community Noise Guideline Values/BS8233 “good” conditions). 
 

8.351. In addition, any potential noise from the A1-A3 uses could also be controlled by an 
“hours of use” condition and similarly with deliveries and servicing.  Relevant 
conditions would be included on any permission if granted. 
 

8.352. In relation to odour, a condition could ensure any food /drink use with a kitchen 
extract system would be adequate to mitigate any odour nuisance and any internal 
noise transmission between the gym and residential uses could be controlled by a 
condition requiring noise/sound insulation.  
 

8.353. It is considered that proposed arrangements would ensure that the development 
would be compliant with the NPPF and development plan policy. 

 
 
 
 

Air Quality 
 

8.354. Policy 7.14 of the London Plan seeks to ensure design solutions are incorporated 
into new developments to minimise exposure to poor air quality, Policy SP03 and 
SP10 of the CS and Policy DM9 of the MDD seek to protect the Borough from the 
effects of air pollution, requiring the submission of air quality assessments 
demonstrating how it would prevent or reduce air pollution in line with Clear Zone 
objectives. 
 

8.355. The borough is designated an Air Quality Management Area and the Council 
produced an Air Quality Action Plan in 2003. The Plan addresses air pollution by 
promoting public transport, reducing the reliance on cars and by promoting the use 
of sustainable design and construction methods.  NPPF paragraph 124 requires 

Page 141



planning decisions to ensure that new development in Air Quality Management 
Areas is consistent with the local air quality plan.  
 

8.356. The air quality assessment shows that the development will have a negligible 
impact on the local air quality and that the development meets the air quality 
neutral requirements. The assessment also shows that in the opening year some 
units will be subject to existing elevated pollution levels exceeding the NO2 air 
quality objective, mitigation will be required for the units shown to be exceeding or 
nearing the annual NO2 objective.  
 

8.357. The LBTH Air Quality officer reviewed the Environmental Statement and after some 
further points of clarification from the applicant in relation to the location of the 
residential floors has confirmed that the air quality is acceptable. The further 
information from the applicant confirmed that at the highest polluted location on the 
northern façade of the northern private tower block, the residential units would not 
begin until the 3rd floor level where the pollution levels are lower. The GLA Stage 1 
report (paragraph 41) raises similar issues about localised air quality exposure.  
 

8.358. The construction assessment is acceptable and any relevant dust and emissions 
mitigation must be included in a Construction Environmental Management Plan, 
along with a program for dust monitoring. All on site non road mobile machinery 
must comply with the GLA’s emission limits for Non Road Mobile Machinery. 
 

8.359. Subject to safeguarding conditions, it is considered that the impacts on air quality 
are acceptable and any impacts would be outweighed by the regeneration benefits 
that the development would bring to the area. 
 

8.360. As such, the proposal is generally in keeping Policy 7.14 of the LP, Policy SP02 of 
the CS and Policy DM9 of the MDD which seek to reduce air pollution 

 
Microclimate 

 
8.361. Tall buildings can have an impact upon the microclimate, particularly in relation to 

wind. Where strong winds occur as a result of a tall building it can have detrimental 
impacts upon the comfort and safety of pedestrians and cyclists. It can also render 
landscaped areas unsuitable for their intended purpose. 
 

8.362. The Environmental Statement accompanying the planning application has carried 
out wind tunnel testing in accordance with the widely accepted Lawson Comfort 
Criteria. The criteria reflects the fact that sedentary activities such as sitting 
requires a low wind speed for a reasonable level of comfort whereas for more 
transient activities such as walking, pedestrians can tolerate stronger winds.  
 

8.363. The wind levels at ground level are generally suitable; however some mitigation 
and landscaping measures would be required to confirm suitable wind conditions 
can be provided in the event planning permission was to be granted.. 

 
Demolition and Construction Noise and Vibration 
 

8.364. The Environmental Statement acknowledges the potential for adverse effects from 
demolition and construction noise and vibration. Noise and vibration levels as a 
result of the demolition and construction phase can be minimised by the mitigation 
methods such as heightened boundary hoarding with good acoustic qualities, 
liaison with occupants of the adjacent properties, establishment of noise and 
vibration action levels, periodic monitoring of noise and vibration levels and the 

Page 142



switching off of plant and equipment when not in use which would be employed to 
ensure that the noise levels are acceptable.  

 
8.365. The nearest cumulative schemes to be considered in the Environmental Statement 

are the schemes at Arrowhead Quay, 40 Marsh Wall and Alpha Square. In the 
case of 40 Marsh Wall, the development is almost completed. By the time the work 
on the proposed development could begin, chapter 9 of the ES notes that the 
noisiest elements of the Arrowhead Quay scheme (piling and excavation) would be 
complete. It will be important to manage the noisiest works at the application site 
and Alpha Square. The phasing plan for the proposed development will be 
requested by condition to minimise demolition and construction noise on 
surrounding residents. 
 

8.366. Demolition and construction works, are likely to include activities that would be 
likely to increase noise and vibration levels.  The submission of a construction 
management plan and environmental plan via condition would therefore be 
required to reduce the noise and vibration impacts on the neighbouring properties 
and ensure that all works are carried out in accordance with contemporary best 
practice.  

 
8.367. Should planning permission be granted there would also be conditions controlling 

the hours of construction (Monday – Friday 08:00 – 06:00, Saturdays 08:00 – 13:00 
and no work on Sundays and Bank Holidays).  
 

8.368. Subject to safeguarding conditions, officers consider that the proposed 
development would therefore not result in the creation of unacceptable levels of 
noise and vibration during demolition and construction in accordance with the 
NPPF, policy 7.15 of the London Plan, policies SP03 and SP10 of the CS and 
policy DM25 of the MDD. 
 
Contaminated Land 
 

8.369. In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF and policy DM30 of the MDD, the 
application has been accompanied by an Environmental Statement which 
assesses the likely contamination of the site. 
 

8.370. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the documentation, and 
advises that subject to conditions to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures 
are in place there are no objections on the grounds of contaminated land issues.  
Relevant conditions would be included on any planning permission if granted. 
 
 
Flood Risk and Water Resources 
 

8.371. The NPPF, policy 5.12 of the London Plan, and policy SP04 of CS relate to the 
need to consider flood risk at all stages in the planning process. Policy 5.13 of the 
London Plan seeks the appropriate mitigation of surface water run-off. 
  

8.372. The site is located in Flood Zone 3 and is protected to a very high standard by the 
Thames Tidal flood defences up to a 1 in 1000 (0.1%) chance in any year and 
means that the site is within a low risk area but is at risk if there was to be a breach 
in the defences or they were to be overtopped.  
 

8.373. The proposal involves a more vulnerable use (i.e. housing). The site is ‘allocated’ 
within the Council’s Local Plan for a mixed-use redevelopment including for a 

Page 143



substantial element of residential use. As part of that Allocation, a Sequential Test 
had been undertaken. There have been no material changes in policy or site 
circumstances to question the continued validity of the conclusions of that test. 
Accordingly, in accordance with the NPPG a further Sequential Test is not required 
to support this application.  
 

8.374. The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and the 
Environment Agency advise that their most recent study shows that the site is 
unlikely to flood even in a breach of tidal defences. The FRA demonstrates the 
development will not increase the risk or severity flooding elsewhere. The 
Environment Agency advise that the proposed finished floor level (of the ground 
floor) be set at 3.13m AOD above the level of a 1 in a 1000 year flood event taking 
account of climate change. The applicant has confirmed that the ground floor 
finished floor level is well above 3.13m AOD which meets the Environment 
Agency’s requirements. Were the application to be approved, this could be 
conditioned appropriately.  
 

8.375. In relation to surface water run-off, the sustainable drainage officer has no 
objection to the proposal and advises that the green roofs are secured by way of 
condition. The surface water management requirements should be controlled by 
way of condition. Thames Water advises that conditions could also appropriately 
address water demand and wastewater capacity.  
  

8.376. In summary, subject to the inclusion of conditions to secure the above, the 
proposed development complies with the NPPF, Policies 5.12 and 5.13 of the 
London Plan and Policy SP04 of the CS. 
 
Television and Radio Service 
 

8.377. The impact of the proposed development on the television reception of surrounding 
residential areas must be considered and incorporate measures to mitigate any 
negative impacts should it be necessary.  
 

8.378. Appendix 2.4 of Volume 4 of the Environmental Statement provides a note which 
scopes out the TV and radio interference. Given the existing Canary Wharf cluster 
and the height of the proposed development (the northern tower is 142.940m 
AOD), any effects would only occur between the site and 25 Bank Street. There 
are no residential receptors between the site and 25 Bank Street and now wider 
effects are anticipated in relation to terrestrial television reception. 
 

8.379. DLR have requested conditions are attached regarding DLR radio communications 
in order to mitigate any potential effects on DLR communications. These will be 
included on any planning permissions if granted. 
 
London City Airport Safeguarding Zone 
 

8.380. London City Airport has raised no safeguarding objection to the scheme subject to 
appropriate conditioning relating to cranes in terms of construction methodology 
and details of the use of cranes and location, maximum operating height of crane 
and start/finish dates during the development. In addition, a compliance condition 
will also be attached in terms of building heights. 
 
Health Considerations 
  

Page 144



8.381. Policy 3.2 of the London Plan seeks to improve health and address health 
inequalities having regard to the health impacts of development proposals as a 
mechanism for ensuring that new developments promote public health within the 
borough. 
  

8.382. Policy SP03 of the Core Strategy seeks to deliver healthy and liveable 
neighbourhoods that promote active and healthy lifestyles, and enhance people’s 
wider health and well-being.  
 

8.383. Part 1 of Policy SP03 in particular seeks to support opportunities for healthy and 
active lifestyles through: 
 

a) Working with NHS Tower Hamlets to improve healthy and active lifestyles. 
b) Providing high-quality walking and cycling routes. 
c) Providing excellent access to leisure and recreation facilities. 
d) Seeking to reduce the over-concentration of any use type where this 

detracts from the ability to adopt healthy lifestyles. 
e) Promoting and supporting local food-growing and urban agriculture. 

 
8.384. As detailed in the previous section, the proposed development would promote 

sustainable modes of transport, improve permeability through the site, provide 
communal amenity space and provide sufficient play space for children. It is 
therefore considered that the proposed development as a consequence would 
broadly promote public health within the borough in accordance with London Plan 
Policy 3.2 and Policy SP03 of the Council’s Core Strategy. 
 

Impact upon local infrastructure / facilities  
 

8.385. Core Strategy Policy SP13 seeks planning obligations to offset the impacts of the 
development on local services and infrastructure in light of the Council’s 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). The Council’s Planning Obligations SPD (2016) 
sets out in more detail how these impacts can be assessed and appropriate 
mitigation.  
  

8.386. The NPPF requires that planning obligations must be:  
 

(a)  Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
(b) Directly related to the development; and,  
(c) Are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

  
8.387. Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations 2010 brings the above policy tests into law, 

requiring that planning obligations can only constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission where they meet such tests. 
  

8.388. Securing appropriate planning contributions is further supported policy SP13 in the 
CS which seek to negotiate planning obligations through their deliverance in kind or 
through financial contributions to mitigate the impacts of a development.   
 

8.389. The Council’s Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (2016) 
carries weight in the assessment of planning applications. This SPD provides the 
Council’s guidance on the policy concerning planning obligations set out in policy 
SP13 of the adopted Core Strategy. This identifies the council’s priorities as 
Affordable housing, Sustainable transport, publicly accessible open space, 
education, health, training, employment and enterprise etc. 

Page 145



8.390. The SPG seeks planning obligations for the following priority areas which are not 
covered by CIL: 
 
• Affordable Housing (and wheelchair accessible accommodation) 
• Employment, Skills, Training and Enterprise 
• Transport and highways 
• Public access and children’s play space 
• Environmental sustainability 

 
8.391. The proposal would also be subject to an LBTH Community Infrastructure Levy.  

The types of infrastructure project that may be partly or wholly funded by CIL can 
include: 
 
• Public education 
• Community and leisure facilities 
• Public open space 
• Road and other transport facilities 
• Health facilities 
 

8.392. The development is predicted to have a population yield of 77 children which will 
generate additional demand for school places. The development is also predicted 
to generate some jobs once the development is complete. Therefore, the 
development will place some additional demands on local infrastructure and 
facilities, including local schools, health facilities, idea stores and libraries, leisure 
and sport facilities, transport facilities, public open space and the public realm and 
streetscene.  

 
8.393. As outlined in the following section financial contribution section of the report LBTH 

CIL is now applicable to the development would help mitigate the above impacts. 
 
8.394. The applicant has agreed to the full financial contributions as set out in the s106 

SPD in relation to: 
 
• Enterprise and Employment Skills and Training; 
• End User; 
• Carbon Off-Set 
• Bus Contributions 
• Monitoring contribution 
 

8.395. The applicant has also offered 36% affordable housing by habitable room with a 
tenure split of 71:29 between affordable rented and shared ownership housing at 
LBTH rent levels. This offer has been independently viability tested and the 
information submitted is considered insufficient to confirm that it maximises the 
affordable housing levels in accordance with relevant policy.  
 

8.396. A Development viability review clause to identify and secure any uplift of Affordable 
Housing if the development has not been implemented within 48 months from the 
grant of permission (with the definition of ‘implementation’ to be agreed as part of 
s.106 negotiations) would also be secured should permission be granted.  

 
8.397. The developer has also offered to use reasonable endeavours to meet at least 

20% local procurement of goods and services, 20% local labour in construction and 
20% end phase local jobs, a permit-free agreement (other than for those eligible for 
the Permit Transfer Scheme) and residential and workplace travel plans. 

Page 146



 
8.398. The financial contributions offered by the applicant are summarised in the following 

table: 
 

Heads  Planning  obligation    
financial contribution 

Employment, Skills, Construction Phase 
Skills and Training 

£94,648 

Access employment and end user £3,253.80 
Carbon off set initiatives £39,996 
Local Bus Service £100,000 
Monitoring £8,500 
 
Total 

 
£246,397.80 

 
8.399. These obligations are considered to meet the tests set out in guidance and the CIL 

regulations. 
 
OTHER 
 
Financial Considerations 
Localism Act (amendment to S70(2) of the TCPA 1990)  
 

8.400. Section 70(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) entitles 
the relevant authority to grant planning permission on application to it. Section 
70(2) requires that the authority shall have regard to: 
 
• The provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application; 
• Any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application; and, 
• Any other material consideration. 
 

8.401. Section 70(4) defines “local finance consideration” as: 
 
• A grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, provided 

to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or 
• Sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in payment 

of Community Infrastructure Levy. 
 

8.402. In this context “grants” might include New Homes Bonus. 
 

8.403. These are material planning considerations when determining planning 
applications or planning appeals. 
 

8.404. As regards Community Infrastructure Levy considerations, Members are reminded 
that that the London mayoral CIL became operational from 1 April 2012 and would 
be payable on this scheme if it were approved. The approximate Mayoral CIL 
contribution is estimated to be around £493,357.78. 
 

8.405. The New Homes Bonus was introduced by the Coalition Government during 2010 
as an incentive to local authorities to encourage housing development. The 
initiative provides un-ring-fenced finance to support local infrastructure 
development. The New Homes Bonus is based on actual council tax data which is 
ratified by the CLG, with additional information from empty homes and additional 
social housing included as part of the final calculation.  It is calculated as a 

Page 147



proportion of the Council tax that each unit would generate over a rolling six year 
period. The estimated Borough CIL contribution for this development is 
approximately £2,786,238.44. 
 

8.406. Using the DCLG’s New Homes Bonus Calculator, this development, if approved, 
would generate in the region of £329,626.00 00 in the first year and a total payment 
of £1,977,755.00 over 6 years. 
  
Human Rights Considerations 
  

8.407. In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the 
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998. In the determination of a planning 
application the following are particularly highlighted to Members:- 
 

8.408. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits authorities (including the Council 
as local planning authority) from acting in a way which is incompatible with the 
European Convention on Human Rights. "Convention" here means the European 
Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were incorporated into English 
law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention rights are likely to be 
relevant, including:- 
 

• Entitlement to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an 
independent and impartial tribunal established by law in the determination of 
a person's civil and political rights (Convention Article 6). This includes 
property rights and can include opportunities to be heard in the consultation 
process; 
 
• Rights to respect for private and family life and home. Such rights may be 
restricted if the infringement is legitimate and fair and proportionate in the 
public interest (Convention Article 8); and, 
 
• Peaceful enjoyment of possessions (including property). This does not 
impair the right to enforce such laws as the State deems necessary to control 
the use of property in accordance with the general interest (First Protocol, 
Article 1). The European Court has recognised that "regard must be had to 
the fair balance that has to be struck between the competing interests of the 
individual and of the community as a whole". 

  
8.409. This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning 

application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council 
as local planning authority. 
 

8.410. Were Members not to follow Officer’s recommendation, they would need to satisfy 
themselves that any potential interference with Article 8 rights will be legitimate and 
justified. 
  

8.411. Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in the exercise of the 
Council's planning authority's powers and duties. Any interference with a 
Convention right must be necessary and proportionate. 
  

8.412. Members must, therefore, carefully consider the balance to be struck between 
individual rights and the wider public interest. 
  

8.413. As set out above, it is necessary, having regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, to 
take into account any interference with private property rights protected by the 

Page 148



European Convention on Human Rights and ensure that the interference is 
proportionate and in the public interest. 
 

8.414. In this context, the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider 
public interest has been carefully considered.   
 
Equalities Act Considerations 
  

8.415. The Equality Act 2010 provides protection from discrimination in respect of certain 
protected characteristics, namely: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or beliefs and sex and sexual orientation. It places the 
Council under a legal duty to have due regard to the advancement of equality in the 
exercise of its powers including planning powers. Officers have taken this into 
account in the assessment of the application and the Committee must be mindful of 
this duty, inter alia, when determining all planning applications. In particular the 
Committee must pay due regard to the need to:  
 

1. Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act;  
 
2. Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and, 
  
3. Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
8.416. The provision of residential units and commercial floor space, within the 

development meets the standards set in the relevant regulations on accessibility. In 
addition, all of the residential units would comply with Life Time Home Standards. 
Of the residential units proposed within the development, 10% would be wheelchair 
accessible/adaptable. These design standards offer significant improvements in 
accessibility and would benefit future residents or visitors with disabilities or 
mobility difficulties, and other groups such as parents with children.  
 

8.417. The introduction of publically accessible north – south route with associated public 
realm would also increase permeability and promote social cohesion across the 
site and within the borough generally. 
 

8.418. The proposed development and uses as a consequence are considered to have no 
adverse impacts upon equality and social cohesion.  

 
 
9.0  Conclusion 

 
9.1 All other relevant policies and considerations have been taken into account. 

Planning Permission should be GRANTED for the reasons set out and the details 
of the decisions are set out in the RECOMMENDATIONS at the beginning of this 
report. 
 

Page 149



 

Page 150



APPENDIX 2 
 
List of plans for approval   
 
Schedule of Drawings 
 
T(90)P000 Site location plan 
T(90)P001 Existing site plan 
T(10)E001 Existing elevations 
T(10)P001 Existing roof plan 
T(90)P002 Proposed site plan 
T(20)P-02 A Proposed lower basement 
T(20)P-01 A Proposed upper basement 
T(20)P000 B Proposed ground floor plan 
T(20)P001 B Proposed first floor plan 
T(20)P002 Proposed second floor plan 
T(20)P003-P011 Proposed third  to eleventh floor plan 
T(20)P012 Proposed twelfth floor plan 
T(20)P013 A Proposed thirteenth floor plan 
T(20)P014 Proposed fourteenth floor plan 
T(20)P015 Proposed fifteenth floor plan 
T(20)P016 A Proposed sixteenth floor plan 
T(20)P017 A  Proposed seventeenth to thirty third floor plan 
T(20)P034-P035 Proposed thirty-fourth to thirty-fifth floor plan 
T(20)P036-P040 Proposed thirty-sixth to fortieth floor plan 
T(20)P041 Proposed forty first plan 
T(20)P042 A Proposed roof plan 
T(20)E001 B Proposed east elevation 
T(20)E002 A Proposed north elevation 
T(20)E003 A Proposed west elevation 
T(20)E004 A Proposed south elevation (of north tower) 
T(20)E005 A Proposed south elevation 
T(20)E006 A Proposed north elevation (south tower) 
T(20)E007 A Proposed East Elevation in Context 
T(20)E008 Proposed South Elevation in Context 
T(20)E009 Proposed North Elevation in Context  
T(20)E010 A Proposed East Elevation - Base of the Building  
T(20)E011 Proposed South Elevation - Base of the Building  
T(20)E012 Proposed North Elevation - Base of the Building 
T(20)S001 Proposed building in context (sections 1 and 2) 
T(20)S002 Proposed building in context (sections 3 and 4) 
T(20)S003 Proposed section A 
T(20)S004 Proposed section B  
T(21)DE001 Cladding Bay Study 17th to 18th Floors- North Tower 
T(21)DE002 Cladding Bay Study 34th to 35th Floors- North Tower  
T(21)DE003 Cladding Bay Study 2nd to 4th Floors- North Tower 
T(20)PW01 Wheelchair flats general arrangement 
T(20)PW02 Wheelchair flats affordable rented units 
L.100 Rev E Illustrative Landscape Masterplan – ground floor 
L.101 Rev B Illustrative Landscape Masterplan – ground floor with future open space 
L.110 Rev D Illustrative Landscape Masterplan – roof plan 
L.200 Rev D Hard and soft landscape general arrangement plan – ground floor 
L.210 Rev B Hard and soft landscape general arrangement plan – roof plan 
L.400 Rev A Proposed ground floor sections – sheet 1 of 2  
L.401 Rev A Proposed ground floor sections – sheet 2 of 2 

Page 151



L.402 Proposed ground floor sections – sheet 3 of 3 
L.410 A Proposed roof sections – 14th floor 
L.411 A Proposed roof sections – 16th floor 
L.600 B Proposed levels and drainage intent – ground floor 
 
Schedule of Documents 
 
Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary prepared by Rolfe Judd dated June 
2016 
Environmental Statement (Volumes I, II and IV) prepared by Rolfe Judd dated June 2016 
Planning Statement dated June 2016 
Schedule of accommodation rev G prepared by Rolfe Judd 
Statement of Community Involvement dated April 2016 
Transport Assessment prepared by Motion Transport dated 09/06/2016 
Residential Travel Plan prepared by Motion Transport dated 09/06/2016 
Framework Delivery and Servicing Management Plan prepared by Motion Transport dated 
09/06/2016 
Letter dated 7th September 2016 prepared by Motion Transport. 
Energy Strategy prepared by Watkins Payne dated September 2016 
Code for Sustainable Homes Pre-assessment – November 2010 prepared by Watkins 
Payne dated September 2016 
Landscape Statement dated February 2016 prepared by Fabrik 
Preliminary Sustainability Statement by Watkins Payne 
Surface Water Drainage proforma 
DER worksheets 
Carbon email correspondence 
CHP confirmation correspondence 
Building Regulation worksheets 
 

Page 152


	Agenda
	1 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
	2 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)
	Minutes , 21/12/2016 Strategic Development Committee

	3 RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS AND MEETING GUIDANCE
	4 DEFERRED ITEMS
	4.1 The Quay Club, Marine Slab Pontoon to the North of Bank Street, Canary Wharf, London, E14 (PA/16/00899 + PA/16/00900)
	Item 5.3, 20/10/2016 Strategic Development Committee
	Update Report 4.1

	5 PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION
	5.1 54 Marsh Wall, London, E14 9TP (PA/16/01637)

